

Université de Toulouse

# THÈSE

## En vue de l'obtention du DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITÉ DE TOULOUSE

Délivré par :

Institut National Polytechnique de Toulouse (INP Toulouse)

Discipline ou spécialité : Dynamique des Fluides

## Présentée et soutenue par :

Mr Emmanuel Motheau le: 15 Novembre 2013

**Titre:** 

Accounting for mean flow effects in a zero-Mach number thermo-acoustic solver: Application to entropy induced combustion instabilities

Ecole doctorale : Mécanique, Energétique, Génie civil et Procédés (MEGeP) Unité de recherche :

CERFACS

**Directeur(s) de Thèse :** Thierry Poinsot - CNRS/IMFT Franck Nicoud - Université Montpellier II

Rapporteurs : Aimee Morgans - Imperial College London Thierry Schuller - Ecole Centrale Paris

Membre(s) du jury : Simone Hochgreb - University of Cambridge Michel Cazalens - Snecma

ii

## Accounting for mean flow effects in a zero-Mach number thermo-acoustic solver: Application to entropy induced combustion instabilities

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

by

Emmanuel Motheau

Institut National Polytechnique Toulouse MEGEP - Dynamique des Fluides

Advisor :	Pr. Thierry Poinsot	-	CNRS / IMFT
Co- $advisor$ :	Pr. Franck NICOUD	-	Université Montpellier II
President:	Pr. Simone Hochgreb	-	University of Cambridge
Reviewers:	Pr. Aimee Morgans	-	Imperial College of London
	Pr. Thierry Schuller	-	Ecole Centrale Paris
Guest:	Dr. Michel CAZALENS	-	SNECMA

15 November 2013

# Abstract / Resumé

#### Abstract in English

Virtually all combustion chambers are subject to instabilities. Consequently there is a need to better understand them so as to control them. A possibility is to simulate the reactive flow within a combustor with the Large-Eddy Simulation (LES) method. However LES results come at a tremendous computational cost. Another route is to reduce the complexity of the problem to a simple thermoacoustic Helmholtz wave equation, which can be solved in the frequency domain as an eigenvalue problem. The coupling between the flame and the acoustics is then taken into account via proper models. The main drawback of this latter methodology is that it relies on the zero-Mach number assumption. Hence all phenomena inherent to mean flow effects are neglected. The present thesis aims to provide a novel strategy to introduce back some mean flow effects within the zero-Mach number framework. In a first part, the proper way to impose high-speed elements such as a turbine is investigated. The second part focuses on the coupling between acoustics and temperature heterogeneities that are naturally generated at the flame and convected downstream by the flow. Such phenomenon is important because it is responsible for indirect combustion noise that may drive a thermoacoustic instability. A Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC) is then derived in order to account for this latter mechanism in the framework of a Helmholtz solver where the baseline flow is assumed at rest. In the last part, a realistic aero-engine combustor that features a mixed acoustic/entropy instability is studied. The methodology developed in the present thesis is tested and compared to LES computations. It is shown that computations with the Helmholtz solver can reproduce a complex combustion instability, and that this latter methodology is a potential tool to design new combustors so as to predict and avoid combustion instabilities.

Keywords: Combustion instabilities, Large-Eddy Simulation, indirect combustion noise, mixed-modes, low-order thermoacoustic models.

#### Résumé en Français

Pratiquement toutes les chambres de combustion présentent des instabilités. Par conséquent, il est nécessaire de mieux les comprendre afin de les contrôler. Une possibilité est de simuler l'écoulement réactif à l'intérieur d'une chambre de combustion grâce à la Simulation aux Grandes Echelles (SGE). Cependant la SGE est très coûteuse en terme de capacité de calcul. Une autre possibilité est de réduire la complexité du problème à une simple équation d'onde thermoacoustique (équation dite de Helmholtz), qui peut être résolue fréquentiellement comme un problème aux valeurs propres. Le couplage entre l'acoustique et la flamme est alors prise en compte au travers des modèles appropriés. Le principal problème de cette méthode est qu'elle repose sur l'hypothèse d'un nombre de Mach nul. Tous les phenomènes lies à l'écoulement moyen sont donc négligés. La présente thèse propose une nouvelle stratégie pour prendre en compte certains effets de l'écoulement dans un contexte à Mach nul. Dans une première partie, la manière la plus judicieuse d'imposer un élement présentant un écoulement très rapide est étudiée. La seconde partie se focalise sur le couplage entre l'acoustique et les hétérogenéites de temperature qui sont générées par la flamme et naturellement convectées par l'écoulement moyen. Ce phénomène est important car il est responsable du bruit indirect de combustion qui peut conduire à une instabilité thermoacoustique. Un nouveau type de condition limite (DECBC) est proposé afin de prendre en compte ce méchanisme dans un contexte de résolution de l'équation de Helmholtz à Mach nul. Dans la dernière partie, une chambre de combustion aéronautique présentant une instabilité mixte acoustique/entropique est etudiée. Le bénéfice des méthodes développées dans la présente thèse est testé et comparé à des calculs avec la SGE. Il est montré que les calculs avec un solver de Helmholtz peut reproduire une instabilité de combustion complexe, et que cet outil s'avère avoir le potentiel prédire les instabilités afin de concevoir de nouvelles chambres de combustion.

Mots clefs : Instabilités de combustion, Simulation Grandes Echelles, bruit indirect de combustion, modes mixtes, modélisation thermoacoustique basordre.

# Acknowledgements Remerciements

Jamais aucun effort administratif ou scolaire ne remplacera les miracles du hasard auquel on doit les grands hommes.

Honoré de Balzac

Etrange parcours que celui conduisant à la réalisation de cette thèse. Il y a environ une dizaine d'années, en 2005, j'escaladais les voûtes de l'église Saint-Louis-en-l'Île afin d'y glisser des micros pour réaliser la prise de son du tout nouvel orgue Aubertin avec Zig-Zag Territoires. C'est durant cette période qu'Alban Moraud me fit découvrir - et je l'en remercie - ses cours d'acoustique qu'il suivait au CNAM, sous le regard dubitatif de Franck Jaffrès qui préférait s'en remettre à ses oreilles (et il a bien raison !) plutôt qu'aux fonctions de Green. Quelques mois plus tard, je réalisais mon premier stage en laboratoire universitaire, dans le domaine de l'acoustique musicale. Joies de la synthèse sonore par modèles physiques ! L'année suivante, changement de décor, j'étais à DCNS pour faire du rayonnement acoustique de sous-marins, et l'année suivante c'était en toute logique que je découvrais la combustion et la thermo-acoustique avec Thomas Lederlin à Turbomeca, me permettant ainsi de clore mon cursus d'ingénieur en acoustique. J'en profite pour remercier Pr. Alexandre Garcia, titulaire de la Chaire d'Acoustique au CNAM et Manuel Melon, maître de conférence, pour la transmission de leur savoir de l'acoustique sous toutes ses formes et leur aide précieuse, surtout pour les tracasseries administratives !

C'est ainsi que de fil en aiguille on en arrive à cette thèse CIFRE sous financement Snecma. Je remercie tout d'abord mes deux directeurs de thèse Thierry Poinsot et Franck Nicoud pour m'avoir confié le sujet (le code AVSP, quoi), et surtout pour leur aide et conseils tout au long de ces trois années. Je ne pensais pas au tout début que cette simple idée de modéliser la convection d'entropie dans un contexte à Mach nul nous conduirait à autant de développements. Merci aussi de m'avoir emmené à Stanford pour le Summer Program, la piscine quotidienne c'était super. Plaisanteries mises à part, ce fut une expérience très forte et enrichissante. A ce sujet, je remercie Florent Duchaine pour nous avoir trouvé cette magnifique demeure à deux pas du campus !

#### Acknowledgements

Merci aussi pour m'avoir permis d'aller plusieurs fois dans des conférences internationales. D'ailleurs je ne sais comment exprimer ma gratitude à Stéphane Moreau pour avoir assuré ma présentation un lundi matin 9h heures (et en ayant reçu les slides 20 minutes auparavant), alors que j'étais coincé à l'aéroport de New-York. Par contre je ne te remercie pas pour la soirée au Miyake, ce n'est pas un endroit pour acousticien ça !

Concernant plus particulièrement le contenu de la thèse, je remercie grandement Ignacio Duran pour les longues discutions sur les tuyères et le couplage entropie/acoustique. Beaucoup de résultats dans cette thèse ont été obtenus grâce à ta solution analytique ! Un grand merci aussi à Alexis Giauque pour les longues discutions sur ... les tuyères et le couplage entropie/acoustique. Merci aussi pour tous les conseils à base de: comment tenir le coup au Summer Program, comment tenir le coup en fin de thèse ou alors comment tenir le coup en post-doc. Pour les deux premiers points, ça semble avoir fonctionné, je suis confiant pour l'avenir !

Je remercie ensuite Laurent Selle et Yoan Méry pour leur contribution à ce travail de thèse. Assurément leurs idées et critiques ont une grande place dans l'édifice ! Merci aussi aux thesards et seniors qui ont contribué, avec les petits conseils échangés au détour d'un couloir ou devant un poste de la salle visu. Difficile de dresser une liste où j'oublierais certainement du monde: donc merci à tout le monde!

Je remercie finalement les membres du jury pour s'être déplacés depuis Paris et l'Angleterre afin d'assister à ma soutenance, et plus particulièrement Aimee Morgans et Thierry Schuller pour leurs rapports et corrections.

Sans grand rapport avec la science, je remercie Manqi Zhu pour avoir fait la nounou et gardé Léandre lorsque j'étais aux USA ou lors de la soutenance. En tout cas je suis confiant pour que ta fin de thèse se passe bien, garde courage ! Merci aussi à Gaofeng Wang pour les jouets: *Trottino mon zèbre rigolo* a toujours un grand succès auprès de Léandre !

Enfin, je remercie ma famille, mes parents, pour leur soutien durant tout ce long parcours qui sort un peu des chemins classiques. Evidement, le principal merci ira à ma femme Ling-Yin, pour son soutien et sa compréhension qu'il n'y a rien de plus important que de debugger du Fortran à 3 heures du matin ou de surveiller ses calculs depuis le fin fond d'une forêt corézienne. Bon, maintenant que la thèse est finie, quand est-ce qu'on retourne un film? On y croit, hein Yan-Yan !

A ma femme Ling-Yin, à mon fils Léandre.

х

# Contents

## General introduction

1	Non lems	i-zero l s	Mach number impedances in zero-Mach number acoustic prob-	17
	1.1	About	acoustics in a non-quiescent flow	18
	1.2	Energy	considerations	20
		1.2.1	Forms of energy corollary	21
		1.2.2	Impedances and flux mismatch	24
	1.3	Testing	g impedance formulation in a simple case	30
		1.3.1	Method I: Global domain at $M \neq 0$	32
		1.3.2	Method II : Truncated analytical acoustic model at $M \neq 0$	35
		1.3.3	Method III : Truncated analytical acoustic model at $M = 0 \dots$	36
	1.4	Result	s	37
		1.4.1	Effect of the truncation of the domain	37
		1.4.2	Effect of the zero-Mach number assumption	39
2	Acc	ountin	g for entropy convection in a zero Mach mean flow	<b>45</b>
	2.1	Introd	ucing entropy-acoustic coupling in the Helmholtz framework	46
		2.1.1	Method <b>I</b> : Global thermoacoustic model at $M \neq 0$	47
		2.1.2	Method ${\bf II}$ : Truncated analytical thermoacoustic model at $M \neq 0$ .	47
		2.1.3	Method $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ : Truncated analytical thermoacoustic model at $M = 0$	50
		2.1.4	Method $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$ : Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition	50

1

	2.2	Results				
		2.2.1	Validations and effect of the truncation	53		
		2.2.2	Frequency analysis	54		
		2.2.3	Mode shapes analysis	56		
	2.3	Exten	sion of DECBC to 3D	58		
		2.3.1	The zero-Mach number Helmholtz equation	58		
		2.3.2	Boundary conditions and DECBC implementation	60		
		2.3.3	Numerical resolution strategy	62		
		2.3.4	Validations	63		
3	Inve	estigat	ion of a realistic gas turbine	65		
	3.1	Exper	imental configuration and numerical set-up	67		
		3.1.1	Description of the experimental configuration	67		
		3.1.2	Numerical set-up	69		
	3.2	LES p	reliminary results	73		
	3.3	Dynar	nic Mode Decomposition analysis	79		
		3.3.1	Theoretical background	79		
		3.3.2	Application of DMD to the SAFRAN combustor	81		
	3.4	Helmh	oltz analysis	87		
		3.4.1	Numerical setup for Helmholtz solver	87		
		3.4.2	Results	92		
		3.4.3	Application of the DECBC approach	93		
		3.4.4	Helmholtz/DECBC results	95		
	3.5	Applic	cation of DECBC: Optimisation of combustion instabilities	98		
		3.5.1	Influence of the nozzle length on thermoacoustic instabilities	98		
		3.5.2	Application to the realistic gas turbine	100		
С	onclu	isions a	and perspectives	107		
Pı	ublic	ations		109		

### CONTENTS

Appen	dix A Isentropic relations for quasi-one-dimensional flow	113
A.1	Stagnation relations	113
A.2	Critical Mach number and area ratio	114
A.3	Relations at a section change	115
Appen field	dix B About the active flame model and the evaluation of $n_{local} - \tau_{loca}$ is	l 117
B.1	From experimental measurements	118
B.2	From a theoretical model	119
B.3	From a LES computation	119
	B.3.1 Validation of the computation of $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$ fields from the DMD analysis	120
Appen	dix C Discretisation procedures	<b>123</b>
C.1	Evaluation of $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p} _j$ for a node <i>j</i> inside the domain	123
C.2	Evaluation of $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p} _j$ for a node $j$ on the boundary of the domain .	126

## Bibliography

# Nomenclature

## Latin Symbols

A	complex amplitude of acoustic wave	[Pa]
$C_s$	constant of sub-grid scale Smagorinsky model	[-]
$C_{\sigma}$	constant of sub-grid scale Sigma model	[-]
$C_v$	heat capacity at constant volume	[J/(kg K)]
$C_p$	heat capacity at constant pressure	[J/(kg K)]
E	acoustic energy density	$\left[ J/m^3 \right]$
ε	flame efficiency function	[-]
$\mathbf{F}$	acoustic energy flux	$[W/m^2]$
${\cal F}$	flame thickness factor	[-]
G	gain (DECBC model)	[J s/(kg K m)]
J	total enthalpy	[J]
L	location of the end of the tube	[m]
M	Mach number	[-]
Р	energy source term	$\left[\mathrm{J/m^3}\right]$
Pr	Prandtl number	[-]
Q	heat release rate	[J/s]
R	complex reflection coefficient	[-]
S	surface	$[m^2]$
$S_{ij}$	strain rate tensor	[1/s]
S	Thickened Flame Model sensor	[-]
Т	temperature	[K]
T	period of oscillation	[s]
V	volume	$[m^3]$
$V^c$	corrected diffusion velocity	[m/s]
W	mean molecular wight	[kg/mol]
X	species molar fraction	[-]
Y	species mass fraction	[-]
Z	complex impedance	$\left[(N s)/m^3\right]$

c	speed of sound	[m/s]
f	frequency	[Hz]
g	any quantity	[-]
h	specific enthalpy	[J/kg]
j	standard imaginary unit	[-]
k	complex wave number	[1/m]
l	location of the section change	[m]
$l_z$	location of impedances	[m]
m	mass flux	$\left[ \text{kg}/(\text{s m}^2) \right]$
n	local interaction index (flame model)	$[J/m^4]$
n	normal unit vector	[-]
p	pressure	[Pa]
q	heat release rate per unit volume	$\left[ J/(s m^3) \right]$
r	specific gas constant	$\left[J/(\text{kg K})\right]$
s	entropy	[J/(kg K)]
t	time	[s]
$\mathbf{t}$	tangential unit vector	[-]
u	velocity (1D)	[m/s]
u	velocity vector	[m/s]
x	coordinates of a local point 1D	[m]
x	coordinates of a local point	[m]

## Greek Symbols

$\gamma$	adiabatic index (heat capacity ratio)	[-]
$\phi,  \alpha$	phase	[rad]
$\delta_f$	flame length	[m]
$\dot{\Delta}$	LES filter size	[m]
$\Delta \mathbf{F}$	energy flux difference	$\left[ W/m^2 \right]$
$\lambda$	wavelength	[m]
$\omega$	complex angular frequency	[rad/s]
$\dot{\omega}_T$	reaction rate	$\left[ J/(s m^3) \right]$
$\dot{\omega}_k$	mass reaction rate of species $k$	$\left[ \text{kg}/(\text{s m}^3) \right]$
ho	density	$\left[ \text{kg/m}^3 \right]$
au	time delay (flame model)	[s]
$ au_{i,j}$	viscous stress tensor	$\left[\mathrm{N/m}^2\right]$
$\mu$	viscosity	[kg/(m s)]
$\sigma$	complex amplitude of a fluctuating entropy wave	[J/(kg K)]
ξ	curvilinear coordinates system of a combustion chamber in $3D$	[m]

## Indices

0	stagnation state
n	harmonic $n$ of the fundamental frequency
i, j, l	coordinates in 3D
k	species index
s	concerning entropy wave
t	turbulent component
a	acoustic energy corollary
d	disturbance energy corollary
c us	concerning the convection of entropy waves (DECBC model) concerning the generation of entropy waves (DECBC model)
р,s р,u J,m	formulation with fluctuating pressure and entropy as state variables formulation with fluctuating pressure and velocity as state variables formulation with fluctuating enthalpy and mass as state variables
f th	concerning the flame concerning the throat of a nozzle
i r	imaginary part of complex value real part of complex value
in	wave entering the domain
out	wave leaving the domain
ref	reference state or position
inlet	concerning boundary condition at the inlet of the domain

## Superscripts

^	complex amplitude of a fluctuation
-	mean value
~	Favre averaged value
M=0	formulation under the zero-Mach number assumption (i.e. Helmholtz solver)
$M \neq 0$	formulation with Mach number effects (i.e. LEE)
+	concerning the downstream travelling acoustic wave
_	concerning the upstream travelling acoustic wave
DECBC	method using the DECBC formulation

## Acronyms, Abbreviations & Proper Names

- AVBP LES solver developed at CERFACS
- AVSP Helmholtz solver developed at CERFACS
- DECBC Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition
- DMD Dynamic Mode Decomposition
- LEE Linearized Euler Equations
- LES Large Eddy Simulation

## General introduction

Les hommes se souviennent mal qu'on leur a défendu, étant enfants, d'ouvrir le ventre des pantins... (c'est déjà un crime de lèse-mystère): ils continuent à vouloir fourrer leur esthétique nez là où il n'a que faire. S'ils ne crèvent plus de pantins, ils expliquent, démontent et, froidement, tuent le mystère: c'est plus commode et alors on peut causer.

Monsieur Croche (Claude Debussy)

As recalled by Candel *et al.* (2013) in a review of advances in combustion for propulsion applications, despite the fact that man mastered fire half a million years ago, the science of combustion is much more recent. In his own words concerning the evolution of aviation: One may wonder how we got from there to here in just 100 years, from the 30 m Wright brothers flight to the transportation of an astounding 4000 billion revenue passenger-km (RPK) per year. However, the theories are far from delivering all the secrets of combustion and engineers did not wait for Science to develop machines for the incredible achievements cited above.

Combustion is used first because the chemical reactions that take place in a combustor generate a very large energy. As recalled by Sawyer (2009) combustion provides more than 90 % of the energy in the world, not only for transportation but also for industrial, agrarian and, of course, domestic applications. Although alternative sources are emerging, such as wind or solar energies, their efficiency is limited and the production of energy will remain combustion in the next decades. However this source of energy is facing several problems:

- burning any kind of fuels generates air pollution that directly affects health,
- although this is a matter subject to controversy, the climate is changing and combustion does not seem unconcerned to this phenomenon,
- there is no debate that fossil resources are not infinite and that they will be depleted one day.

While new forms of fuels or energy sources are currently under study for the future, existing systems must be improved so as to face the challenges cited above. Concerning

#### GENERAL INTRODUCTION

the aeronautical domain, since 2001 the Advisory Council for Aeronautics Research in Europe (ACARE) has set several objectives to 2050 through the Flightpath 2050 project. To cite a few:

- $\bullet$  reduce fuel consumption and CO2 emissions by 75 % per passenger kilometer,
- reduce nitrogen oxides (NOx) emissions by 90 %,
- reduce perceived noise by 65 %.

Most of the aeronautical propulsion relies on gas turbine engines, because they provide a large power compared to their size and weight and can be embedded on planes. Moreover they are reliable machines and operate on a wide variety of fuels. Note that gas turbines are not only devoted to aircraft engines but also cover a broad range of applications including electricity generation or water and sewage pumping stations. The power output also varies depending on the machine. For example the SIEMENS largest ground-based gas turbine for electricity generation can provide up to 350 MW and has a weight of approx. 440 t. For an order of magnitude, in the aeronautical context the A400M turboprop TP400 has a maximum power of approx. 8 MW for a weight of less than 2000 kg.

The main idea of a gas turbine is to convert the motion of a gas into a mechanical motion. For the story, the premises of this kind of machine go back to the Ancient Greek civilisation around 150 BC, with the Hero's aeolipile (see Fig. 1, left). The application of this invention is not really known, maybe it was for education purpose. A much more practical use of the gas turbine principle was provided by Leonardo Da Vinci with his Chimney Jack (see Fig. 1, right). The hot air rising from a fire under a roasting pork passes through an axial turbine in an exhaust duct, which convert the energy into a motion that turns the roasting spit. It is a perpetual motion that is self-sustaining as long as there is combustion.



**Figure 1 -** Premises of the gas turbine. Left: The Aeolipile of Hero. Right: The Chimney Jack of Leonardo Da Vinci

Apart from these anecdotes, the modern industrial gas turbine goes back to the beginning of the 20th century. It is mainly composed of three major components: a compressor, a combustion chamber and a turbine. The air passes through the compressor so as to get a high pressure and enters in the combustor where it is mixed with a fuel. The burned gas are ejected downstream through an exhaust. To increase the efficiency, a turbine recovers the energy so as to transfer it through the compressor which is on the same axis.

In order to achieve the objectives of reduction of pollution and consumption, manufacturers are facing a great challenge because gas turbines have achieved a high level of complexity and efficiency optimisation, and now the smallest change can destabilise the overall system. One of the new concepts for combustion technology recently developed is lean combustion (see Huang & Yang, 2009; Lieuwen & Yang, 2005). Fuel and air are premixed upstream of the combustor to avoid the flame to burn at the stoichiometry. The flame takes place in a zone where the air is in excess, which has the effect to reduce the flame temperature and consequently also the thermal NOx formation. Due to a higher combustion efficiency a reduction of formed CO is also achieved. Unfortunately, these lean-burn conditions often result in the occurrence of instabilities, since combustion tends to occur near the lean blow-out limit (Venkataraman *et al.*, 1999) which is more susceptible to unstable combustion dynamics.

## **Combustion Instabilities**

Instabilities are resulting from a driving process which generates a perturbation in the reacting flow that couples back with a resonant interaction. As simply explained by Huang & Yang (2009), two fundamental causes are responsible for the occurrence of instabilities in combustion systems:

- combustion chambers are almost entirely closed and the damping internal processes are too weak to attenuate unsteady motions;
- only a small fraction of the energy released by chemical reactions (less than 0.001%) is sufficient to drive unsteady motions having peak amplitudes of the order of the mean chamber pressure.

Basically this mechanism is cyclic and involves time lags. Depending on the phase shift between a driving process and the time response of the flow, a constructive coupling can lead the overall system to accumulate energy that may lead to strong, sustained fluctuations. Virtually all kinds of combustion engines such as gas-turbines, aeronautical turbines or rocket engines experience instabilities at some stage of their design or life-cycle.

Combustion instabilities have many undesirable effects such as large-amplitude structural vibrations, flame flashback or blowoff, or an abnormally high temperature of the wall of the combustor. The consequences of combustion instabilities range from loss of performance or premature fatigue of materials to a possible mechanical failure or destruction of the system. Figure 2 presents pictures of a combustor before and after being damaged

#### GENERAL INTRODUCTION

by an instability. Combustion instabilities are a very broad field and an important review of the driving mechanisms may be found in the literature (Kotake, 1975; Candel, 2002; Ducruix *et al.*, 2003; Lieuwen, 2003; Culick & Kuentzmann, 2006; Candel *et al.*, 2009; Huang & Yang, 2009; DeGoey *et al.*, 2011; Poinsot & Veynante, 2011; Swaminathan & Bray, 2011; Candel *et al.*, 2013).



**Figure 2** - Combustor damaged by a combustion instability. Left: initial combustion system. Right: damaged combustion system. Reproduced from Huang & Yang (2009).

Following Barrère & Williams (1969), combustion instabilities may be distinguished between three classes:

- Intrinsic instabilities which are inherent to motions induced by the flame itself on its own field, like Darrieus-Landau or thermo-diffusive instabilities. They are observed in the absence of any external influences.
- Chamber instabilities which are essentially related to the acoustic modes of the chamber that interact with the flame. Flame/acoustic coupling is a process that has been observed for a long time, either visually by noting that the flames in a fish-tail gas burner enjoy the music of Beethoven (see Leconte, 1858) or either by hearing the sound produced by a flame in a tube at a particular location (see Rijke, 1859). This latter device was first studied by Rayleigh (1878). An extensive review of the so-called *Rijke tube* can be found in the literature (see Raun *et al.*, 1993). Basically the idea is that the flame is a source of acoustic-pressure fluctuations (Kotake, 1975), and when placed in a location where fluctuations of pressure may occur such as near a pressure anti-node, the acoustic eigenmodes of the system can be excited and oscillate as long as the flame exists. In order to determine if a system is stable or not, Rayleigh (1878) has developed a well-known *Rayleigh criteria*. Formally it is often written as

$$\int_{V} \overline{p'q'} \, \mathrm{d}V > 0 \tag{1}$$

where V is the volume of the combustor while p' and q' are the fluctuations of

pressure and heat release rate, respectively. Basically this criterion states that the combustor is unstable when the pressure and heat release rate fluctuations over the combustor volume are in phase. This criterion is somewhat simplistic and the stability of a thermoacoustic system should be rather studied with a more rigorous theoretical framework based on acoustic or disturbance energy balance (see §1.2 for more details). Moreoever, one should notice that not only flame/acoustic coupling can exist in a chamber. Vortex roll-up due to shear-flow instability near the wall of the chamber may also be a source of flame perturbation (Renard *et al.*, 2000). This latter mechanism is most often encountered in rockets and ramjets, and most common combustion instabilities encountered in gas turbines rely on a thermo-acoustic path.

• System instabilities involve various components of the configuration. In practical systems, the combustion chamber is not alone but coupled to a casing by complex injection systems like a swirler, or by multiperforated cooling plates. A compressor and a turbine are also present on both sides of the chamber. All of these components have a potential interaction with the flame and the overall stability may be affected. For example, temperature fluctuations generated by the unsteady flame can be convected by the mean flow to the downstream nozzle. It is well known (Marble & Candel, 1977) that temperature fluctuations impacting a nozzle generate pressure fluctuations. This driving process may couple back with the flame. This latter mechanism is one of the main subjects of the present thesis and will be studied in detail in the following chapters.

It is worth noting that manufacturers want to avoid combustion instabilities and need to understand them so as to control them. Experiments on practical industrial configurations are possible, but they are costly and do not permit to access to the fundamental processes of the combustion. Moreover, the experiments allow especially to observe from a macroscopic point of view the existence of problems rather than to predict them. The prediction of combustion instabilities at an early design stage is a challenging task, especially because all mechanisms as well as their interactions in a practical context are not fully understood.

The control of combustion instabilities a posteriori is possible and rely on the addition of passive acoustic dampers such as liners or Helmholtz resonator so as to enhance the rate of absorption of acoustic energy (see Dupère & Dowling, 2005; Noiray *et al.*, 2007; Zhao & Morgans, 2009). It is also possible to act on the flame dynamics by modification of the manifold that injects reactants inside the combustor. The combustion region can becomes less susceptible to perturbations. Active control techniques proved to be efficient on academic combustors (see Bloxsidge *et al.*, 1988; McManus *et al.*, 1993; Annaswamy & Ghoniem, 2002; Candel, 2002; Dowling & Morgans, 2005; Morgans & Dowling, 2007). However the use of such methods are difficult because of certification constraints. Indeed, active control methods are based on measurements techniques that detect the instability so as to act on different parts of the system, such as the modulation of the fuel mass-flow rate or the modification of acoustic boundary conditions by a loudspeaker. The addition of a such a closed feedback loop in the overall system is critical because the risk of failure due to model-based approximations may enhance an instability (Annaswamy *et al.*, 1997). Consequently, there is a need for a better understanding of combustion instabilities at the fundamental level, but also the development of tools that can predict them at an early design stage. The next section is devoted to a review of the different methods that can help to understand and predict combustion instabilities.

## Prediction of combustion instabilities

Before describing the different methods that allow to predict combustion instabilities, one should introduce first the typical behaviour of an instability in a combustor. The time evolution of the pressure signal recorded in a combustor when a combustion instability is triggered at t = 0 is depicted in Fig. 3. The overall evolution of the instability can be decomposed into three zones:

- a linear zone where the oscillations appear and follow an exponential growth;
- the amplitudes do not grow indefinitely and reach a saturation characterised by a limit-cycle, the non-linear effects are here essential;
- the transition between the linear and non-linear zone quite often exhibit an overshoot period.

Note that in certain thermoacoustic systems, hysteresis and bifurcation effects may be encountered (Mariappan & Sujith, 2011). Depending on the amplitude and the frequency of a perturbation, the response of the system may not follow a linear evolution (Balachandran *et al.*, 2005; Palies *et al.*, 2011). Moreover, a linearly stable combustor, i.e. that does not pulse spontaneously, may be triggered by ambient noise or high amplitude perturbations and reach an unstable behaviour (Balasubramanian & Sujith, 2008; Juniper, 2011).

In principle, a direct numerical resolution of the unsteady reacting Navier-Stokes equations allows one to predict combustion instabilities. Due to the augmentation of computational resources and advances in higher order numerical methods so as to get extremely precise schemes, the Direct Numerical Simulation (DNS) of the equations is possible in three dimensions but still limited to laboratory scale flames and to low Reynolds flows. DNS has been used extensively to investigate fundamental turbulence-chemistry interactions in combustion topics so as to understand and validates theoretical models (Trouvé & Poinsot, 1994; Poinsot *et al.*, 1996; Vervisch & Poinsot, 1998; Echekki & Chen, 2003; Hawkes & Chen, 2004). At the opposite end of the spectrum, the Reynolds-Averaged-Navier-Stokes (RANS) methods only compute averaged values without solving any turbulent quantities. The central difficulty of the RANS method is that it mostly relies on models for turbulence and flow-flame interactions (Poinsot & Veynante, 2011). Although the accuracy of such an approach when dealing with reacting turbulent flows is highly questionable, this method has found great interest in engineering due to the coarse mesh involved and small restitution times for results.



**Figure 3** - Typical pressure signal of the time evolution of a combustion instability. Reproduced from Poinsot & Veynante (2011).

Halfway between DNS and RANS methods, Large Eddy Simulation (LES) constitutes an interesting alternative for numerical computations of reacting flows. The mean idea of this latter method is to simulate the large scale eddies in the flow which contain most of the energy, while the small scales are represented by subgrid models. Hence, the filtering operation is directly related to the grid mesh resolution. One difficulty raised by the LES is that the spatial filtering of the equations leads to unresolved terms such as the Reynolds stresses or the heat release and reaction rates. These terms need to be modelled so as to resolve the flame front on a LES grid. However, as thermo-acoustic instability involves large scale structures which are calculated explicitly, the LES provides a relevant description of turbulence/combustion/acoustic interactions that occur in the combustion chamber. This means that the LES covers all the zones described in Fig. 3 and is virtually able to reproduce all non-linear effects. Several studies using Large Eddy Simulations have shown the potential of this method, even for realistic engine geometries and operating points (Pitsch, 2006; Schmitt *et al.*, 2007; Wolf *et al.*, 2012*a*; Gicquel *et al.*, 2012).

However LES results still come at a tremendous computational cost, impractical for the study of design or operating conditions variations and faster tools are required. A natural approach is to reduce the complexity of the problem by using a linearised formulation of the equations. Basically the main idea is to decompose the flow into two components: a mean part and a fluctuating part. As the conservation equation for mass, momentum and energy are satisfied for the mean flow field, one may deduce a set of equations for the perturbations containing only first order terms. This approach focuses on solving the perturbations equations and the mean flow field is not a part of the solution and must be determined beforehand. Moreover, the interaction of the flame with the acoustic field needs to be described by an appropriate model. Basically it relies on the observation

of the response of the flame to a perturbation. One may then deduce a so-called flame transfer function (FTF) that relates the unsteady heat release to acoustic quantities at reference locations (Schuller et al., 2003b; Truffin & Poinsot, 2005). The flame is then often modelled as a purely acoustic element thanks to a  $n-\tau$  type of model (Crocco, 1952). n being a gain while  $\tau$  is a time delay (which may also be replaced by a phase). Note that this model relies on a linear description of the flame, the parameters n and  $\tau$  being frequency dependent. More details about the  $n-\tau$  active flame model are available in Appendix B. The FTF can be obtained either experimentally (Durox et al., 2005; Kornilov et al., 2007), numerically (Polifke et al., 2001b; Giauque et al., 2008) or by semi-analytical models such as the resolution of the G-equation (Schuller *et al.*, 2003a). Note that the  $n-\tau$  model is rather a simple linear representation of the flame and has been extended to a weakly non-linear characterisation with the concept of flame describing functions (FDF) by Noiray et al. (2008). The main idea of FDF is that parameters n and  $\tau$  depend both on the amplitude and the frequency of the perturbations. The FDF framework has been extensively used to investigate the non-linear dynamic of flames, for example by Durox et al. (2009) for several different flame geometries and by Kim & Hochgreb (2012) who focus on the effects of nonuniform reactant stratification.

As viscous effects can be neglected in the description of the acoustic problem, it is possible to solve either in the frequency or temporal domain a set of 3D Linearised Euler Equations (LEE) derived from the Navier-Stokes equations. Five equations are needed so as to represent the reactive flow where the local unsteady heat release appears as a forcing term, which is responsible for combustion noise and thermoacoustic instabilities. The LEE approach gives an accurate representation of the physical thermoacoustic phenomena (Nicoud & Wieczorek, 2009; Yu *et al.*, 2010) at a reasonable computational cost. However, solving LEE requires numerical schemes that are subject to instability and specific numerical techniques must be used, such as the addition of artificial viscosity or filtering operations (Agarwal *et al.*, 2004; Rao & Morris, 2006).

A natural approach is to characterise the solutions of the problem by its stable/unstable modes in the frequency domain. Low-order methods focus on the acoustic problem by modelling the configuration as a network of unidimensional ducts where the wave propagation is solved analytically (Dowling, 1995) or by signal processing techniques (Polifke et al., 2001b). Changes in the geometry or mean flow properties, such as temperature, density or sound velocity, are taken into account by jump conditions at the interface of each segment. The acoustic quantities are related to the amplitudes of the forward and backward waves. also known as Riemann invariants, which are determined to satisfy all jump relations and boundary conditions. The set of equations can be solved as an eigenvalue problem, giving a discrete set of complex frequencies which are the roots of a dispersion relation in the complex plane. The real part gives information about the frequency of the oscillation, while the imaginary part represents the amplitude of the damping or amplification of the instability. Despite the fact that the implementation and the use is rather straightforward even for 3D configurations (Parmentier et al., 2012), making it an adaptive method for the industry, the strong approximations that must be made to the geometry make this one-dimensional network approach hardly predictive in complex industrial combustors.

Another way to simplify the LEE approach while keeping an accurate description of the 3D geometry is to assume that the mean flow is at rest, often referred to as the *zero-Mach* number approximation. Under this assumption, an approximate linear wave equation for the amplitude  $\hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})$  of the pressure perturbations  $p'(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) \exp(-j\omega t)$  in reacting flows may be derived from the Navier-Stokes equations (see Poinsot & Veynante, 2011) and reads:

$$\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})\overline{c}^{2}(\boldsymbol{x}) \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})}\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})\right) + \omega^{2}\hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) = j\omega\left(\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1\right)\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})$$
(2)

where  $\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})$  is the amplitude of the unsteady heat release  $q'(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}) \exp(-j\omega t)$ ,  $\overline{\rho}$  is the density,  $\overline{c}$  the speed of sound and  $\omega$  is the complex angular frequency. In order to close the problem, the flame is modelled as a purely acoustic element thanks to a  $n - \tau$  type of model (Crocco, 1952); Eq. (2) is referred as the inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation and then corresponds to a non-linear eigenvalue problem which can be solved by using appropriate discretisation techniques and numerical algorithms (Nicoud *et al.*, 2007). The main advantage of this method is its small computational burden while keeping a realistic geometry. The main drawback is that only acoustic perturbations are accounted for, since vorticity and entropy waves do not propagate when the mean flow is at rest. The effects of convection on the acoustic waves are also neglected. Nevertheless, this method offers great flexibility for physical modelling and systematic variation of input parameters. For example, the flame transfer function that represents flame/acoustic interaction or the acoustic absorption by multi-perforated plates have been successfully implemented into a three-dimensional Helmholtz solver (Nicoud et al., 2007; Gullaud et al., 2009). Combined with LES, this approach proved useful to gain understanding on the structure and nature of the instabilities observed in industrial burners (Selle et al., 2006; Wolf et al., 2012b). One should notice that frequency domain methods are devoted to assess the growth/decay rate of an unstable mode, meaning that they are restricted to the linear zone of the thermoacoustic system (see Fig. 3). However, a recent study conducted by Silva et al. (2013) has shown that the non-linear behaviour of an academical combustor and the limit-cycle amplitudes of the instability can be reproduced with the help of the FDF framework (Noiray et al., 2008).

#### About the zero-Mach number assumption

When seeking the thermoacoustic fluctuations in a combustor, the most natural strategy consists of computing the whole engine (cf. Fig. 4.a). In this case, one should use the LES/LEE approach because the Mach number, M, is usually not small in the compressor and the turbine. An alternative solution is to use the Helmholtz approach Eq. (2) in the combustion chamber, where  $M \ll 1$  while accounting for the upstream and downstream elements through appropriate boundary conditions (cf. Fig. 4.b), namely a complex-valued impedance noted Z. These impedances can be deduced from transfer functions describing the response of acoustic elements to acoustic or entropic perturbations, either under the compact hypothesis (Marble & Candel, 1977) or by solving the LEE numerically (Lamarque & Poinsot, 2008) or analytically (Duran & Moreau, 2013).



**Figure 4** - Schematic view of the proposed modelling strategy. Figure (a): The whole domain is computed while taking the mean flow into account. Figure (b): The combustion chamber is solved under the zero-Mach number assumption. The acoustic environment from compressor and turbine is accounted for through impedances.

At least two difficulties arise when using a Helmholtz solver (thus assuming M = 0) for the combustion chamber and complex impedances as boundary conditions:

• The impedance must be consistent with the zero-Mach number assumption although it represents an acoustic element where the mean flow is not at rest. Moreover, this impedance must be imposed at a location in the combustion chamber where the Mach number is small. As shown by many authors (see Morfey, 1973; Ffowcs-Williams & Howe, 1975; Howe, 1975; Marble & Candel, 1977), entropy fluctuations accelerated in a region where the mean flow is not homogeneous, which is the case when the combustor opens onto a high pressure distributor, generate acoustic waves. Acoustic waves transmitted through the distributor produce *indirect combustion noise*, while acoustic waves travelling back to the flame may trigger low-frequency resonant modes called *rumble* (Polifke *et al.*, 2001*a*; Bloxsidge *et al.*, 1988). This important mechanism for combustion instabilities is not accounted for in a Helmholtz solver, since entropy fluctuations do not propagate if the mean flow is at rest.

It has been demonstrated by Nicoud & Wieczorek (2009) and Wieczorek (2010) that the zero-Mach number assumption can lead to significant errors for the prediction of both the frequency and the growth rate of combustion instabilities, suggesting that improvements are required for the two items cited above. Since accounting for the non zero-Mach number terms in the equations leads to a drastic increase in the complexity of the problem (Rao & Morris, 2006), the aim of this thesis is to propose models that account for these effects while keeping the simplicity and flexibility of a Helmholtz solver.

# About indirect combustion noise and entropy/acoustic mixed modes

A classical mechanism for combustion instability is a constructive coupling between acoustic waves and the unsteady combustion that arises when pressure and heat release fluctuations are in phase (see Rayleigh, 1878; Lieuwen & Yang, 2005; Culick & Kuentzmann, 2006). Another mechanism that may also support self-sustained instabilities relies on the acoustic perturbations induced by entropy spots (temperature and/or mixture heterogeneities) being generated in the flame region and evacuated through the downstream nozzle. This latter mechanism is called *indirect combustion noise* when its contribution to the whole noise outside the combustion chamber is studied (Marble & Candel, 1977; Cumpsty & Marble, 1977; Bake *et al.*, 2009; Howe, 2010; Miles, 2010; Leyko *et al.*, 2011; Duran *et al.*, 2013). However, the contribution of this mechanism to the unstable behaviour of air-flames remains controversial.

- One reason is that purely thermo-acoustic arguments usually allow the observed instabilities to be explained very nicely in most cases (McManus *et al.*, 1993; Candel *et al.*, 2009).
- Another reason is that many interactions between chemistry, hydrodynamic and acoustics (Ducruix *et al.*, 2003; DeGoey *et al.*, 2011) are involved when dealing with combustors equipped with multi-staged, co-rotating swirlers (Wang *et al.*, 2007; Huang & Yang, 2009) and/or effusion-cooled walls (Hughes & Dowling, 1990; Mendez & Eldredge, 2009; Scarpato *et al.*, 2012) that couple the combustion chamber to a plenum and a casing. Identifying the entropy noise generation as the mechanism which feeds the acoustic field and leads to an unstable regime is thus challenging.

• At last, basic experiments studied in labs are usually operated at atmospheric pressure (Lawn *et al.*, 2004; Kornilov *et al.*, 2009; Karimi *et al.*, 2009; Kim *et al.*, 2010) to ease the technological issues. This means that the combustor chamber is not connected to a choked nozzle, eliminating any contribution of the indirect noise effect ab initio.

Knowledge about mixed acoustic-entropy combustion instabilities goes back to the history of rocket engines and ramjet in the 1950s. Earlier works focused on the downstream nozzle that ends the flame tube. Tsien (1952) formulated a transfer function at the entrance of the nozzle via the derivation of an impedance, modelling the damping or increasing contribution of the device. The problem was reformulated later by Zinn (1972) and Morfey (1973) in terms of acoustic energy balance. Multiple works dedicated to the characterisation of the nozzle impedance emerged in the 70's. Bohn (1977) for the subsonic case, as well as Marble & Candel (1977) for both subsonic and supersonic cases, derived the reflection/transmission coefficients for impinging acoustic and entropic waves under the zero frequency limit (compact nozzle assumption). This approach was later extended to the non-compact cases by Moase *et al.* (2007) and Goh & Morgans (2011), and generalised for both subsonic and choked flows with and without shock wave by Duran & Moreau (2013).

It must be noted that the influence of the nozzle on the combustion zone located upstream is most of the times not accounted for. For example, experiments (Bell et al., 1973; Zinn et al., 1973) or numerical studies (Bloy, 1979) focused on the acoustic response of nozzles for several flow parameters (influence of the Mach number or amplitudes of temperature spot) and its sensitivity to the geometry details (sharpness, area contraction effects). Purely mathematical models (Ffowcs-Williams & Howe, 1975) addressed the problem from the noise radiation point of view via the derivation of Green functions. Concerning the interaction mechanism between the combustion and the indirect noise generated at nozzles, to the authors knowledge the first attempt to develop an analytical theory goes back to the works of Abouseif et al. (1984), closely followed by Keller et al. (1985). They found that the time lag characteristic of temperature spots detached from the flame and convected to the nozzle could add a new family of eigenmodes affecting the overall stability of the system. However, as recalled by Yu et al. (1991), there was a lack of experimental evidence on the contribution of a mixed, convective mode to the flame instability. Despite the fact that this latter work focused on the interaction between vortex and nozzle, the results can be extrapolated to the interaction between entropy and acoustic modes and constitute a first step to outline that the instability mechanism relies on the combination of acoustic and convective time lags. Contrary to the indirect combustion noise, the vortex shedding and its interaction with the acoustics is an important part of the stability of solid rocket engines and many studies are devoted to this subject (Vuillot, 1995; Chedevergne et al., 2012). The experimental study that enlightened the role of the indirect noise on combustion instability was performed by Macquisten & Dowling (1994), who observed that the flame burning in a simple tube could be strongly affected by the addition of a nozzle. However it was just an observation which was not followed by a modelling effort.

The works cited above were motivated by the study of rocket engines and ramjets. The subject has taken a renewed gain of interest with the development of lean premixed combustor for gas turbines, especially in the aeronautical application where these engines cover a wide range of operating points and are more prone to combustion instabilities due to the technological choices. The complexity of such systems has naturally led to the development of low-order methods to predict thermo-acoustic instabilities. More comprehensive works about low-order modelling of combustion instability (Keller, 1995; Dowling & Stow, 2003; You et al., 2005) rely on the resolution of a wave equation governing the oscillatory field in the chamber. Complemented by experiments (Hield *et al.*, 2009; Yu et al., 2010; Sisco et al., 2011) these low order models show that a new family of instability modes that depends on the mean flow velocity may exist. However, as pointed out by Eckstein et al. (2006), one important issue is that the influence of indirect combustion noise is not systematic and a low-frequency instability may appear even without the presence of a nozzle, and vice-versa. Some elements of response were provided by Polifke *et al.* (2001a)who showed that entropy and acoustic waves may have a constructive or destructive phase dependency, as well as Sattelmayer (2003) who argued that entropy spots are submitted to strong dilution (mixing) due to the highly turbulent nature of the flow in practical combustors. Recent numerical study by Morgans et al. (2013) suggests however that the amount of dissipation of entropy spots convected by a turbulent flow may remain moderate. The importance of the entropy wave dissipation in mixed modes introduced a new mechanism to consider in models which did not have to be considered for purely acoustic unstable modes which are only marginally affected by wave dissipation. The effects of dissipation and dispersion on unstable mixed modes have been investigated in a recent study by Goh & Morgans (2013). They confirmed that entropy waves can destabilise a stable combustor, but can also have a stabilising effect on an unstable configuration. Moreover, some configurations can exhibit a mode switch between unstable modes. However, despite the fundamental interest of these studies, they still rely on 1D low-order methods and simple academic configurations.

Only a few numerical studies have been performed to reproduce a mixed entropyacoustic combustion instability in an air-breathing combustor. Zhu *et al.* (2001) and Yao *et al.* (2012) considered an academic combustor and applied the Reynolds Averaged Navier-Stokes (RANS) methods although the accuracy of this approach when dealing with reacting turbulent flows is highly questionable. Unsteady RANS computations have been performed by Hochgreb *et al.* (2013) in an academic combustor. These authors found that the mechanism of convection of entropy spots to the downstream nozzle has a keyrole on the establishment of a self-sustained thermoacoustic oscillation, whose computed frequency match the experiments. Large-Eddy Simulation (LES) is now recognised as appropriate (although CPU demanding) to deal with flame dynamics related issues, with or without coupling with acoustics (see Pitsch, 2006; Schmitt *et al.*, 2007; Wolf *et al.*, 2012*b*; Gicquel *et al.*, 2012). LES was used to investigate the noise generated by the impact of acoustic and entropy waves on nozzles or turbine stages (see Bodony, 2009; Duran *et al.*, 2013). However to the authors knowledge no LES study deals specifically with a mixed entropy-acoustic instability.

## Thesis objectives and organisation

This thesis is devoted to the analysis and the modelling of mean flow convective effects on combustion instabilities. It is expected that Large-Eddy Simulations are able to reproduce such effects in realistic configurations, but the restitution time for results is very long, especially when dealing with low-frequency instability that requires recording a significant time signal. The strategy depicted in Fig. 4.b is then a good candidate to get similar results in a very short computational time, because the joint use of a Helmholtz solver combined with analytical models does not require a huge computational effort.

The Helmholtz equation (2) relies on the so-called zero-Mach number assumption stating that the mean velocity is very small compared to the speed of sound. Nicoud & Wieczorek (2009) suggest that the domain of validity of the zero-mean-flow assumption might be rather small. Nevertheless, this somewhat restrictive assumption is necessary to derive a wave equation for the thermoacoustic perturbations superimposed to a non isentropic baseline flow, the alternative being to use the complete set of Linearised Euler Equations. Unfortunately, this would make the computational effort needed to compute the thermoacoustic modes significantly larger (five coupled equations being solved for) than what is required when dealing with Eq. (2). Being able to (partly) account for the non zero-Mach number effects without relying on the LEEs is therefore desirable.

Chapter 1 focuses on the purely aeroacoustic effects induced by the presence of a mean flow in a configuration. It is shown that a mean flow has a damping effect on the acoustic modes. The theoretical derivation of a conservation energy balance for the acoustic perturbation shows that the energy absorption originating from the mechanical work during the convection process mostly appears through the energy flux formulation. When using a Helmholtz solver, it is shown that the zero-Mach number assumption introduces an energy flux mismatch at the boundary conditions. A theoretical study based on an analytical asymptotic expansion of the energy flux shows that it is possible to reduce the error introduced by the zero-Mach number assumption by imposing the right energy flux through boundaries via a proper formulation of the impedances. Comparisons between a LEE and a Helmholtz solver show that the damping rates of the eigenmodes is well estimated for different Mach number when using the proper impedance formulation.

Eq. (2) does not support entropy waves. Thus the acoustic generation due to the entropy spot being accelerated in the nozzle/turbine located downstream of the combustion chamber is not accounted for. As explained above the production of sound by acceleration of entropy fluctuations is a key phenomenon when dealing with combustion noise and neglecting this acoustic source when studying thermoacoustic instabilities is questionable. Chapter 2 is devoted to the development of a methodology to introduce the coupling between entropy and acoustic waves through boundary conditions. The methodology is decomposed into two parts: first, as the entropy variable does not exist in the computational domain, it must be modelled by a so-called transfer function. Then, the entropy variable is related to the acoustic variable via the imposition of a proper boundary condition, which has been named Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC).

In chapter 3, a realistic gas turbine combustor provided by SAFRAN is studied. During experiments, this combustion chamber exhibited a strong low-frequency instability for some operating points and was stable otherwise. Large-Eddy Simulations are performed on two operating points, one which exhibits an instability and another one which is stable. LES is able to reproduce the behaviour of the combustor and results in terms of frequency and pressure amplitudes are close to the experiments. In order to understand the mechanism that underlies the combustion instability, a Dynamic Mode Decomposition is performed and shows that the instability is driven by the convection of temperature pockets from the flame to the exit nozzle. Hence, this configuration is a good candidate to apply the DECBC method within a zero-Mach number framework. The Helmholtz computation coupled with the DECBC approach are able to reproduce the instability in a short computational time. This demonstrates that this instability is indeed driven by the noise generated by strong entropy fluctuations being convected through the nozzle. To the authors knowledge, this is the first time that such instability is identified in an aeroengine configuration. Finally, a sensitivity study with the Helmholtz solver coupled with DECBC is performed to optimise the shapes of the downstream nozzle. It is shown that for certain geometry of the nozzle, the growth rate of the unstable mode can be reduced. LES computations with an extended geometry of the nozzle confirm that the combustion instability can be significantly attenuated with the proposed methodology.

A schematic representation of the organisation of the thesis is depicted in Fig. 5. Note that some parts of the geometry are hidden for confidentiality reasons.



**Figure 5** - Schematic view of the organisation of the thesis. Some parts of the geometry are hidden for confidentiality reasons.

## Chapter 1

# Non-zero Mach number impedances in zero-Mach number acoustic problems

#### Contents

1.1	Abo	ut acoustics in a non-quiescent flow	18
1.2	Ener	gy considerations	<b>2</b> 0
	1.2.1	Forms of energy corollary	21
	1.2.2	Impedances and flux mismatch	24
1.3	Test	ing impedance formulation in a simple case	<b>30</b>
	1.3.1	Method I: Global domain at $M \neq 0$	32
	1.3.2	Method ${\bf II}$ : Truncated analytical acoustic model at $M \neq 0  . \ . \ .$	35
	1.3.3	Method $\mathbf{III}$ : Truncated analytical acoustic model at $M$ = 0	36
1.4	Resu	llts	37
	1.4.1	Effect of the truncation of the domain	37
	1.4.2	Effect of the zero-Mach number assumption $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	39

In order to assess combustion instabilities in a gas turbine engine, the strategy developed in the present thesis relies on the use of a Helmholtz solver so as to compute the thermoacoustic problem inside the combustor. Such a method solves the acoustic pressure equation as an eigenvalue problem and provides both the frequency and growth rate of the associated instability. However the zero-Mach number assumption used to derive the Helmholtz equation is not applicable to the high-speed elements surrounding the combustor, as for example the compressor or the turbine. As stated in the introduction, the chosen strategy is to model such elements under the form of an impedance that will be applied as a boundary condition to the Helmholtz domain (cf. Fig. 4.b).

The purpose of this chapter is to assess the proper way to formulate an impedance at the interface of the zero/non-zero Mach number domains. Before any mathematical development, the properties of acoustics in a non-quiescent flow are briefly reviewed in \$1.1 by taking some key examples from the aeroacoustic literature. Equations and impedance formulations are proposed in \$1.2, while \$1.3 is devoted to the modelling of a simple application case. Finally results are presented and discussed in \$1.4.

#### 1.1 About acoustics in a non-quiescent flow

Acoustics is a discipline that is found in practically all scientific and engineering applications as well as in the everyday life of humans. As recalled by Pierce (1981) acoustics is the science of sound, where the term sound is not only about the human sensation of hearing, but is referred to any mechanical wave motion. Basically he defines the notion of a wave as an oscillatory disturbance that propagates from a source. This somewhat rudimentary statement goes back to the ancient Greek civilisation and the legend says that philosophers such as Pythagoras (550 B.C.) were teaching mathematics with the help of musical acoustic theories. The physical laws of acoustics were first established in the 17th century by Galileo and Marin Mersenne, this latter one also referred as the father of acoustics (see Pierce, 1981; Bohn, 1988). The advances in mathematics and calculus techniques during the 19th century allowed the emergence of strong theories of acoustics, especially with the monumental works of Helmholtz (1877) and Rayleigh (1894). The industrial revolution and the increasing technological developments have allowed acoustics to spread in all areas and be an actor of major revolutionary advances, such as sound recording and transmissions with the telephone or the radio, detection of submarines, medical care or, for our concern, knowledge in combustion instabilities.

Most practical applications deal with the basic aspects of acoustics where the waves propagate in a medium at rest. Several reference textbooks (see Morse & Ingard, 1968; Pierce, 1981) are dedicated to the underlying theories but the propagation of acoustic waves in a moving media is succinctly treated. When the effects of a flow become non negligible as to interact with the acoustics, physical theories and applications move to the so-called branch of *aeroacoustics* (see Howe, 2003; Rienstra & Hirschberg, 2003). A close look at the literature shows that the acoustics is split between theories that take into account the mean flow and others that neglect it. This is particularly of our interest because the present study concerns the interface where a zero-Mach number domain coincide with a finite Mach number element.

The separation between communities that take into account the mean flow or not is particularly put in evidence by Ingard & Singhal (1975), who explain in a simple manner the effects of a mean flow on the acoustics of a simple tube with an open end. To the authors knowledge, this is one of the first theoretical and experimental work that investigate the mean flow effects in term of damping of eigenmodes as well as the impact of the Mach number on the acoustic reflection coefficient (ratio between a reflected and an impacting acoustic wave) at the open end. This latter point is crucial, because as already mentioned by Meyer *et al.* (1972), the acoustic reflection coefficient takes values superior to unity when the Mach number increase. This is particularly surprising since it would mean that an acoustic wave traveling in the tube to the open end output comes back amplified. The
authors suggest that the vorticity generated at the edge of the end of the tube could be converted into noise that enters back into the tube. It is also argued that the reflection coefficient should be taken in the sense of energy rather than pressure. The energy reflection coefficient is then formulated by the multiplication of the pressure reflection coefficient by a term (1 - M)/(1 + M) where M is the Mach number and should not exceed unity. This is partially true but it will be demonstrated later either experimentally by Peters *et al.* (1993) or theoretically by Munt (1990) that depending on the geometry of the end of the tube, the energy reflection coefficient can also take values superior to unity under certain flow conditions.

These observations are controversial because a confusion is made between the sound generated by the flow, by turbulence for example, and the fact that the mean flow itself has an impact on the wave propagation. The correction term (1 - M)/(1 + M) refers to this latter point. This is also why some authors (Ingard & Singhal, 1975; Davies *et al.*, 1980; Davies, 1987) apply empirical correction terms to their formulations of the reflection coefficient to capture the sound generated by the jet outside the tube is explicitly a source term in the formulation of the reflection coefficient and is responsible for the peak response superior to unity, despite the correction term (1 - M)/(1 + M) that models the damping flow effects inside the tube.

On the other hand, the introduction of flow effects in the acoustics has also been widely debated during the establishment of a theory of the aerodynamic sound. As reviewed by Howe (1975), the first major contribution goes back to the works of Lighthill (1952, 1954) which derived a stationary, scalar inhomogeneous wave operator where the sound generation is shifted in a source term. The main drawback is that the mean flow in not taken into account in the wave operator, the fluid being assumed at rest and extended to the entire space, and the interactions between acoustics and the flow are encapsulated in a distribution of equivalent sources terms which must be known a priori. The mean flow has been introduced in the wave operator by Phillips (1960) which derived an inhomogeneous convected wave equation for the pressure where the moving flow velocity appears in the time derivative. Unfortunately, as pointed out by Lilley (1974), this latter approach is based on the hypothesis that the convected wave operator correctly describes the propagation of small disturbances through a medium of variable mean properties, which is not usually correct especially in shear-flow problems. Indeed, these cases contain sources terms that are linear in the acoustic perturbation and should be included in the propagation operator.

The derivation of a generalised acoustic field theory is a controversial subject, especially when dealing with reactive flow and is not the matter of the present thesis. The reader is invited to investigate the literature (see Powell, 1990; Tam, 1998; Goldstein, 2003; Rienstra & Hirschberg, 2003). An important point that emerges from the theories derived from the Lighthill's analogy is that they are convenient when dealing on the sound produced by the flow, but fails to considers the counter part of a the flow perturbed by the acoustic field. When such a feedback is significant (for example when dealing with homentropic low Mach number flow), the concept of vortex sound introduced by Powell (1964) is most appropriate. Based upon this statement, Howe (1975) proposes to define the acoustic field as an unsteady scalar potential flow. From this point the pressure variable does not satisfy the inhomogeneous convected wave equation and Howe (1975) proposes to use rather the fluctuating total stagnation enthalpy as state variable. Under that form, the vorticity is directly responsible for the generation of sound and appears explicitly in the source terms of the wave equation.

The use of the fluctuating total enthalpy as a state variable to derive a generalised acoustic field has been mathematically demonstrated by Doak (1998). The choice of such a state variable appears in a systematic manner in aeroacoustic studies. To cite a few, Hofmans *et al.* (2001) studied the acoustic response of a diaphragm which is crossed by a jet and constructed their analytical model with the fluctuating total enthalpy variable. Such a choice was also followed by Dupère & Dowling (2001) as well as Eldredge & Dowling (2003) to model the absorption of sound near abrupt area expansions or close to perforated liners with a bias flow. In an experimental point of view, Karlsson & Åbom (2010) convert the pressure measured by microphones into fluctuating mass and total enthalpy so as to construct scattering matrix of T-junctions with the presence of a mean flow.

What emerges from this brief overview is that the choice of the fluctuating pressure variable, which is natural when dealing with acoustics in a zero-Mach number domain such as a Helmholtz solver, is questionable when computing the impedance of high-speed elements such as a turbine or a compressor. As explained in this overview, the subject is controversial and the use of another set of state variables is a good candidate to solve this question. However, there is a need to develop a theoretical background that supports this statement. In the following section, the problem of connecting non-zero and zero Mach number elements is then addressed with the help of an energy flux analysis which suggests a method to introduce non zero-Mach effects at nozzles terminating combustion chamber in a zero Mach number solver.

#### **1.2** Energy considerations

An important property of boundary conditions in an acoustic solver is to ensure that the energy flux that crosses the frontiers is correctly predicted. An interesting starting point is to go back to the definition of the principle of the energy conservation, which may be written into the general form:

$$\frac{\partial E}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{F} = P \tag{1.1}$$

where E represents the energy density evolution in a medium,  $\mathbf{F}$  the energy flux through boundaries and P a source term for the rate of energy production or dissipation per unit volume. The form of Eq. (1.1) is convenient, because it becomes a conservation law when integrated over an arbitrary fixed volume V and the term  $\nabla \cdot \mathbf{F}$  can be re-expressed as a surface integral by means of the Gauss' theorem:

$$\int_{V} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{F} \, \mathrm{d}V = \int_{S} \mathbf{F} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}S \tag{1.2}$$

where **n** is the outward unit vector that defines the normal direction of the surface S. As pointed out by Pierce (1981), such equation is an energy *corollary*, which means that it

is just an intellectual concept that reformulates the fundamental acoustic equations. This corollary adds nothing to the physics but facilitates the description of the problem by a phenomenological modelling. In other words, Eq. (1.1) represents a temporal balance between a source or a sink of energy inside the domain and the incoming or leaving energy flux through the boundaries. Such a balance is then a useful tool to derive a stability criterion of the system, especially in combustion to predict if the coupling between a flame and the acoustics could lead to an uncontrolled accumulation of energy inside a combustor.

#### 1.2.1 Forms of energy corollary

However the main drawback of this energy corollary is that it depends on what is used for E and that multiple possibilities exist for E (Chu, 1965; Nicoud & Poinsot, 2005). Basically the main idea is to start from the conservation equations of mass, momentum and energy. The reader is invited to consult the classical textbooks for more details on the origin of these equations (see Batchelor, 1967; Landau & Lifchitz, 1987). In the absence of body forces, it gives the following set of equations:

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial (\rho u_i)}{\partial x_i} = 0 \tag{1.3}$$

$$\frac{\partial u_j}{\partial t} + u_i \frac{\partial u_j}{\partial x_i} + \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial p}{\partial x_j} = \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial \tau_{i,j}}{\partial x_i}$$
(1.4)

$$\frac{\partial s}{\partial t} + u_i \frac{\partial s}{\partial x_i} = \frac{Q}{\rho} \tag{1.5}$$

where  $\rho$  is the density,  $u_{i,j}$  are the components of the velocity vector **u**, p is the thermodynamic pressure and s is the specific entropy. Q is an energy source term related to the heat addition to the volume and  $\tau_{i,j}$  denotes the components of the viscous stress tensor.

As the acoustic discipline focuses on perturbations in a flow, an intense discussion on the appropriate expression of the energy corollary has shaken the community during the last decades, especially because the different proposed expressions do not hold for all applications. Two major corollaries emerged:

• The principle of acoustic energy has been developed first by Cantrell & Hart (1964) for homentropic, irrotational flows in a cavity, and generalised later by Morfey (1971) for non-isentropic, heat-conducting viscous flows. The idea is to linearise the set of conservation laws governing the fluid motion described at Eqs. (1.3) to (1.5). Each quantity  $\phi(\mathbf{x},t)$  is decomposed into a mean and a fluctuating part  $\phi(\mathbf{x},t) = \overline{\phi}(\mathbf{x}) + \phi'(\mathbf{x},t)$  where the hypothesis made is that fluctuations are small compared to the mean values (i.e.  $\phi' \ll \overline{\phi}$ ) and that mean values are not time dependent. The linearisation at the first order of Eqs. (1.3) to (1.5) then becomes:

$$\frac{\partial(\overline{\rho} + \rho')}{\partial t} + (\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}')\nabla(\overline{\rho} + \rho') + (\overline{\rho} + \rho')\nabla\cdot(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}') = 0$$
(1.6)

$$(\overline{\rho} + \rho')\frac{\partial(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}')}{\partial t} + (\overline{\rho} + \rho')(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}') \cdot \nabla(\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u}') + \nabla(\overline{\rho} + p') = \Psi'$$
(1.7)

$$\frac{\partial(\overline{s+s'})}{\partial t} + (\overline{\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{u'})\nabla(\overline{s+s'}) = r\frac{\overline{q}+q'}{\overline{p}+p'}$$
(1.8)

where  $\Psi$  is defined such that  $\Psi_j = (1/\rho)(\partial \tau_{i,j}/\partial x_i)$ . The energy source term Q in Eq. (1.5) has been reformulated as Q = q/T, where T the absolute temperature, q the rate of heat release per unit of volume and r the universal gas constant that appears after application of the state equation  $p = \rho r T$ . Of course the mean flow field is supposed to obey to the conservation law, leading to the following set of equations:

$$\frac{\mathbf{D}\overline{\rho}}{\mathbf{D}t} = -\overline{\rho}\nabla\cdot\overline{\mathbf{u}} \tag{1.9}$$

$$\overline{\rho}\frac{D\overline{\mathbf{u}}}{Dt} = -\nabla\overline{p} + \overline{\Psi}$$
(1.10)

$$\frac{\overline{\mathrm{D}}\overline{s}}{\mathrm{D}t} = r\frac{\overline{q}}{\overline{p}} \tag{1.11}$$

where  $\frac{\mathrm{D}(\cdot)}{\mathrm{D}t}$  is the particular derivative  $\frac{\partial(\cdot)}{\partial t} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \nabla(\cdot)$ .

It is then possible to combine Eqs. (1.6) to (1.8) so as to reformulate the following second order *acoustic energy corollary*:

$$\frac{\partial E_a}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{F}_a = P_a \tag{1.12}$$

with

$$E_a = \frac{1}{2} \frac{{p'}^2}{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{c}^2} + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\rho} \mathbf{u'}^2 + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{u'} \frac{p'}{\overline{c}^2}$$
(1.13)

$$\mathbf{F}_{a} = p'\mathbf{u}' + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}}{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{c}^{2}} {p'}^{2} + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}^{2}}{\overline{c}^{2}} p'\mathbf{u}' + \overline{\rho \mathbf{u}} \cdot {\mathbf{u}'}^{2}$$
(1.14)

One must note that Morfey (1971) splits the disturbance velocity field into irrotational and solenoidal components which are defined as the acoustic (**u**) and the unsteady vortical (**w**) motions, respectively. At boundaries, the perturbations in the energy flux  $\mathbf{F}_a$  only involve the fluctuating pressure and acoustic velocity variables. Any resulting entropy or vortical disturbances are shifted to the source term  $P_a$ , not described here for sake of simplicity, but extensively detailed in the study of Bloxsidge *et al.* (1988). However, this definition is problematic, especially in reacting flows, because velocity disturbances may be associated with convective disturbances such as entropy heterogeneities. One should note that the *Rayleigh criterion* term p'q' appears in  $P_a$ . Hence, from Eq. (1.12), the stability of a thermoacoustic system is driven by the balance between energy sources/sink terms contained in  $P_a$  and energy flux  $\mathbf{F}_a$  at boundaries. • However, as pointed out by Candel (1975), this principle may be not completely satisfactory, especially when dealing with geometrical acoustic in nozzles or reacting configurations that involve thermal related energy terms. This leads to the other principle of *disturbances energy*, derived by Chu (1965) and Pierce (1981) for zero-mean flow and generalised by Myers (1991) for arbitrary disturbances in steady flows. The main idea of this principle is that the equation for the energy associated with disturbances is not derived by handling algebraic combination of the linearised mass and momentum equations, but directly by expanding and linearising the following general energy equation for the fluid:

$$\frac{\partial(\rho J - p)}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot (J\mathbf{m}) - \mathbf{m} \cdot \Psi - TQ = 0$$
(1.15)

which introduces the total stagnation enthalpy J and mass flux  $\mathbf{m}$ , defined as:

$$J = h + \frac{\mathbf{u}^2}{2}$$
 and  $\mathbf{m} = \rho \mathbf{u}$  (1.16)

where  $h = e + p/\rho$  is the specific enthalpy and e the internal energy.

After quite heavy algebra it then comes the following expression of the *disturbance* energy density  $E_d$  and energy flux  $\mathbf{F}_d$ :

$$E_d = \frac{1}{2} \frac{{p'}^2}{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{c}^2} + \frac{1}{2} \overline{\rho} \mathbf{u'}^2 + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{u'} \frac{p'}{\overline{c}^2} + \frac{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{T} {s'}^2}{2C_p}$$
(1.17)

$$\mathbf{F}_{d} = \mathbf{m}'(J' - \overline{T}s') - \mathbf{m}'\left(\frac{\tau}{\rho}\right)' + \overline{\mathbf{m}} \ T's' + T'\left(\frac{Q}{T}\right)'$$
(1.18)

The disturbances energy principle considers that not only acoustic perturbations are part of the disturbances energy, but that a proper energy also involves correlations terms between entropy and acoustic fluctuations that appear into the energy density and energy flux.

Currently, the establishment of an universal formulation for the energy of fluctuations has not yet reached a consensus. It is especially true in the combustion community because this raises the question of the choice of a proper criterion to study the stability of thermoacoustic systems. Nicoud & Poinsot (2005) argued that the so-called Rayleigh criterion, derived from an energy balance within the zero-Mach number assumption and based on the product of fluctuations of pressure and rate of heat release, should be wrong and must be extended to includes fluctuations of entropy. This idea was also demonstrated by Brear *et al.* (2012) who extended the works of Myers (1991) to reacting flows by including species and chemical non-equilibrium, and computed the disturbance energy balance with the help of Direct Numerical Simulations of a premixed flame. In addition, whatever the formulation of the Rayleigh criterion, it must be noted that it represents an incomplete description of the overall stability of the thermoacoustic system and must be completed by a close look at the energy flux leaving or entering the domain. Recall that the purpose of this chapter is to assess the proper way to formulate an acoustic impedance at the interface of zero/non-zero Mach number domains and that the present study is restricted to homentropic irrotational flows. As shown by Myers (1991), in such as particular case, the disturbances energy principle reduces to the acoustic energy principle of Cantrell & Hart (1964) because all terms related to entropy or vorticity are dropped to zero. In other words, Eq. (1.18) reduces to Eq. (1.14). As Eq. (1.1) holds at each location and time, it is however convenient to consider integrated versions of this equation. Since we restrict ourselves to the linear approximation, the instantaneous value of the acoustic energy is not as important as its evolution after one period of oscillation T. Hence the energy flux through a boundary with the presence of a mean flow takes the following form:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M\neq0} = \int_0^T \int_0^S \left( p'\mathbf{u}' + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}}{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{c}^2} p'^2 + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}^2}{\overline{c}^2} p'\mathbf{u}' + \overline{\rho}\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{u'}^2 \right) \cdot \mathbf{n} \ \mathrm{d}S \ \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.19}$$

Introducing first J' and  $\mathbf{m}'$  the linearised isentropic fluctuating parts of the total enthalpy  $(J = C_p T + \mathbf{u}^2/2)$  and the mass flow rate  $(\mathbf{m} = \rho \mathbf{u})$ , respectively:

$$J' = \frac{p'}{\overline{\rho}} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{u}' \tag{1.20}$$

$$\mathbf{m}' = \overline{\rho} \, \mathbf{u}' + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \, \frac{p'}{\overline{c}^2} \tag{1.21}$$

Eq. (1.19) may then be recast to the following expression:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} = \int_0^T \int_S J' \mathbf{m}' \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}S \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.22}$$

Considering acoustics in the zero-Mach number limit ( $\overline{\mathbf{u}} = 0$ ) leads to the following expression, specific to the Helmholtz equation:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M=0} = \int_0^T \int_S p' \mathbf{u}' \cdot \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}S \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.23}$$

#### 1.2.2 Impedances and flux mismatch

Following the approach described in Fig. 4.b, only the combustion chamber is solved for using a Helmholtz solver while finite-Mach-number effects in the compressor, turbine, nozzle, etc. are accounted for only through boundary conditions by solving the LEE either analytically (Duran & Moreau, 2013) or numerically (Lamarque & Poinsot, 2008). Equation (1.14) suggests that the *natural* variables for a Helmholtz solver are p' and u'while Eq. (1.22) indicates that J' and m' are more attune for LEE and provide the right formulation for acoustic losses, including non zero-Mach effects. Note that these two sets of independent variables are strictly equivalent and one may write the LEE of Helmholtz equations with any set. An impedance, Z may also be defined for each set of variables. Note that impedances being defined in the frequency domain, any fluctuating quantity g'(x,t) must first be recast as  $g'(x,t) = \Re\{\hat{g}(x)e^{-j\omega t}\}$ , where  $\hat{g}$  is the complex amplitude, and  $\omega$  the angular frequency.

#### Impedances formulation

An energy flux or an impedance represent physical quantities across a boundary and involve the velocity which is defined along a direction. Introducing **n** a unit vector normal to the boundary, the reduced impedance Z may be defined along the **n** direction for each set of variables. Using  $\hat{p}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$  one has:

$$Z_{p,\mathbf{u}} = \frac{\hat{p}}{\overline{\rho c} \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}$$
(1.24)

while using  $\hat{J}$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}$  one may define:

$$Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} = \frac{\overline{\rho}}{\overline{c}} \frac{\hat{J}}{\hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}$$
(1.25)

Injecting Eqs. (1.20) and (1.21) into Eq. (1.25) leads to :

$$Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} = \frac{\overline{\rho}\left(\frac{\hat{p}}{\overline{\rho}} + \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}}\right)}{\overline{c}\left(\overline{\rho}\hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}^2}\hat{p}\right)}$$
(1.26)

$$= \frac{\hat{p} + \overline{\rho}(\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}})}{\overline{\rho c}(\hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}) + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}}\hat{p}}$$
(1.27)

Let's divide all terms by  $\overline{\rho c}(\hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n})$ . One then has:

$$Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} = \frac{\frac{\hat{p}}{\overline{\rho}c\hat{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\mathbf{n}} + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\hat{\mathbf{u}}}{\overline{c}\hat{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\mathbf{n}}}{1 + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}}\frac{\hat{p}}{\overline{\rho}c\hat{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\mathbf{n}}}$$
(1.28)

Using Eq. (1.24) leads to the following formulation of the impedance  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}$  as a function of  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}$ :

$$Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} = \frac{Z_{p,\mathbf{u}} + \frac{\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{u}}{\overline{c}\hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}}{1 + \frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}} Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}}$$
(1.29)

Care must be taken with the term  $(\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}})/(\overline{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n})$ . Considering first a 3D space and introducing  $\mathbf{n}$  the unit vector normal to the boundary and  $\mathbf{t_1}, \mathbf{t_2}$  two unitary vectors such

that  $(n, t_1, t_2)$  forms an orthonormal basis, the scalar expansion of the product  $\overline{u} \cdot \hat{u}$  may be written into the form:

$$\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}} = \left( \left( \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) \mathbf{n} + \left( \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{t}_1 \right) \mathbf{t}_1 + \left( \overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{t}_2 \right) \mathbf{t}_2 \right) \cdot \left( \left( \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right) \mathbf{n} + \left( \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{t}_1 \right) \mathbf{t}_1 + \left( \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{t}_2 \right) \mathbf{t}_2 \right)$$
(1.30)

Introducing first the following expressions:

$$u_n = \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{n} \tag{1.31}$$

$$u_1 = \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{t_1} \tag{1.32}$$

$$u_2 = \mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{t_2} \tag{1.33}$$

Eq. (1.30) may then be recast as:

$$\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}} = \overline{u}_n \hat{u}_n + \overline{u}_1 \hat{u}_1 + \overline{u}_2 \hat{u}_2 \tag{1.34}$$

Finally it comes:

$$\frac{\overline{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \hat{\mathbf{u}}}{\overline{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}} = \frac{\overline{u}_n}{\overline{c}} + \frac{\overline{u}_1}{\overline{c}} \frac{\hat{u}_1}{\hat{u}_n} + \frac{\overline{u}_2}{\overline{c}} \frac{\hat{u}_2}{\hat{u}_n}$$
(1.35)

The hypothesis is made that the mean velocity vector  $\overline{\mathbf{u}}$  is always normal to the boundary, i.e.  $\overline{u}_1 = \overline{u}_2 = 0$ . After introduction of the Mach number vector  $\mathbf{M} = \overline{\mathbf{u}}/\overline{c}$ , one then has :

$$\frac{\mathbf{u} \cdot \mathbf{u}}{\overline{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}} = \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n} \tag{1.36}$$

Finally, the proper relation between  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}$  (Eq. (1.24)) and  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}$  (Eq. (1.25)) takes the following form :

$$Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} = \frac{Z_{p,\mathbf{u}} + \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{1 + Z_{p,\mathbf{u}} \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n}}$$
(1.37)

Similarly, it comes:

$$Z_{p,\mathbf{u}} = \frac{\mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n} - Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}}{Z_{J,\mathbf{m}} \mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n} - 1}$$
(1.38)

The situation depicted in Fig. 1.1 where a Helmholtz domain (M = 0) is connected to a LEE domain  $(M \neq 0)$  through an interface raises the question of the consistency between the two sub-domains. More precisely, let us assume that the impedance of the LEE domain is known at the interface, noted  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq0}$  (or  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0}$ ). This impedance models the way acoustic waves propagate into and reflect from the LEE domain. Since the flow is not at rest in this region,  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq0}$  and  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0}$  are obviously different (Eqs. (1.37)-(1.38)) although they represent the same LEE domain. When solving for the Helmholtz equation in the M = 0 domain, a boundary impedance  $Z^{M=0}$  must be imposed at the interface in order to represent the effect of the LEE domain. Note that in the Helmholtz domain the Mach number is assumed zero so that from Eqs. (1.37)-(1.38):  $Z^{M=0} = Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M=0} = Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M=0}$ . The next natural question is then: how should  $Z^{M=0}$  be defined from the knowledge of  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq0}$ (or  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0}$ )? Is it possible to use a  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}$  impedance in the Helmholtz solver which would provide the correct energy flux through the boundary?



**Figure 1.1** - Schematic representation of the boundary between a domain computed with a Helmholtz solver and an acoustic element with the zero-Mach-number assumption.

#### Flux mismatch introduced by the impedance

The purpose of the following is to assess the flux difference  $\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} - \mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  at the interface between the Helmholtz domain and the outer domain where the baseline flow is not assumed at rest (see Fig. 1.1). The energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0}$  relative to the LEE domain may be reformulated with the help of the impedance  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq 0}$  defined at Eq. (1.25). Introducing first for clarity reasons the notation  $\{\hat{g}\} = \Re(\hat{g}e^{-j\omega t})$  and considering the spatial integration over a uniform boundary of section S, Eq. (1.22) then becomes:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M\neq0} = S \int_0^T \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \left\{ \hat{J} \right\} \ \mathrm{d}t = S \int_0^T \frac{\overline{c}}{\overline{\rho}} \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \left\{ Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0} \hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \ \mathrm{d}t$$

The LEE solution is made non-dimensional by setting  $\hat{\mathbf{m}} = \hat{\mathbf{m}_0}$  at the considered boundary, leading to:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M\neq0} = \overline{\rho c} S \int_0^T \left\{ \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_0 \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \left\{ Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_0 \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.39}$$

The energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  relative to the zero-Mach number domain may be reformulated with the help of the impedance  $Z^{M=0}$ . Eq. (1.23) then becomes:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M=0} = S \int_0^T \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \left\{ \hat{p} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t = \overline{\rho c} S \int_0^T \left\{ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \left\{ Z^{M=0} \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.40}$$

In the Helmholtz domain  $\hat{\mathbf{m}} = \overline{\rho} \hat{\mathbf{u}}$  so that the acoustic field is made non-dimensional by setting at the boundary  $\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \hat{\mathbf{m}}_0 / \overline{\rho}$ . The energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  then becomes:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M=0} = \overline{\rho c} S \int_0^T \left\{ \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_0 \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \left\{ Z^{M=0} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_0 \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.41}$$

The error introduced by the modelling of  $Z^{M=0}$  can be assessed by forming the flux difference  $\Delta \mathbf{F} = |\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} - \mathbf{F}^{M=0}|$  where the flux expression Eq. (1.39) is used together with Eq. (1.41). Different flux differences are obtained depending on the modelling choice made for  $Z^{M=0}$ :

• If the impedance  $Z^{M=0}$  is set to  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq 0}$ :

Asymptotic expansion with respect to the Mach number leads to:

$$Z^{M=0} = Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq0} = \frac{\mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n} - Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0}}{\mathbf{M} \cdot \mathbf{n} Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0} - 1} = Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq0} + \mathcal{O}(M)$$
(1.42)

Injection of Eq. (1.42) into Eq. (1.41) leads to the following energy flux formulation for the zero-Mach number domain:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M=0} = \overline{\rho c} S \int_{0}^{T} \left\{ \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_{\mathbf{0}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \left\{ Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq 0} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}}_{\mathbf{0}} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t + \mathcal{O}\left(M\right) \tag{1.43}$$

so that, taking the difference between Eq.(1.39) and Eq.(1.43) and keeping only lower order terms, the flux difference is then:

$$\Delta \mathbf{F} = \mathcal{O}\left(M\right) \tag{1.44}$$

### • If the impedance $Z^{M=0}$ is set to $Z^{M\neq 0}_{J,\mathbf{m}}$ :

The equation (1.41) then becomes:

$$\mathbf{F}^{M=0} = \overline{\rho c} S \int_0^T \left\{ \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}_0} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \left\{ Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq 0} \frac{\hat{\mathbf{m}_0} \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{\rho}} \right\} \, \mathrm{d}t \tag{1.45}$$

so that the theoretical flux difference is simply  $\Delta \mathbf{F} = 0$ . However, neglecting the mean flow in the zero-Mach-number domain also introduces a mismatch in the frequency 1/T of oscillation of order  $M^2$ .

Indeed, considering first a domain of length L under the zero-Mach number assumption, a simple reasoning shows that the first eigenmode is composed of a downstream  $T^+ = L/\overline{c}$  and an upstream  $T^- = L/\overline{c}$  travelling acoustic wave which propagates at the speed of sound  $\overline{c}$ . Hence the frequency of oscillation is:

$$f_0 = \frac{1}{T} = \frac{1}{(T^+ + T^-)} = \frac{\overline{c}}{2L}$$
(1.46)

Following the same reasoning, the introduction of the mean flow velocity  $\overline{u}$  leads to:

$$T^{+} = \frac{L}{\overline{c} + \overline{u}} = \frac{L}{\overline{c}(1+M)} \quad \text{and} \quad T^{-} = \frac{L}{\overline{c} - \overline{u}} = \frac{L}{\overline{c}(1-M)}$$
(1.47)

This leads to the following estimation of the frequency of oscillation:

$$f \approx \frac{\overline{c}(1-M^2)}{2L} \tag{1.48}$$

Hence it gives the following relation between the frequencies of oscillation with  $M \neq 0$ and the zero-Mach number assumption M = 0:

$$f \approx (1 - M^2) f_0$$
 (1.49)

Consequently the flux difference is actually:

$$\Delta \mathbf{F} = \mathcal{O}\left(M^2\right) \tag{1.50}$$

The two approaches to model  $Z^{M=0}$  are summarised in Table 1.1, which also displays the asymptotic behaviours of the difference between the exact energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0}$  (see Eq. (1.22)) and its zero-Mach number counterpart  $\mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  (see Eq. (1.23)). A perfect model for the boundary impedance  $Z^{M=0}$  would produce zero difference between these two fluxes, meaning that the acoustic energy leaving the Helmholtz domain would exactly match the amount of energy entering the LEE domain. However, assuming the mean flow being at rest in the computational domain introduces a loss in acoustic energy conservation and a mismatch between  $\mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  and  $\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0}$ . The theoretical asymptotic analysis shows that the  $Z_{p,\mathbf{u}}^{M\neq 0}$  approach produces an error  $|\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} - \mathbf{F}^{M=0}|$  proportional to the Mach number between the Helmholtz and the LEE domains (noted  $\mathcal{O}(M)$  in Table 1.1). At the same time, the  $Z_{J,\mathbf{m}}^{M\neq 0}$  approach produces a flux mismatch which is quadratic in the Mach number  $(|\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} - \mathbf{F}^{M=0}| = \mathcal{O}(M^2))$ , thus a smaller error in the acoustic energy conservation.

$Z^{M=0}$	$Z^{M\neq 0}_{p,\mathbf{u}}$	$Z^{M\neq 0}_{J,\mathbf{m}}$
$ \mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0} - \mathbf{F}^{M=0} $	$\mathcal{O}(M)$	$\mathcal{O}(M^2)$

**Table 1.1 -** Summary of the flux mismatch error introduced in the zero-Mach number domain by the choice of boundary impedance  $Z^{M=0}$ .

The next section is devoted to the evaluation of the two approaches to model  $Z^{M=0}$ . The eigenmodes of a simple configuration are computed either by solving the full set of LEE, either by solving a truncated domain under the zero-Mach-number assumption. The influence of the modelling approach can then be assessed by comparison with results from the LEEs.

#### 1.3 Testing impedance formulation in a simple case

The configuration considered to test the impedance expression of Table 1.1 is shown in Fig. 1.2.a. It consists of two connected tubes of section  $S_1$  and  $S_2$ . The subscripts 1 and 2 refer to parameters in the left and right tube, respectively. The boundary conditions are  $\hat{m}_1 = 0$  and  $\hat{s}_1 = 0$  at the entrance of tube 1 and  $\hat{p}_2 = 0$  at the exit of tube 2, respectively. This simple test case is chosen so as to mimic a burner where the inlet and outlet Mach numbers are different, but without entropy sources at all so as to keep the isentropic assumption.

The eigenmodes of this simple configuration are computed by three different methods:

- Method **I** is the analytical solution of the LEE in the whole domain:  $x \in [0, L]$  (see Fig. 1.2.a). This is considered as the reference solution and will be cross-validated with a numerical LEE solver described at section 1.3.1.
- Method **II** is the solution of the LEE equations in a restricted region of the domain:  $x \in [l_{z1}, l_{z2}]$  (see Fig. 1.2.b). This solution shows that it is appropriate to solve the problem in a restricted part of the configuration if the proper impedances are set at  $x = l_{z1}$  and  $l_{z2}$ .
- Method **III** is the solution of the Helmholtz equation (*i.e.* assuming that M = 0) in a restricted region of the domain (see Fig. 1.2.b). This solution assesses the influence of the zero-Mach-number assumption and is used to test the two modelling approaches of  $Z^{M=0}$  summarised in Table 1.1. To this end, two versions of Method **III** are used in the following: **III**<sub>pu</sub> when  $Z^{M=0} = Z_{pu}^{M\neq 0}$  and **III**<sub>Jm</sub> when  $Z^{M=0} = Z_{Jm}^{M\neq 0}$ .

Table 1.2 summarizes the analytical procedures described above.

Method	Computed domain	Mean flow assumption	Impedance formulation	
			$(Z_1 \text{ and } Z_2)$	
I	Full	$M \neq 0$	×	
п	Truncated	$M \neq 0$	$Z^{M\neq 0}_{p,u}$	
$\mathbf{III}_{pu}$	Truncated	M = 0	$Z^{M\neq 0}_{p,u}$	
III <sub>Jm</sub>	Truncated	M = 0	$Z^{M  eq 0}_{J,m}$	

Table 1.2 - Summary of the analytical procedures (methods I, II, III) investigated to compute the two connected tubes configuration.







**Figure 1.2** - Configuration investigated in section 1.3. (a): Complete geometry with its known acoustic boundary conditions. (b): Only a part of the domain is computed while the rest is modelled through impedances. (c): same as (b) but the computed flow domain is assumed at rest.

#### **1.3.1** Method I: Global domain at $M \neq 0$

#### Method I<sub>num</sub>: Numerical LEE solver

For an homogeneous reacting mixture with constant heat capacities  $C_p$  and  $C_v$ , the linearised harmonic form of conservation equations for mass (Eq. (1.3)), momentum (Eq. (1.4)) and energy (Eq. (1.5)) in a quasi-1D domain of cross section area S(x) read respectively (Nicoud & Wieczorek, 2009):

$$\hat{u}\frac{\partial\overline{\rho}}{\partial x} + \overline{\rho}\frac{\partial\hat{u}}{\partial x} + \overline{u}\frac{\partial\hat{\rho}}{\partial x} + \hat{\rho}\frac{\partial\overline{u}}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{\rho}\hat{u} + \hat{\rho}\overline{u}}{S}\frac{\partial S}{\partial x} = j\omega\hat{\rho}$$
(1.51)

$$\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}}\frac{\partial\hat{p}}{\partial x} + \hat{u}\frac{\partial\overline{u}}{\partial x} + \overline{u}\frac{\partial\hat{u}}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{u}\hat{\rho}}{\overline{\rho}}\frac{\partial\overline{u}}{\partial x} = j\omega\hat{u}$$
(1.52)

$$\hat{u}\frac{\partial s_0}{\partial x} + \overline{u}\frac{\partial \hat{s}}{\partial x} + \frac{r\overline{q}}{\overline{p}^2}\hat{p} - \frac{r}{\overline{p}}\hat{q} = j\omega\hat{s}$$
(1.53)

with the linearised state equation and entropy expression (see Shapiro, 1953; Anderson, 1990):

$$\frac{\hat{p}}{\bar{p}} - \frac{\hat{\rho}}{\bar{\rho}} - \frac{\hat{T}}{\bar{T}} = 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad \frac{\hat{s}}{C_v} = \frac{\hat{p}}{\bar{p}} - \gamma \frac{\hat{\rho}}{\bar{\rho}} \tag{1.54}$$

where  $\gamma$  and  $C_v$  are the heat capacity ratio and heat capacity at constant volume, respectively.

Assuming that the unsteady heat release rate amplitude  $\hat{q}$  is modelled as a linear operator, i.e.  $\hat{q} = q_{\hat{\rho}}\hat{\rho} + q_{\hat{u}}\hat{u} + q_{\hat{s}}\hat{s}$ , Eqs. (1.51) - (1.53) define an eigenvalue problem  $\mathcal{MW} = j\omega \mathcal{W}$  with

$$\mathcal{M} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial x} + \overline{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{u}}{S} \frac{\partial S}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial \overline{\rho}}{\partial x} + \overline{\rho} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{\rho}}{S} \frac{\partial S}{\partial x} & 0\\ \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}} \frac{\partial \overline{c}^2}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{u}}{\overline{\rho}} \frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial x} + \frac{\overline{c}^2}{\overline{\rho}} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} & \frac{\partial \overline{u}}{\partial x} + \overline{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} & (\gamma - 1) \overline{T} \left( \frac{1}{\overline{p}} \frac{\partial \overline{p}}{\partial x} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \right)\\ \frac{\gamma r \overline{q}}{\overline{\rho p}} - \frac{r}{\overline{p}} q_{\hat{\rho}} & \frac{\partial \overline{s}}{\partial x} - \frac{r}{\overline{p}} q_{\hat{u}} & \overline{u} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} + (\gamma - 1) \frac{\overline{q}}{\overline{p}} - \frac{r}{\overline{p}} q_{\hat{s}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.55)

where the eigenvector is  $\mathcal{W} = (\hat{\rho}, \hat{u}, \hat{s})^T$  and  $\omega$  denotes the angular frequency.

The system  $\mathcal{MW} = j\omega\mathcal{W}$  can be solved as an eigenvalue problem by a numerical discretisation of the operator  $\mathcal{M}$  and with the help of linear algebra algorithms such as the Arnoldi method. It provides the complex eigenfrequencies and associated eigenvector  $\mathcal{W}$ that contains the mode shapes. The period of oscillations as well as the growth/decay rate of the eigenmode are contained in the real and imaginary part of each eigenfrequency, respectively. In the present study, the code developed by Wieczorek (2010) during her thesis has been used. This code uses a discretisation of the acoustic quantities based on a central finite difference scheme and with a staggered grid method.

#### Method $I_{an}$ : Global analytical acoustic model at $M \neq 0$

In the case of a ducted system with constant-cross-section tubes, it is more practical to describe the fluctuations of pressure, velocity and entropy (respectively  $\hat{p}$ ,  $\hat{u}$  and  $\hat{s}$ ) with wave amplitudes:  $A^+$  and  $A^-$  for the forward and backward propagating acoustic waves, respectively and  $\sigma$  for the entropic wave. One then has:

$$\hat{p}(x) = A^+ e^{jk^+ x} + A^- e^{-jk^- x}$$
(1.56)

$$\hat{u}(x) = \frac{1}{\overline{\rho c}} [A^+ e^{jk^+ x} - A^- e^{-jk^- x}]$$
(1.57)

$$\hat{s}(x) = \sigma e^{jk_s x} \tag{1.58}$$

where

$$k^{+} = \frac{\omega}{\overline{c} + \overline{u}} = \frac{k}{1+M}$$
(1.59)

$$k^{-} = \frac{\omega}{\overline{c} - \overline{u}} = \frac{k}{1 - M}$$
(1.60)

$$k_s = \frac{k}{M} \tag{1.61}$$

and  $k = \omega/\overline{c}$  is the acoustic wave number. Note that for the sake of simplicity the normal is taken along the x-axis direction and the velocity variable is no longer written in a vector notation. After injection of Eq. (1.58) into Eq. (1.54), the entropy equation and perfect-gas equation of state yield:

$$\hat{\rho} = \frac{\hat{p}}{\overline{c}^2} - \frac{\overline{\rho}\sigma}{C_p} e^{jk_s x} \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\hat{T}}{\overline{T}} = \frac{\gamma - 1}{\overline{\rho}\overline{c}^2} \hat{p} + \frac{\sigma}{C_p} e^{jk_s x}$$
(1.62)

Equations (1.56) - (1.58) and (1.62) describe the linear harmonic perturbations at finite Mach number.

The one-dimensional formalism can also be used to reformulate the impedances previously described at Eqs. (1.24) and (1.25) with the help of a reflection coefficient R:

$$R_{p,u} = \frac{A^-}{A^+}$$
 and  $R_{J,m} = \frac{A^-(1-M)}{A^+(1+M)}$  (1.63)

where the amplitudes  $A^+$  and  $A^-$  have been defined in Eqs. (1.56) - (1.57) and represent the propagation/reflection of acoustics waves through/from the LEE domain. The values of the impedances and reflection coefficients for some canonical boundary conditions are recalled in Table 1.3.

As shown in Fig. 1.2.a, the forward and backward waves (cf. Eqs. (1.56) and (1.57)) traveling in both tubes lead to four unknown:  $A_1^+$ ,  $A_1^-$ ,  $A_2^+$  and  $A_2^-$ . These wave amplitudes are solutions of a homogeneous linear system of equations obtained by requiring that the boundary conditions (x = 0 and x = L) and jump condition (x = l) are fulfilled. The two boundary conditions form a first set of relations between waves amplitudes:

B.C	$Z_{p,u}$	$R_{p,u}$	$Z_{J,m}$	$R_{J,m}$
$\hat{p} = 0$	0	-1	M	$-\frac{1-M}{1+M}$
$\hat{u} = 0$	$\infty$	1	$\frac{1}{M}$	$\frac{1-M}{1+M}$
$\hat{J} = 0$	-M	$-\frac{1+M}{1-M}$	0	-1
<i>m̂</i> = 0	$-\frac{1}{M}$	$\frac{1+M}{1-M}$	$\infty$	1

**Table 1.3** - Impedances and reflection coefficients for canonical boundary conditions: constant pressure  $(\hat{p} = 0)$ , constant velocity  $(\hat{u} = 0)$ , fixed mass flow rate  $(\hat{m} = 0)$  and fixed total enthalpy  $(\hat{J} = 0)$ .

•  $\hat{m}_1 = 0$ , at x = 0 yields

$$A_1^+ (1+M_1) - A_1^- (1-M_1) = 0 \tag{1.64}$$

• 
$$\hat{p}_2 = 0$$
, at  $x = L$  yields  
 $A_2^+ e^{jk_2^+L} + A_2^- e^{-jk_2^-L} = 0$  (1.65)

As explained by Davies (1988) the jump relations for the section change located at x = l can be expressed by integrating over an infinitesimal control volume the conservation of mass and energy as long as the specific stagnation enthalpy within the volume remains invariant. It should be noted that the physics at the section change involves an additional equation that introduces the entropy fluctuations. However it has been checked by solving numerically the full set of LEE that in the present configuration the generated entropy wave is negligible (see section 1.4.1). As pointed out by Davies (1988) in the case of an isentropic processes, the jump relations reduce to the following set of equations:

• Mass conservation at x = l:

$$\left[ (1+M_1)A_1^+ e^{jk_1^+l} - (1-M_1)A_1^- e^{-jk_1^-l} \right] \frac{S_1}{\overline{c}_1} = \left[ [(1+M_2)A_2^+ e^{jk_2^+l} - (1-M_2)A_2^- e^{-jk_2^-l}] \frac{S_2}{\overline{c}_2} \right]$$
(1.66)

• Energy conservation at x = l:

$$\left[ (1+M_1)A_1^+ e^{jk_1^+l} + (1-M_1)A_1^- e^{-jk_1^-l} \right] \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}_1} = \left[ [(1+M_2)A_2^+ e^{jk_2^+l} + (1-M_2)A_2^- e^{-jk_2^-l}] \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}_2} \right] \frac{1}{(1.67)}$$

Equations (1.64) to (1.67) are recast in the form of a linear system  $\mathcal{MW} = 0$ , with  $\mathcal{M}$ :

$$\begin{bmatrix} (1+M_1) & -(1-M_1) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & e^{jk_2^+L} & e^{-jk_2^-L}\\ \frac{S_1}{\overline{c}_1} (1+M_1) e^{jk_1^+l} & -\frac{S_1}{\overline{c}_1} (1-M_1) e^{-jk_1^-l} & -\frac{S_2}{\overline{c}_2} (1+M_2) e^{jk_2^+l} & \frac{S_2}{\overline{c}_2} (1-M_2) e^{-jk_2^-l}\\ (1+M_1) \frac{\overline{\rho}_2}{\overline{\rho}_1} e^{jk_1^+l} & (1-M_1) \frac{\overline{\rho}_2}{\overline{\rho}_1} e^{-jk_1^-l} & -(1+M_2) e^{jk_2^+l} & -(1-M_2) e^{-jk_2^-l} \end{bmatrix}$$
(1.68)

and  $\mathcal{W} = (A_1^+, A_1^-, A_2^+, A_2^-)^T$  contains the four unknowns. The dispersion relation is then obtained by requiring the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  to be singular, producing the exact solution of the acoustical problem.

#### **1.3.2** Method II : Truncated analytical acoustic model at $M \neq 0$

As shown in Fig. 1.2.b the computational domain is reduced to the region between  $x = l_{z1}$ and  $x = l_{z2}$ , where specific boundary impedances  $Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0}$  and  $Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}$  are imposed at these locations. The Mach number remains finite in the computational domain. Replacing Eq. (1.64) (x = 0) and Eq. (1.64) (x = L) by impedance conditions  $\hat{p}(x = l_{z1}) = Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0} \hat{u}(x = l_{z1})$  and  $\hat{p}(x = l_{z2}) = Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0} \hat{u}(x = l_{z2})$  leads to a dispersion matrix:

$$\begin{bmatrix} (1 - Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0})e^{jk_{1}^{+}l_{z_{1}}} & (1 + Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0})e^{-jk_{1}^{-}l_{z_{1}}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & (1 - Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0})e^{jk_{2}^{+}l_{z_{2}}} & (1 + Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0})e^{-jk_{2}^{-}l_{z_{2}}}\\ \frac{S_{1}}{\overline{c}_{1}} (1 + M_{1})e^{jk_{1}^{+}l} & -\frac{S_{1}}{\overline{c}_{1}} (1 - M_{1})e^{-jk_{1}^{-}l} & -\frac{S_{2}}{\overline{c}_{2}} (1 + M_{2})e^{jk_{2}^{+}l} & \frac{S_{2}}{\overline{c}_{2}} (1 - M_{2})e^{-jk_{2}^{-}l}\\ (1 + M_{1})\frac{\overline{\rho}_{2}}{\overline{\rho}_{1}}e^{jk_{1}^{+}l} & (1 - M_{1})\frac{\overline{\rho}_{2}}{\overline{\rho}_{1}}e^{-jk_{1}^{-}l} & -(1 + M_{2})e^{jk_{2}^{+}l} & -(1 - M_{2})e^{-jk_{2}^{-}l} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(1.69)$$

Equations (1.68) and (1.69) should correspond to the same dispersion relation as long as  $Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0}$  and  $Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}$  properly represent the truncated regions  $0 \le x \le l_{z1}$  and  $l_{z2} \le x \le L$ . A simple translation of the impedance at a constant Mach number leads to:

$$Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{\zeta_1(M_1-1) - (M_1+1)}{\zeta_1(M_1-1) + (M_1+1)}$$
(1.70)

$$Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{1-\zeta_2}{1+\zeta_2} \tag{1.71}$$

where

$$\zeta_1 = e^{\frac{2jk_1l_{z1}}{1-M_1^2}}$$
 and  $\zeta_2 = e^{\frac{2jk_2l_{z2}}{1-M_2^2}}$  (1.72)

#### **1.3.3** Method III : Truncated analytical acoustic model at M = 0

Method **III** is similar to method **II** in the sense that only the  $l_{z1} \le x \le l_{z2}$  domain is solved for. However, the Mach number is now assumed to be zero in this region, so that the  $Z^{M=0}$  approximations (see Table 1.1) can be tested. Methods **III**<sub>pu</sub> or **III**<sub>Jm</sub> are obtained by replacing  $Z_1^{M=0}$  and  $Z_2^{M=0}$  by  $Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq0}$  and  $Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq0}$ , or  $Z_{J,m,1}^{M\neq0}$  and  $Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq0}$ , respectively. The solution of this problem corresponds to the linear system (1.73) which is the system (1.69) where  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  are set to zero.

$$\begin{bmatrix} (1-Z_1^{M=0})e^{jk_1l_{z_1}} & (1+Z_1^{M=0})e^{-jk_1l_{z_1}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & (1-Z_2^{M=0})e^{jk_2l_{z_2}} & (1+Z_2^{M=0})e^{-jk_2l_{z_2}}\\ \frac{S_1}{c_1}e^{jk_1l} & -\frac{S_1}{c_1}e^{-jk_1l} & -\frac{S_2}{c_2}e^{jk_2l} & \frac{S_2}{c_2}e^{-jk_2l}\\ \frac{P_2}{\overline{\rho}_1}e^{jk_1l} & \frac{\overline{\rho}_2}{\overline{\rho}_1}e^{-jk_1l} & -e^{jk_2l} & -e^{-jk_2l} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_1^+\\ A_1^-\\ A_2^+\\ A_2^- \end{bmatrix} = 0$$

$$(1.73)$$

The expression of  $Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq 0}$ ,  $Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}$ ,  $Z_{J,m,1}^{M\neq 0}$  and  $Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0}$  are recalled as follow:

$$Z_{p,u,1}^{M\neq0} = \frac{\zeta_1(M_1-1) - (M_1+1)}{\zeta_1(M_1-1) + (M_1+1)}$$
(1.74)

$$Z_{J,m,1}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{\zeta_1 + 1}{\zeta_1 - 1} \tag{1.75}$$

$$Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{1-\zeta_2}{1+\zeta_2} \tag{1.76}$$

$$Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0} = -\frac{\zeta_2(M_2-1) + (M_2+1)}{\zeta_2(M_2-1) - (M_2+1)}$$
(1.77)

where

$$\zeta_1 = e^{\frac{2jk_1l_{z1}}{1-M_1^2}}$$
 and  $\zeta_2 = e^{\frac{2jk_2l_{z2}}{1-M_2^2}}$  (1.78)

#### 1.4 Results

Thermodynamic and geometric parameters for the computation of the eigenmodes for this test case are presented in Table 1.4. The temperature  $\overline{T}_1$  and pressure  $\overline{p}_1$  are imposed, while the values in tube 2 are deduced from the conservation equations of the steady state. The relations are detailed in Appendix A.

$S_1 \; [\mathrm{m}^2]$	$S_2 [\mathrm{m}^2]$	$\overline{T}_1$ [K]	$\overline{p}_1$ [Pa]	$\gamma$
0.05	0.1	300	101325	1.4
r [SI]	L [m]	<i>l</i> [m]	$l_{z1}$ [m]	$l_{z2}  [\mathrm{m}]$
287	1	0.5	0.1	0.9

**Table 1.4** - Thermodynamic and geometric parameters for the computation of the configuration of figure 1.2.

#### 1.4.1 Effect of the truncation of the domain

The objective of this section is:

- to validate the analytical method  $\mathbf{I_{an}}$  by comparison with the numerical LEE solver  $\mathbf{I_{num}},$
- to demonstrate the validity of the computations in the truncated domain, by comparing methods I and II.

Several computations have been performed on the configuration with different inlet Mach numbers  $M_1$  ranging from  $M_1 = 0.0005$  to  $M_1 = 0.2$ . Results for the first eigenmode are depicted in Fig. 1.3 for the modes shapes and in Fig. 1.4 for the frequency and growth rate. The numerical LEE solver described at §1.3.1 as well as the global analytical model give exactly the same results. Although not depicted, the fluctuating entropy shapes are of the order  $10^{-13}$ . It proves that the isentropic jump relations (Eqs. (1.66) - (1.67)) are valid and that the entropy fluctuations generated at the section change are negligible.

Given that the impedances at  $x = l_{z1}$  and  $x = l_{z2}$  are adequate (Eqs. (1.70) - (1.71) are correct), the results between the global methods **I** and the truncated method **II** should be identical. This is verified in Fig. 1.4 where the frequency and growth rate of the first eigenmode are reported.



**Figure 1.3** - Mode shapes at  $M_1 = 0.0005$  (left column) and  $M_1 = 0.2$  (right column) for the first eigenmode with the numerical LEE solver  $\mathbf{I_{num}}$  ( —) and the reference method  $\mathbf{I_{an}}$  (×). First two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating total enthalpy  $\hat{J}$ , respectively. Last two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating mass flow rate  $\hat{m}$ , respectively.



**Figure 1.4** - Frequency and growth rate of the first eigenmode for different inlet Mach number  $M_1$  for the numerical LEE solver  $\mathbf{I}_{num}$  (—), the analytical global method  $\mathbf{I}_{an}$  (×) and the truncated method ( $M \neq 0$ ) **II** ( $\bigcirc$ ).

The eigenmode shapes were also verified to be identical although not reported here. This demonstrates that the differences between methods I and III discussed in the next section are due to the zero-Mach number assumption and the modelling of the boundary impedances rather than the truncation procedure.

#### 1.4.2 Effect of the zero-Mach number assumption

This section is devoted to the comparison of the methodologies, presented in Sec. 1.2.2, to prescribe the boundary impedances in method III. The reference is the computation using methods I. The frequency and growth rate of the first two eigenmodes are reported in Fig. 1.5 for various inlet Mach number  $M_1$ .

Results with the zero-Mach number assumption methods  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  exhibit the same behaviour for the two computed eigenmodes. The frequency of oscillations departs from the reference solution when  $M_1$  increases. This result was expected since a simple speed argument in a constant cross section area tube shows that the frequency of oscillation at  $M \neq 0$  is approximatively  $(1 - M^2)f_0$  where  $f_0$  is the frequency of oscillation under the zero-Mach number assumption. The growth rate is significantly underpredicted with method  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  but very well captured by method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ . This last result is coherent with the asymptotic behaviours of the flux mismatch presented in section 1.2.2: the method leading to the smallest mismatch ( $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ ) also leads to the best result in terms of damping rate.

In order to confirm the theoretical assessment of the flux mismatches introduced by methods  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ , viz.  $\mathcal{O}(M)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$  respectively, the flux difference at the boundaries  $x = l_{z1}$  and  $x = l_{z2}$  is plotted in Fig. 1.6 for the two first eigenmodes (top and bottom graphs, respectively). As explained in 1.2.2, the energy flux are made nondimensional with respect to  $\hat{\mathbf{m}}_0$ , which is taken at  $x = l_{z1}$  and  $x = l_{z2}$  for the left and right  $\Delta \mathbf{F}$ , respectively. As expected, the difference between the exact energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M\neq 0}$ 



Figure 1.5 - Frequency and growth rate of the first (top) and second (bottom) eigenmode versus inlet Mach number  $M_1$  with the reference methods  $\mathbf{I}(\times)$  and methods  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}(---)$  and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}(---)$ .

computed with methods **I** and the estimated energy flux  $\mathbf{F}^{M=0}$  computed with  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  exhibit an asymptotic behaviour  $\mathcal{O}(M)$  while  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  leads to  $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$ . This is especially noticeable in Fig. 1.6 by the use of a log-log frame. The behaviour of the  $\Delta \mathbf{F}$  term with methods  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  and for different Mach number  $M_1$  is close to the theoretical asymptotic curves with slopes equal to 1 and 2, respectively.



Figure 1.6 - Flux difference  $\Delta \mathbf{F}$  between reference methods I and methods  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  (×) and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  (+) versus inlet Mach number  $M_1$  and for the first (top) and second (bottom) eigenmode at locations  $l_{z1}$  (left) and  $l_{z2}$  (right). The theoretical asymptotic behaviour of  $\Delta \mathbf{F}$  is illustrated by the solid lines (—) with slopes equal to 1 and 2.

Eigenmode shapes computed at  $M_1 = 0.0005$  and  $M_1 = 0.2$  are depicted on the left and right columns of Fig. 1.7, respectively. The first two rows present the modulus and phase of the fluctuating total enthalpy  $\hat{J}$ , respectively, while the last two rows present the modulus and phase of the fluctuating mass flow rate  $\hat{m}$ , respectively. All data are made non-dimensional by setting max $|\hat{m}| = 1$  and  $\arg(\hat{m}) = 0$  where max $|\hat{m}|$  is reached. As expected, for the low Mach number case, method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  gives the same results as the reference methods  $\mathbf{I}$ . For a larger Mach number  $M_1 = 0.2$ , method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  still gives satisfying results, despite small errors in the estimation of the phase shift.



**Figure 1.7** - Mode shapes at  $M_1 = 0.0005$  (left column) and  $M_1 = 0.2$  (right column) for the first eigenmode with the reference methods  $\mathbf{I}$  (×) and methods  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  (—), and for the second eigenmode with the reference methods  $\mathbf{I}$  ( $\odot$ ) and method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  (—). First two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating total enthalpy  $\hat{J}$ , respectively. Last two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating mass flow rate  $\hat{m}$ , respectively.

The present study gives a more precise insight about the use of impedances issued from a non zero mean flow framework. The theory of the energy flux conservation indicates that using a formulation which neglects the mean flow (method  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$ ) leads to significant errors, because the error on the imposed energy flux is  $\mathcal{O}(M)$ . This statement goes against the previous assumption of Lamarque & Poinsot (2008) that prescribed the use of a boundary condition formulated with purely acoustic state variables  $\hat{p}$  and  $\hat{u}$ . As recalled in the introduction of this chapter (see section 1.1), many authors in the aeroacoustic community prescribe the use of a so-called *energetical* correction of the reflection coefficient which is the (1 - M)/(1 + M) term in Eq. (1.25). This term originates from the fact that forward and backward waves do not propagate at the same speed and is directly found in the formulations of acoustical reflection coefficients of ducted flow with area-expansion and/or outside radiation conditions (Durrieu *et al.*, 2001; Boij, 2009).

To the authors knowledge, although Method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  is equivalent to this well-known correction term, a detailed analysis of its effect when performing a zero-Mach number analysis of thermoacoustic modes has not been provided before. The present study shows that a non-zero-Mach number element can simply be taken into account in a zero-Mach number framework by using method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ . It has been shown that this latter method introduces an error of  $\mathcal{O}(M^2)$  and is a good approximation to capture the growth rate and the shapes of eigenmodes at different frequencies. The following chapter is devoted to the modelling of the coupling between the acoustic and entropy waves through the extension of method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ . Non-zero Mach number impedances in zero-Mach number acoustic problems

## Chapter 2

# Accounting for entropy convection in a zero Mach mean flow

#### Contents

2.1 I	ntroducing	entropy-acoustic	coupling	in the	Helmholtz	
fi	ramework .				• • • • • • • •	<b>46</b>
2.1	1.1 Method	$\mathbf{I}$ : Global thermoacc	oustic model	at $M \neq 0$		47
2.1	1.2 Method	<b>II</b> : Truncated analy	tical thermos	acoustic n	nodel at $M \neq 0$	47
2.1	1.3 Method $M = 0$ .	$\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ : Truncated a	analytical th $\ldots$	ermoacou	stic model at	50
2.1	1.4 Method	$\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$ : Delayed	Entropy Cou	upled Bou	ndary Condi-	
	$\operatorname{tion}$					50
2.2 F	Results					<b>53</b>
2.2	2.1 Validatio	ons and effect of the	truncation .			53
2.2	2.2 Frequence	y analysis				54
2.2	2.3 Mode sh	apes analysis				56
2.3 E	Extension of	DECBC to 3D .				<b>58</b>
2.3	B.1 The zero	-Mach number Helm	holtz equation	on		58
2.3	B.2 Boundar	y conditions and DE	CBC implem	nentation		60
2.3	3.3 Numeric	al resolution strategy	,			62
2.3	3.4 Validatio	ons				63

In the previous chapter, a methodology has been presented to prescribe the acoustic impedance of the surrounding elements of a combustor by imposing the proper energy flux at the boundary. Thus, the mechanical work due to convective effects is taken into account in the zero-mach Number framework and the growth/decay rate of an instability is better estimated.

Entropy fluctuations accelerated in a mean flow generate acoustic waves (see Morfey, 1973; Ffowcs-Williams & Howe, 1975; Howe, 1975; Marble & Candel, 1977), which is the case when the combustor opens onto a high pressure distributor. This mechanism of

indirect combustion noise is important for combustion instabilities, but is not accounted for in a Helmholtz solver since entropy fluctuations do not propagate if the mean flow is at rest.

The aim of this present chapter is to propose a methodology to introduce the coupling between entropy and acoustic waves within a zero-Mach number framework. The methodology is decomposed into two parts: first, as the entropy variable does not exist in the computational domain, it must be modelled by a so-called transfer function. Then, the entropy variable is related to the acoustic variable via the imposition of a proper boundary condition, which has been named Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC). The first two sections are devoted to a purely analytical study so as to validate the DECBC methodology. Section 2.3 is then devoted to the extension of DECBC to a numerical 3D Helmholtz solver named AVSP.

# 2.1 Introducing entropy-acoustic coupling in the Helmholtz framework

The configuration depicted in Fig. 2.1 has been chosen in order to exhibit the presence of a set of unstable mixed entropic/acoustic modes. As this kind of modes cannot be predicted by a Helmholtz equation, our objective is to propose a simple model which, used within the Helmholtz framework, allows predicting mixed entropic/acoustic modes. In a combustion chamber of constant cross section and length L, a compact flame (thickness  $\delta_f = 0.005$  m) is located at  $x = x_f$ . A choked nozzle is located at x = L while the sonic throat where the Mach number reaches unity is located at  $x = x_{th}$ .



Figure 2.1 - Configuration investigated in section 2.1.

Following the methodology of section 1.3, this configuration will be computed using three methods:

- Method **I** is the solution of the numerical LEE solver. The whole domain is computed: the combustion chamber as well as the nozzle.
- Method **II** is the solution of the LEEs in a restricted region of the domain: only the combustion chamber. The nozzle is modelled by its acoustic impedance and the flame is considered infinitely small. As this method gives rather the same solution as method **I** and is purely analytical, it is then considered as the reference solution.
- Method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  is the solution of the Helmholtz equation (*i.e.* assuming that M = 0) in the combustion chamber. This solution assesses the influence of the zero-Mach number assumption when  $Z^{M=0} = Z_{Jm}^{M\neq 0}$  is imposed at the boundaries.
- Method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$  is the solution of the Helmholtz equation (*i.e.* assuming that M = 0) coupled with the Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC) method that introduces the coupling between entropy and acoustic waves at the nozzle. The acoustic boundary conditions are imposed with the formalism  $Z^{M=0} = Z_{Jm}^{M\neq 0}$ .

#### **2.1.1** Method I : Global thermoacoustic model at $M \neq 0$

It is difficult to model the nozzle with the analytical method  $\mathbf{I_{an}}$  based on waves propagation. It would lead to a discretisation of the nozzle with a collection of several small elements modelling the progressive section change. Although it is theoretically possible, it would lead to a very big linear algebra problem to solve as an eigenvalue. Consequently, the numerical LEE solver  $\mathbf{I_{num}}$  described in Sec. 1.3.1 is preferred.

#### **2.1.2** Method II : Truncated analytical thermoacoustic model at $M \neq 0$

Assuming that the nozzle is properly represented by its acoustic and entropic response at x = L, solving the problem presented in figure 2.1 requires six equations for the six unknown wave amplitudes  $(A_1^+, A_1^-, A_2^+, A_1^-, \sigma_1 \text{ and } \sigma_2)$ . It is assumed that the flame is infinitely small, *i.e.*  $\delta_f \to 0$  and acts as an interface. Moreover the downstream nozzle is modelled with a compact hypothesis. Following the methodology presented by Dowling (1995), the following relations can be written:

• Inlet boundary condition at *x* = 0 : it is assumed that no entropy wave is injected at *x* = 0 therefore:

$$\sigma_1 = 0 \tag{2.1}$$

Moreover, the mass flow rate is assumed constant, *i.e.*  $\hat{m}_1 = 0$ . Then using Eqs. (1.56) - (1.61) yields:

$$(1+M_1)A_1^+ - (1-M_1)A_1^- = 0 (2.2)$$

#### • Mass conservation translates to:

$$\overline{\rho}_1 \hat{u}_1 + \overline{u}_1 \hat{\rho}_1 = \overline{\rho}_2 \hat{u}_2 + \overline{u}_2 \hat{\rho}_2 \tag{2.3}$$

which is recast into:

$$(1+M_1)e^{jk_1^+x_f}A_1^+ + (M_1-1)e^{-jk_1^-x_f}A_1^- -(M_2+1)\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2}e^{jk_2^+x_f}A_2^+ - (M_2-1)\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2}e^{-jk_2^-x_f}A_2^- + M_2\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2}\frac{\gamma p_2}{C_p}\sigma e^{jk_s x_f} = 0$$
(2.4)

• Momentum conservation yields:

$$\hat{p}_1 + 2\overline{\rho}_1 \overline{u}_1 \hat{u}_1 + \overline{u}_1^2 \hat{\rho}_1 = \hat{p}_2 + 2\overline{\rho}_2 \overline{u}_2 \hat{u}_2 + \overline{u}_2^2 \hat{\rho}_2 \tag{2.5}$$

which is recast into:

$$(1+M_1)^2 e^{jk_1^+ x_f} A_1^+ + (M_1-1)^2 e^{-jk_1^- x_f} A_1^- -(M_2+1)^2 e^{jk_2^+ x_f} A_2^+ - (M_2-1)^2 e^{-jk_2^- x_f} A_2^- + M_2^2 \frac{\gamma p_2}{C_p} \sigma e^{jk_s x_f} = 0$$

$$(2.6)$$

• Energy conservation yields:

$$C_{p}\overline{T}_{01}\left(\overline{\rho}_{1}\hat{u}_{1}+\hat{\rho}_{1}\overline{u}_{1}\right)+\overline{\rho}_{1}\overline{u}_{1}\left(C_{p}\hat{T}_{1}+\overline{u}_{1}\hat{u}_{1}\right)=$$

$$C_{p}\overline{T}_{02}\left(\overline{\rho}_{2}\hat{u}_{2}+\hat{\rho}_{2}\overline{u}_{2}\right)+\overline{\rho}_{2}\overline{u}_{2}\left(C_{p}\hat{T}_{2}+\overline{u}_{2}\hat{u}_{2}\right)$$

$$(2.7)$$

where  $\overline{T}_{0i} = \overline{T}_i + \frac{1}{2}\overline{u}_i^2/C_p$  is the mean stagnation temperature in section *i*. In terms of wave amplitudes, the energy conservation takes the form:

$$\mathcal{M}_{31}A_1^+ + \mathcal{M}_{32}A_1^- + \mathcal{M}_{33}A_2^+ + \mathcal{M}_{34}A_2^- + M_2^3/2\frac{\gamma p_2}{C_p}\sigma e^{jk_s x_f} = 0$$
(2.8)

where

$$\mathcal{M}_{31} = \frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2} \left( (1+M_1) \left[ M_1 + 1/(\gamma-1) + M_1^2/2 \right] \right) e^{jk_1^+ x_f}$$
  

$$\mathcal{M}_{32} = \frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2} \left( (1-M_1) \left[ M_1 - 1/(\gamma-1) - M_1^2/2 \right] \right) e^{-jk_1^- x_f}$$
  

$$\mathcal{M}_{33} = -\left( (1+M_2) \left[ M_2 + 1/(\gamma-1) + M_2^2/2 \right] \right) e^{jk_2^+ x_f}$$
  

$$\mathcal{M}_{34} = -\left( (1-M_2) \left[ M_2 - 1/(\gamma-1) - M_2^2/2 \right] \right) e^{-jk_2^- x_f}$$

• Outlet boundary condition at x = L: Marble & Candel (1977) derived the transfer function of nozzles by assuming the compact assumption, which states that the wavelength of the acoustic and entropy waves are larger than the length of the nozzle. Hence, acoustic and entropy waves propagate quasi-steadily through the nozzle. Matching conditions between the entrance and the exit of the nozzle can be written so that the fluctuations of mass flow rate, total temperature and entropy are considered constant through the nozzle. The compact relation that models a supersonic choked nozzle at x = L then reads:

$$\frac{\hat{u}_2(L)}{\bar{c}_2} - \left(\frac{\gamma - 1}{2}\right) M_2 \frac{\hat{p}_2(L)}{\gamma \bar{p}_2} - \frac{1}{2} M_2 \frac{\hat{s}_2(L)}{C_p} = 0$$
(2.9)

Using the wave amplitudes defined in Eqs. (1.56) - (1.61), Eq. (2.9) takes the following form:

$$(1 - Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0})A_{2}^{+}e^{jk_{2}^{+}L} + (1 + Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0})A_{2}^{-}e^{-jk_{2}^{-}L} - R_{sa}\left(1 + Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}\right)e^{jk_{s}L}\frac{\gamma p_{2}}{C_{p}}\sigma e^{jk_{s}L} = 0$$

$$(2.10)$$

where  $Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}$  is the impedance of the nozzle submitted to an incident acoustic wave:

$$Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{2}{(\gamma - 1)M_2} \tag{2.11}$$

and  $R_{sa}$  is its acoustic response when submitted to a purely entropic perturbation:

$$R_{sa} = -\frac{M_2}{2 + (\gamma - 1)M_2} \tag{2.12}$$

Equations (2.1) to (2.10) may be recast in the form of a linear system  $\mathcal{MW} = 0$ , where  $\mathcal{M}$  is the matrix:

$$\begin{bmatrix} (1+M_1)e^{jk_1^+x_f} & (M_1-1)e^{-jk_1^-x_f} & -(M_2+1)\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2}e^{jk_2^+x_f} & -(M_2-1)\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2}e^{-jk_2^-x_f} & M_2\frac{\overline{c}_1}{\overline{c}_2} \\ (1+M_1)^2e^{jk_1^+x_f} & (M_1-1)^2e^{-jk_1^-x_f} & -(M_2+1)^2e^{jk_2^+x_f} & -(M_2-1)^2e^{-jk_2^-x_f} & M_2^2 \\ \mathcal{M}_{31} & \mathcal{M}_{32} & \mathcal{M}_{33} & \mathcal{M}_{34} & \frac{M_2^3}{2} \\ (1+M_1) & -(1-M_1) & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \mathcal{M}_{53} & \mathcal{M}_{54} & \mathcal{M}_{55} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(2.13)$$

and  $\mathcal{W} = (A_1^+, A_1^-, A_2^+, A_2^-, \Sigma)^T$ , with  $\Sigma = \gamma \overline{p_2} \sigma / C_p e^{jk_s x_f}$  and with :

$$\mathcal{M}_{53} = (1 - Z_{p,u,2}^{M \neq 0}) e^{jk_2^+ L}$$
(2.14)

$$\mathcal{M}_{54} = (1 + Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0}) e^{-jk_2^- L}$$
(2.15)

$$\mathcal{M}_{55} = -R_{sa} \left( 1 + Z_{p,u,2}^{M\neq 0} \right) e^{jk_s(L-x_f)}$$
(2.16)

The corresponding dispersion relation is obtained by zeroing  $det(\mathcal{M})$ .

## **2.1.3** Method $III_{Jm}$ : Truncated analytical thermoacoustic model at M = 0

Assuming that M = 0 imposes that there is no entropic wave, *i.e.*  $\sigma_1 = \sigma_2 = 0$ . The 5-by-5 linear system in Eq. (2.13) reduces to a 4-by-4 system:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{e^{jk_{1}x_{f}}}{\overline{\rho}_{1}\overline{c}_{1}} & -\frac{e^{-jk_{1}x_{f}}}{\overline{\rho}_{1}\overline{c}_{1}} & -\frac{e^{jk_{2}x_{f}}}{\overline{\rho}_{2}\overline{c}_{2}} & \frac{e^{-jk_{2}x_{f}}}{\overline{\rho}_{2}\overline{c}_{2}} \\ e^{jk_{1}x_{f}} & -e^{-jk_{1}x_{f}} & -e^{jk_{2}x_{f}} & -e^{-jk_{2}x_{f}} \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & (1-Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0}) e^{jk_{2}L} & (1+Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0}) e^{-jk_{2}L} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_{1}^{+} \\ A_{1}^{-} \\ A_{2}^{+} \\ A_{2}^{-} \end{bmatrix} = 0 \quad (2.17)$$

Only method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  is used in this section given its better behaviour compared to method  $\mathbf{III}_{pu}$  (see section 1.4.2). Thus, at x = 0 the boundary condition  $\hat{m}_1 = 0$  leads to  $Z_{J,m,1}^{M\neq 0} = \infty$  (see Table 1.1), which may be written into the relation  $A_1^+ - A_1^- = 0$ . At z = L the impedance  $Z_{Jm,2}^{M\neq 0}$  may be expressed with Eq. (1.37) and Eq. (2.11), leading to:

$$Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0} = \frac{1}{M_2} \frac{1 + (\gamma - 1)M_2^2/2}{1 + (\gamma - 1)/2}$$
(2.18)

Of course since the conversion of the entropy wave into a reflected acoustic wave at x = L has been suppressed from the equations, the system (2.17) cannot capture modes where this mechanism is important. The next section shows how a simple model (called DECBC) can be used to re-introduce this mechanism in a zero-Mach formulation.

## 2.1.4 Method $III_{Jm}^{DECBC}$ : Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition

As the Helmholtz framework relies on the zero-Mach number assumption, the effect of elements, such as the nozzle, where a mean flow occurs can simply be taken into account with method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  by imposing the right energy flux through the proper impedance formulation (see Sec. 1.2.2). However imposing only the acoustic impedance, Eq. (2.18), means neglecting the entropy-acoustics coupling and the subsequent sound wave being reflected by the nozzle when entropy spots flow through the exit. Indeed,  $\hat{s}_2(L)$  is not available in the Helmholtz domain. Thus the entropy fluctuations at the edge of the combustion chamber must be modelled before Eq. (2.10) can be applied. This is the purpose of the proposed DECBC (Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition) methodology described in the following of this section.



**Figure 2.2** - Schematic representation of the transfer functions that models the generation of entropy fluctuations at the flame, and their convection to the exit boundary condition.

Assuming that the entropy fluctuations entering the nozzle at x = L have first been generated in the flame region before being convected by the mean flow (see Fig. 2.2), one obtains:

$$\hat{s}_2(L) = G_c e^{j\omega\tau_c} \hat{s}_2(x_f)$$
 (2.19)

where  $\hat{s}_2(x_f)$  is the amount of entropy generated by the flame,  $\tau_c$  is the convection time from the flame to the exit and  $G_c$  a gain (smaller than unity) related to the dissipation of entropy waves during their convection, if any. Eq. (2.19) is useful only if the generated entropy  $\hat{s}_2(x_f)$  can be related to some acoustic quantity. It is done here in a way similar to the  $n-\tau$  model (Crocco, 1952) for unsteady heat release, connecting the entropy fluctuation to the acoustic velocity taken at a reference point  $x_{\text{ref}}$  located upstream of the flame region, here denoted by the subscript 1 :

$$\hat{s}_2(x_f) = G_{\rm us} \ e^{j\omega\tau_{\rm us}}\hat{u}_1(x_{\rm ref}) \tag{2.20}$$

where  $G_{\rm us}$  and  $\tau_{\rm us}$  are the gain and the time delay of the entropy generation from an acoustic perturbation at a reference location  $x_{\rm ref}$ . The two transfer functions described at Eqs. (2.19) and (2.20) are schematically depicted in Fig. 2.2.

In the present study, the quantities  $G_{\rm us}$  and  $\tau_{\rm us}$  can be assessed analytically in the simple case of a 1D premixed flame (Dowling, 1995). One obtains the following expression for the entropy produced by the flame at  $x = x_f$ :

$$G_{\rm us} = -\frac{C_p^2 \left(\overline{T_{02}} - \overline{T_{01}}\right) \left(\gamma - 1\right)}{\overline{u}_2 \overline{c}_2^2} \frac{\overline{\rho}_1}{\overline{\rho}_2} \qquad ; \qquad \tau_{\rm us} = 0 \qquad (2.21)$$

where  $\overline{T_0} = \overline{T} + \frac{1}{2}\overline{u}^2/C_p$  is the mean stagnation temperature. Note that  $\tau_{\rm us} = 0$  in this case because the referential velocity  $\hat{u}(x_{\rm ref})$  is considered at the flame location  $x_{\rm ref} = x_f$ . Entropy fluctuations at the exit x = L may then be analytically expressed with the help of Eq. (2.19):

$$\hat{s}_2(L) = G_{us}G_c e^{j\omega(\tau_c)}\hat{u}_1(x_f)$$
 (2.22)

where the coefficients related to the convection part are:

$$G_c = 1 \qquad ; \qquad \tau_c = \frac{L - x_f}{\overline{u}_2} \tag{2.23}$$

Note that no dissipation is taken into account in the present study. Injecting Eq. (2.22) into Eq. (2.10), and expressing  $\hat{u}_1(x_f)$  in terms of waves  $A_1^+$  and  $A_1^-$  allows to write the following condition at x = L:

$$A_{1}^{+}e^{jk_{1}x_{f}}\left(\beta R_{sa}(1+Z_{2}^{M=0})\right) - A_{1}^{-}e^{-jk_{1}x_{f}}\left(\beta R_{sa}(1+Z_{2}^{M=0})\right) + A_{2}^{+}e^{jk_{2}L}\left(1-Z_{2}^{M=0}\right) + A_{2}^{+}\left(1+Z_{2}^{M=0}\right)e^{-jk_{2}L} = 0$$

$$(2.24)$$

with

$$\beta = \frac{1}{2} \frac{C_p (\overline{T_{02}} - \overline{T_{01}}) (\gamma - 1) e^{j\omega\tau_c}}{\overline{u}_2 \overline{c}_1}$$
(2.25)

The contribution of the DECBC method appears in the first two terms of Eq. (2.24), by coupling acoustic waves at the boundary condition (x = L) with the acoustic waves upstream of the flame. Finally, the 5×5 problem defined in Eq. (2.13) reduces to Eq. (2.26):

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{e^{jk_1x_f}}{\rho_1c_1} & -\frac{e^{-jk_1x_f}}{\rho_1c_1} & -\frac{e^{jk_2x_f}}{\rho_2c_2} & \frac{e^{-jk_2x_f}}{\rho_2c_2} \\ e^{jk_1x_f} & -e^{-jk_1x_f} & -e^{jk_2x_f} & -e^{-jk_2x_f} \\ 1 & -1 & 0 & 0 \\ \mathcal{M}_{41} & \mathcal{M}_{42} & \mathcal{M}_{43} & \mathcal{M}_{44} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} A_1^+ \\ A_1^- \\ A_2^+ \\ A_2^- \end{bmatrix} = 0$$
(2.26)

with

$$\mathcal{M}_{41} = \beta R_{sa} \left( 1 + Z_{J,m,2}^{M \neq 0} \right) e^{jk_1 x_f}$$
(2.27)

$$\mathcal{M}_{42} = -\beta R_{sa} \left( 1 + Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0} \right) e^{-jk_1 x_f}$$
(2.28)

$$\mathcal{M}_{43} = \left(1 - Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0}\right) e^{jk_2L} \tag{2.29}$$

$$\mathcal{M}_{44} = \left(1 + Z_{J,m,2}^{M\neq 0}\right) e^{-jk_2L}$$
(2.30)

#### 2.2 Results

Thermodynamic parameters used in the computation of eigenmodes of the configuration depicted in Fig. 2.1 are presented in Table 2.1. For computations with the method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$ , the parameters of the DECBC model are recalled in Table 2.2 for different inlet Mach number  $M_1$ .

$T_1$ [K]	$p_1$ [Pa]	$T_2$ [K]	$\gamma$	r [SI]	L [m]	$x_f$ [m]	$x_{th}$ [m]	$\delta_f$ [m]
300	101325	1200	1.4	287	1	0.75	1.0087	0.005

**Table 2.1** - Thermodynamic parameters for the computation of the configuration inFig. 2.1.

	I	I.		
$M_1$	$G_{us}$	$\tau_{us}  [\mathrm{ms}]$	$G_c$	$\tau_c  [\mathrm{ms}]$
0.00625	-347.2	0	1	28.78
0.0125	-173.6	0	1	14.4
0.025	-86.8	0	1	7.18
0.05	-43.4	0	1	3.56

**Table 2.2** - DECBC parameters for computations of the configuration in Fig. 2.1 with method  $III_{Jm}^{DECBC}$  versus different inlet Mach number  $M_1$ .

#### 2.2.1 Validations and effect of the truncation

Several computations have been performed on the configuration of Fig. 2.1 with different inlet Mach number  $M_1$  ranging from  $M_1 = 0.00625$  to  $M_1 = 0.05$ . Results for the first two eigenmodes are depicted in Fig. 2.3. The numerical LEE solver (method I<sub>num</sub>) described at section 1.3.1 as well as the global analytical model (method II, see section 2.1.2) give very similar results in terms of frequency. The evaluation of the growth rate exhibits very small discrepancies, which can be attributed to the fact that in the numerical solver the flame is not infinitely thin and has a thickness  $\delta_f$  of 0.005 meters. Although not shown, the mode shapes are also very close. It confirms the robustness of the analytical method II and validates both the compactness assumption of the flame and the nozzle.



Figure 2.3 - First two eigenmodes computed with methods I (  $\times$  ) and II ( —) versus inlet Mach numbers  $M_1$ .

#### 2.2.2 Frequency analysis

Results are presented in Fig. 2.4 for various inlet Mach numbers  $M_1$ . The upper left graph presents the frequency of the first three eigenmodes predicted by the reference method **II** and zero-Mach number methods  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  and  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$ . The associated growth rates are depicted on the upper right, lower left and lower right graphs, respectively.

The behaviour of the first eigenmode shows a strong dependency on the Mach number. The frequency is proportional to the convective time delay of the flow, suggesting that this first eigenmode is coupled with entropic waves. This eigenmode is not predicted by method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  (as expected). The second and third eigenmodes do not present the same behaviour and their frequencies do not follow a linear behaviour with respect to  $M_1$ . At very small Mach number, the reference solution  $\mathbf{II}$  and Helmholtz computations with method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  give the same estimation of the frequencies. It suggests that the second and third eigenmodes are mostly acoustic, but influenced by their interactions with the mean flow and the coupling with entropy waves at the exit nozzle. Note that when approaching Mach number  $M_1 = 0.05$ , the first two eigenmodes tend to merge into a unique unstable mode. Such behaviour has already been observed by Goh & Morgans (2013) who computed several academic combustors while taking into account the dissipation and dispersion of the entropy wave. It was shown that the entropy wave can destabilise a stable combustor and vice-versa, and that some configurations can exhibit a *mode switch* between unstable eigenmodes.

As the first eigenmode is purely dependent on the convective time delay, it can obviously not be captured by the Helmholtz solver when using method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$ . In the same way, the two other eigenmodes computed with  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  are invariant in frequency whichever the Mach number prescribed, because no convective effect is taken into account. The relative growth rates of the eigenmodes are also very close to zero, suggesting that the stability map of this kind of configuration cannot be estimated with a simple Helmholtz solver but that the DECBC extended model can.


**Figure 2.4** - First three eigenmodes computed with methods II ( × ),  $III_{Jm}$  ( --- ) and  $III_{Jm}^{DECBC}$  ( —) versus inlet Mach numbers  $M_1$ .

It is remarkable that the zero-Mach number method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$  is able to capture the frequency of each eigenmode. By comparison with the reference method **II**, the growth rate is also correctly estimated, although slightly overestimated for  $M_1 > 0.025$ .

### 2.2.3 Mode shapes analysis

Eigenmode shapes computed at  $M_1 = 0.00625$  and  $M_1 = 0.05$  are depicted on left and right columns of Fig. 2.5 for the second eigenmode. The first two rows present the modulus and phase of the fluctuating total enthalpy  $\hat{J}$ , respectively, while the last two rows present the modulus and phase of the fluctuating mass flow rate  $\hat{m}$ , respectively. All data are made non-dimensional by setting max $|\hat{m}| = 1$  and  $\arg(\hat{m}) = 0$  where max $|\hat{m}|$  is reached.

As expected, the zero-Mach number method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}$  where entropy waves are not taken into account give good results at very low Mach number. At larger Mach numbers, the modes shapes are mispredicted because the frequency is not well predicted and corresponds to the zero-Mach number solution. However, modes shapes computed with method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$  are very close to the reference method  $\mathbf{II}$ . The enthalpy and mass-flow rate jumps across the flame at  $x = x_f$  are well captured. The present results show that the use of the DECBC approach is able to capture mixed-modes based on coupling between entropy and acoustics, and to predict them correctly, despite the fact that the mean flow is neglected within the computational domain.



**Figure 2.5** - Mode shapes at  $M_1 = 0.0125$  (left column) and  $M_1 = 0.05$  (right column) for the second eigenmode with the reference method II (×), method III<sub>Jm</sub> ( ---- ) and method III<sub>Jm</sub> ( ---- ). First two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating total enthalpy  $\hat{J}$ , respectively. Last two rows: modulus and phase of the fluctuating mass flow rate  $\hat{m}$ , respectively.

## 2.3 Extension of DECBC to 3D

The purpose of this section is to describe the implementation of the DECBC methodology within a 3D numerical Helmholtz solver. The derivation of the equations which leads to the inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation is presented first and completed by the reformulation into an eigenvalue problem discretised and solved by the code. The implementation of the boundary condition is then discussed.

## 2.3.1 The zero-Mach number Helmholtz equation

The starting point for the derivation of the Helmholtz equation is the set of linearised equations of conservation for a fluid (see Eqs. (1.6) - (1.8)). The Helmholtz equation relies on the zero-Mach number assumption, which means that  $\overline{\mathbf{u}} = 0$ . Application of this assumption to the momentum equation for the mean flow Eq. (1.10) also implies that  $\nabla \overline{p} = 0$ . The set of linearised equations then reduces to:

$$\frac{\partial \rho'}{\partial t} + \mathbf{u}' \nabla \overline{\rho} + \overline{\rho} \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}' = 0$$
(2.31)

$$\overline{\rho}\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}'}{\partial t} + \nabla p' = 0 \tag{2.32}$$

$$\frac{\partial s'}{\partial t} + \mathbf{u}' \nabla \overline{s} = \frac{rq'}{\overline{p}} \tag{2.33}$$

The next step is to express a link between entropy and the pressure and the density. First, the variation of entropy may be expressed with the following relation (Shapiro, 1953):

$$ds = C_v dT - \frac{p}{\rho^2} d\rho$$
(2.34)

From the linearised state equation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}T}{T} = \frac{\mathrm{d}p}{p} - \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho}{\rho} \tag{2.35}$$

one may write:

$$\frac{\mathrm{D}s}{\mathrm{D}t} = \frac{C_v}{p} \frac{\mathrm{D}p}{\mathrm{D}t} - \frac{C_p}{\rho} \frac{\mathrm{D}\rho}{\mathrm{D}t}$$
(2.36)

As the mean flow quantities are independent of time, Eq. (2.36) reduces to the following expression for the mean entropy gradient:

$$\nabla \overline{s} = \frac{C_v}{\overline{p}} \nabla \overline{p} - \frac{C_p}{\overline{\rho}} \nabla \overline{\rho}$$
(2.37)

As explained above the zero-Mach number assumption implies that  $\nabla \overline{p} = 0$ , so that Eq. (2.37) reduces to  $\nabla \overline{s} = -\frac{C_p}{\overline{\rho}} \nabla \overline{\rho}$ . Introducing the expression of  $\nabla \overline{s}$  in the linearised

energy equation (2.33) and using the linearised state and entropy equations (1.54) to eliminate  $\rho'$ , the set of equations (2.31) - (2.33) can be simplified to:

$$\frac{1}{\gamma \overline{p}} \frac{\partial p'}{\partial t} + \nabla \cdot \mathbf{u}' = \frac{rq'}{C_p \overline{p}}$$
(2.38)

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{u}'}{\partial t} + \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}} \nabla p' = 0 \tag{2.39}$$

Finally, taking the time derivative of Eq. (2.38) and adding the divergence of Eq. (2.39) allows to write the following inhogeneous wave equation:

$$\frac{1}{\gamma \overline{p}} \frac{\partial^2 p'}{\partial t^2} - \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}} \nabla p'\right) = \frac{\gamma - 1}{\gamma \overline{p}} \frac{\partial q'}{\partial t}$$
(2.40)

As recalled in section 1.2.2, this study is conducted in the frequency domain: a fluctuating quantity, g'(x,t), is defined by its complex amplitude,  $\hat{g}$ , and angular frequency,  $\omega$ , through  $g'(x,t) = \Re\{\hat{g}(x)e^{-j\omega t}\}$ . This assumption implies that a time derivative becomes a simple multiplication by  $-j\omega$ . Eq. (2.40) can then be reformulated in the frequency domain as the following Helmholtz equation:

$$\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})\overline{c}^{2}(\boldsymbol{x}) \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})}\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})\right) + \omega^{2}\hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) = j\omega\left(\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1\right)\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})$$
(2.41)

where the sound speed  $\overline{c}$ , the mass density  $\overline{\rho}$  and the heat capacity ratio  $\gamma$  are local variables.

In order to close the problem, the flame that constitutes a forcing source is often modelled as a purely acoustic element thanks to a  $n - \tau$  type of model (Crocco, 1952):

$$\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}) = n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}$$
(2.42)

Eq. (2.42) essentially relates the unsteady heat release  $\hat{q}$  to acoustic quantities  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$  at a reference location denoted  $\mathbf{x}_{ref}$  by an amplification factor  $n_{local}$  (unit [J.m<sup>-4</sup>]) and a time delay  $\tau_{local}$  (unit [s]). The  $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$  parameters can be estimated experimentally, by analytical models or directly extracted from the LES database by post-processing the heat release rate and velocity signals of an oscillating flame (forced or self excited). Appendix B presents more details about the active flame model and especially about the method employed to compute the  $n - \tau$  fields from the LES. Note that the Helmholtz equation only involves the acoustic pressure  $\hat{p}$  and that the velocity vector  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$  can be deduced from  $\hat{p}$  by using the momentum equation:  $j\omega\bar{\rho}\hat{\mathbf{u}} = \nabla\hat{p}$ . Finally Eq. (2.41) solved by the Helmholtz solver is rewritten as follows:

$$\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})\overline{c}^{2}(\boldsymbol{x}) \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})}\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})\right) + \omega^{2} \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1) n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})} \frac{\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})}$$
(2.43)



**Figure 2.6** - Schematic representation of the curvilinear coordinates system of the computational domain. The nozzle boundary condition is located at  $\xi = 0$ . The normal **n** of the boundary is taken inward.

#### 2.3.2 Boundary conditions and DECBC implementation

In this section, the boundary condition that couples acoustic and entropy waves is derived first in a general manner with mean flow effects included. Then the transition to the zero-Mach number assumption is made to match the Helmholtz solver formalism. As far as purely acoustic aspects have been treated previously in chapter 1 and do not bring new difficulties, the boundary condition implemented in the solver must be reformulated with a new term that introduces the entropy contribution.

The acoustic impedance is imposed to the computational domain as a uniform boundary condition over a discretised surface. In this context the boundary condition relies on a quasi-1D formulation. Hence, the fluctuating pressure and velocity fields can be reformulated in a general manner with the following 1D relations (Pierce, 1981):

$$\frac{\hat{p}(\xi)}{\gamma \overline{p}} = A^{out} e^{jk^{out}\xi} + A^{in} e^{-jk^{in}\xi}$$
(2.44)

$$\frac{\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\xi) \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}} = -\left(A^{out} e^{jk^{out}\xi} - A^{in} e^{-jk^{in}\xi}\right)$$
(2.45)

where  $k^{in} = \omega/\overline{c}(1-M)$  and  $k^{out} = \omega/\overline{c}(1+M)$  are the acoustic wave number of the acoustic waves  $A^{in}$  and  $A^{out}$  propagating along on the curvilinear axis  $\xi$  (see Fig. 2.6).  $A^{in}$  is the wave entering into the computational domain while  $A^{out}$  is the wave leaving the domain at  $\overline{c}(1+M)$ . Note that the minus sign in front of the RHS of Eq. (2.45) stems from the fact that the unit vector normal to the exit boundary is colinear with the  $\xi$ -axis, pointing toward the negative  $\xi$ . Following Marble & Candel (1977) an acoustic wave is generated by the entropy spots flowing through the exit nozzle or turbine. At the location  $\xi = 0$ where the boundary condition is imposed, the wave  $A^{in}$  represents the acoustics generated by the nozzle and entering the computational domain. It can be assumed linear in the two outgoing waves:

$$A^{in} = R_{p,u}A^{out} + R_{p,s}\sigma^{out} \tag{2.46}$$

where  $R_{p,u}$  and  $R_{p,s}$  are the reflection coefficients for an impacting acoustic and entropy wave, respectively. The term  $\sigma$  is the wave of the entropy fluctuations  $\hat{s}(\xi)/C_p = \sigma^{out} e^{jk_s\xi}$ that is leaving the domain,  $C_p$  is the heat capacity at constant pressure and  $k_s = \omega/(\bar{c}M)$ the wave number associated to the convection of entropy spots by the mean flow. At  $\xi = 0$ , Eqs. (2.44) and (2.45) become:

$$\frac{\hat{p}(\xi)}{\gamma \bar{p}} = A^{out} + A^{in} \tag{2.47}$$

$$\frac{\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\xi) \cdot \mathbf{n}}{\overline{c}} = -A^{out} + A^{in} \tag{2.48}$$

while

$$\frac{\hat{s}}{C_p} = \sigma^{out} \tag{2.49}$$

Eq. (2.46) may then be recast into the following relation:

$$\hat{p}(R_{p,u}-1) - \overline{\rho} \ \overline{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n}(R_{p,u}+1) + 2\frac{\overline{\gamma p}}{C_p} R_{p,s} \ \hat{s} = 0$$
(2.50)

with  $R_{p,u} = A^{in}/A^{out}$  and  $R_{p,s} = A^{in}/\sigma^{out}$ . Note that all the parameters  $\overline{\gamma}, \overline{p}, \overline{\rho}, \overline{c}$  and  $C_p$  must be taken at the location where the boundary condition represented by Eq. (2.50) is imposed. After introducing the relation between the acoustic impedance and the acoustic reflection coefficient  $Z_{p,u}^{M=0} = (R_{p,u} + 1)/(R_{p,u} - 1)$ , the implementation of Eq. (2.50) into the Helmholtz solver AVSP leads finally to the following reformulation of the boundary condition (2.50):

$$\frac{\hat{p}}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} - \overline{\rho} \ \overline{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} + \frac{Z_{p,u}^{M=0} - 1}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} \frac{\overline{\gamma p}}{C_p} R_{p,s} \ \hat{s} = 0$$
(2.51)

As the Helmholtz solver relies on the zero-Mach number assumption, the effect of elements, such as the nozzle, where a mean flow occurs can simply be taken into account by imposing the right energy flux through the proper acoustic impedance formulation (see Sec. 1.2.2). Under the zero-Mach number assumption, the general boundary condition described at Eq. (2.51) takes then the following formulation:

$$\frac{\dot{p}}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} - \overline{\rho} \ \bar{c} \ \hat{\mathbf{u}} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0 \tag{2.52}$$

The use of the momentum equation  $(j\omega\overline{\rho}\hat{\mathbf{u}}\cdot\mathbf{n} = \nabla\hat{p}\cdot\mathbf{n})$  allows to write Eq. (2.52) only as a function of the pressure variable as follow:

$$\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) \cdot \mathbf{n} = \frac{j\omega}{\bar{c}(\boldsymbol{x}) Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})$$
(2.53)

where (x) represents here the vector of nodes located at the boundary where the impedance is imposed.

However imposing only the acoustic impedance, Eq. (2.52), means neglecting the entropy-acoustics coupling and the subsequent sound being generated by the entropy spots flowing through the exit nozzle or turbine. Now,  $\hat{s}$  in Eq. (2.53) is not available in the Helmholtz domain and the entropy fluctuation at the edge of the combustion chamber must be modelled before Eq. (2.51) can be applied. This is done here by applying the DECBC modelling formalism described in Sec. 2.1.4. The entropy fluctuations at the boundary condition takes the following expression:

$$\hat{s} = G_{us}G_c e^{j\omega(\tau_{us}+\tau_c)}\hat{\mathbf{u}}\left(\boldsymbol{x}_{\text{ref}}\right) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\text{ref}}$$
(2.54)

where  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{\text{ref}}) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\text{ref}}$  is the fluctuating acoustic velocity taken at a reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\text{ref}}$  and in direction  $\mathbf{n}_{\text{ref}}$ . Reformulation of Eq. (2.51) leads to the following Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC):

$$\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) \cdot \mathbf{n} = \frac{j\omega}{\bar{c}(\boldsymbol{x}) Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) + \frac{\overline{\gamma p}}{C_p} R_{p,s} \frac{Z_{p,u}^{M=0} - 1}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} G_{us} G_c e^{j\omega(\tau_{us} + \tau_c)} \frac{\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) \cdot \mathbf{n}_{ref}}{\bar{c}(\boldsymbol{x}) \overline{\rho}_{ref}} \quad (2.55)$$

## 2.3.3 Numerical resolution strategy

Eq. (2.41) corresponds to a non-linear eigenvalue problem which can be solved numerically by using appropriate algorithms (Nicoud *et al.*, 2007; Salas, 2013). First the Eq. (2.43) is discretised using a finite element method and turned into the following matrix form:

$$\mathcal{A}\hat{\mathbf{p}} + \mathcal{B}(\omega)\hat{\mathbf{p}} + \omega^{2}\hat{\mathbf{p}} = \mathcal{C}(\omega)\hat{\mathbf{p}}$$
(2.56)

where the matrix  $\mathcal{A}$ ,  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  are defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{A} = \overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})\overline{c}^{2}(\boldsymbol{x}) \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})}\nabla\right)$$
$$\mathcal{B} = \overline{c}(\boldsymbol{x})\left(\frac{j\omega}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}} + \frac{\overline{\gamma p}}{C_{p}}R_{p,s}\frac{Z_{p,u}^{M=0} - 1}{Z_{p,u}^{M=0}}G_{us}G_{c}e^{j\omega(\tau_{us} + \tau_{c})}\frac{\nabla_{\text{ref}}}{\overline{\rho}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{ref}})}\right)$$
(2.57)
$$\mathcal{C} = (\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1)n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})}\frac{\nabla_{\text{ref}}}{\overline{\rho}(\mathbf{x}_{\text{ref}})}$$

The discretisation procedures of the operator  $\nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(x)}\nabla\right)$  contained in the matrix  $\mathcal{A}$  are described in Appendix C.  $\mathcal{B}$  is the matrix containing the impedances at boundary points, and  $\mathcal{C}$  the active flame operator. In both  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  the term  $\nabla_{\text{ref}}$  should be understood as the gradient of the pressure taken at the reference point and along the reference direction  $n_{\text{ref}}$ . Eq. 2.56 is a linear eigenvalue problem if  $\mathcal{B} = 0$  and  $\mathcal{C} = 0$  and can be solved via the Arnoldi algorithm. However this is not the case in the present study as complex boundary impedances as well as an active flame are accounted for. Eq. (2.56) is then linearised in  $\omega^2$  with the following iterative procedure:

$$\omega_{n+1} = \alpha \omega_n^* + (1 - \alpha) \omega_n \tag{2.58}$$



Figure 2.7 - Schematic representation of the fixed-point method.

where  $\omega_n$  is known and  $\omega_n^*$  is solution of the problem:

$$\left[\mathcal{A} + \omega_n \mathcal{B} + \mathcal{C}(\omega_n)\right] \hat{\mathbf{p}} + (\omega_n^*)^2 \hat{\mathbf{p}} = 0$$
(2.59)

Eq. (2.58) allows to obtain  $\omega_{n+1}$  for the iteration n+1. A relaxation coefficient  $\alpha$  may be used to smooth the process in case of convergence difficulties. The algorithm is considered converged when  $\epsilon = |\omega_n - \omega_n^*| < 0.01$ . The present algorithm is known as the fixed-point method and is represented schematically in Fig. 2.7. Note that if the impedance  $Z_{p,u}^{M=0}$  is not constant, it should be computed at each iteration to provide a value for the complex excitation frequency  $\omega_n$ . Finally, the real part of  $\omega_n$  is the eigenfrequency (unit [Hz]) while the imaginary part represents the damping/growth rate of the eigenmode (unit [s<sup>-1</sup>]), depending on its negative/positive sign, respectively.

## 2.3.4 Validations

The implementation of the Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition in the numerical Helmholtz solver AVSP is validated by computing the eigenmodes of the configuration described in Sec. 2.1 and depicted in Fig. 2.1. The results from AVSP/DECBC are compared to the analytical reference method II (see Sec. 2.1.2) and the zero-Mach number analytical method III<sup>DECBC</sup>. For both methods using DECBC, the gain G and time delay  $\tau$  of the transfer functions for the generation and convection of entropy fluctuations (see Eqs. (2.21) and (2.23)) are the same (see Table 2.2). Similarly, the imposed impedance and acoustic/entropy reflection coefficient are also the same (see Eqs. (2.18) and (2.12)).



Figure 2.8 - First three eigenmodes computed with the reference analytical method II (  $\times$  ), the zero-Mach number analytical method III<sup>DECBC</sup> ( --- ) and the numerical Helmholtz solver AVSP coupled with DECBC ( --- ).

Results are depicted in Fig. 2.8. All methods give exactly the same frequency. The growth rates still differ between the reference method and the zero-Mach number computations using DECBC. However computations with AVSP/DECBC are slightly closer to the reference method than the analytical method  $\mathbf{III}_{Jm}^{\mathbf{DECBC}}$ . Such discrepancies may be attributed to the fact that the location of the reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{ref}}$  for the DECBC model is not exactly the same between the analytical and the numerical methods. Indeed, in the numerical solver the location of the reference point depends on the distribution of the mesh nodes. In the present case,  $\boldsymbol{x}_{\mathrm{ref}}$  is actually located 0.001 m upstream of the flame.

## Chapter 3

# Investigation of a realistic gas turbine

#### Contents

3.1	Exp	erimental configuration and numerical set-up	67					
	3.1.1	Description of the experimental configuration	67					
	3.1.2	Numerical set-up	69					
3.2	LES	preliminary results	73					
3.3	Dyn	amic Mode Decomposition analysis	<b>79</b>					
	3.3.1	Theoretical background	79					
	3.3.2	Application of DMD to the SAFRAN combustor	81					
<b>3.4</b>	Helr	nholtz analysis	87					
	3.4.1	Numerical setup for Helmholtz solver	87					
	3.4.2	Results	92					
	3.4.3	Application of the DECBC approach	93					
	3.4.4	Helmholtz/DECBC results	95					
3.5 Application of DECBC: Optimisation of combustion instabilities 98								
	3.5.1	Influence of the nozzle length on thermoacoustic instabilities	98					
		Description of the test case	98					
		Results	100					
	3.5.2	Application to the realistic gas turbine	100					
		AVSP/DECBC Results	100					
		LES Results	103					
		Conclusions	105					

A combustion instability in a combustor terminated by a nozzle is analysed and modelled thanks to a low order Helmholtz solver. A Large Eddy Simulation (LES) of the corresponding turbulent, compressible and reacting flow is first performed and analysed thanks to Dynamic Mode Decomposition (DMD). The mode with the highest amplitude shares the same frequency of oscillation as the experiment (approx. 320 Hz) and it shows the presence of large entropy spots generated within the combustion chamber and convected down to the exit nozzle. The lowest thermo-acoustic mode being in the range 700 - 750 Hz, it is postulated that the instability observed around 320 Hz stems from a mixed entropy/acoustic mode where the acoustic generation associated with entropy spots being convected throughout the choked nozzle plays a key role.

The objectives of this chapter are then as follows:

- build and analyse a large-eddy simulation data base to establish the presence of mixed modes in a realistic combustion chamber;
- develop and validate a methodology to estimate the entropy/acoustic transfer functions so as to feed the DECBC model in a Helmholtz solver;
- apply the obtained low-order method to the 3D industrial-like combustor.

First, the industrial configuration, the numerical set-up and the associated lowfrequency instability are presented in section 3.1, followed by preliminary results in section 3.2. In section 3.3 a Dynamic Mode Decomposition (DMD) is applied to the LES results in order to investigate the presence of an entropy-acoustic coupling via the reconstruction of a reduced-order model. An acoustic study is performed with the help of a zero-Mach number Helmholtz solver (see section 3.4.2), demonstrating that a classical thermo-acoustic approach cannot represent the observed low-frequency mode, even though the coupling between the heat release fluctuations from the flame and the acoustics is taken into account. In section 3.4.4 results from the zero-Mach number Helmholtz solver with the DECBC approach are presented to illustrate the benefit of the method. Finally, in section 3.5 a sensitivity study is performed to optimise the shape of the downstream nozzle. It is shown that for certain geometry of the nozzle, the growth rate of the unstable mode can be reduced. LES computations with an extended geometry of the nozzle confirm that the combustion instability can be significantly attenuated with the proposed methodology.

## 3.1 Experimental configuration and numerical set-up

## 3.1.1 Description of the experimental configuration

The case considered in this study is a combustor developed by the SAFRAN Group for aero-engine applications. Figure 3.1 shows the combustion chamber and the casing with primary and dilution holes although some parts of the geometry are not displayed for confidentiality reasons. The air inlet connected to the upstream compressor is also displayed. Note that the downstream high pressure distributor which connects the combustor to the turbine in the actual experiment is not represented here nor directly accounted for in the remaining of the study. Instead it is modelled by a choked nozzle with equivalent cross section area. For choked conditions, this ensures that the chamber sees an outlet condition close to the actual one. The whole mass-flow rate is not entering into the nozzle: approx. 16% is routed downstream of the surrounding casing (modelled in the simulation by suction walls). The fuel line is also visible, as well as the swirled injector used to mix fuel and air and to generate the recirculation zone which stabilises the flame. In the engine, several injectors are mounted all around the azimuthal combustion chamber although only one sector with one injector is displayed in the figure. Note that this geometry is representative of a typical aero-engine gas turbine combustor, as studied in other works (see Dowling & Stow, 2003).

Experiments were performed by SAFRAN on the present configuration in order to study the effect of liquid water ingestion. Depending on the ratio between the mass flow rates of water and air, the overall stability of the engine evolves, the combustor becoming increasingly unstable as the mass flow rate of water increases. As the temperature of the ingested liquid water is approx. 300 K, it is postulated that all of the liquid water is vaporised when flowing through the compressor and that the main effect of its ingestion is to decrease the temperature of the air feeding the combustor. Although not detailed in the present thesis, several LES computations have been performed at SAFRAN for different inlet boundary condition:

- one which takes into account the mass fraction of vaporised water in the gas entering into the combustor,
- one where only pure air enters the combustion chamber.

No significant differences were observed on the flame dynamics or the frequency and amplitude of the instability. In consequence, the effect of liquid water is taken into account in the present study by only decreasing the air entering into the combustor. It is possible to link the inlet temperature  $T_{inlet}$  to the mass flow rates of liquid water and air by a simple enthalpy balance. The engine is found stable for  $T_{inlet}$  approx. 760 K but unstable for  $T_{inlet}$  approx. 560 K. In unstable cases the measured pressure signal exhibit strong fluctuations at approximately 330 Hz and with a maximum amplitude of approx.  $5 \times 10^4$  Pa.



**Figure 3.1** - Description of the configuration of interest. One sector of the azimuthal SAFRAN combustor is represented. The high pressure distributor downstream of the combustion chamber is modelled by a nozzle with equivalent cross section and which is either rectangular (top) or circular (bottom). Some parts are hidden for confidentiality reasons.

## 3.1.2 Numerical set-up

To analyse this instability, large eddy simulations (LES) were performed using the AVBP code which embeds a cell-vertex formulation and a set of finite element / finite volume schemes for unstructured meshes. A two-step Taylor-Galerkin scheme (3<sup>nd</sup> order in time and space) was retained (Colin & Rudgyard, 2000). Two regimes were computed by LES, corresponding to two representative operating conditions investigated experimentally at SAFRAN: one which contains a strong instability at nearly 330 Hz ( $T_{inlet} = 557K$ ; OP-A) and one which shows no instability ( $T_{inlet} = 762K$ ; OP-B). In each case, only one angular sector (out of 20) was computed, axiperiodic conditions being prescribed at the lateral boundary. It is consistent with the experimental data showing that the low frequency instability is not an azimuthal mode.

The main idea of the LES is to resolve the large scale eddies in the flow which contain most of the energy, while the small scales are represented by subgrid models. For any given quantity q, the filtered component  $\overline{q}$  is resolved in the numerical simulation while the subgrid scales  $q' = q - \overline{q}$  are modelled. Hence, the filtering operation is directly related to the grid mesh resolution. As the density is variable, a mass-weighted Favre filtering is introduced according to  $\overline{\rho g} = \overline{\rho g}$ . One difficulty raised by LES is that the spatial filtering of the equations leads to unresolved terms such as the Reynolds stresses or the heat release and reaction rates. These terms need to be modelled. Another key issue is to represent the flame front properly. Several approaches are available in the literature to handle this problem and the present study uses the Dynamic Thickened Flame Model (Colin *et al.*, 2000). Basically the idea is to artificially thicken the flame by a factor  $\mathcal{F}$ . However in turbulent flows, the interaction between turbulence and chemistry is altered and the thickening of the flame reduces the ability of the vortices to wrinkle the flame front. In order to conserve the flame speed and to not underestimate the reaction rate, the diffusivity and the reaction rate is corrected by an efficiency function  $\mathcal{E}$ . In the dynamic formulation of the thickened flame model,  $\mathcal{F}$  is not constant and is driven by a sensor  $\mathcal{S}$  depending on the local temperature and mass fractions. This sensor locates the flame zone so as to not apply the factor  $\mathcal{F}$  in non reactive zones. The efficiency function describes effects of the sub-grid scale wrinkling as a function of the local sub-grid turbulence velocity u' and spatial filter size  $\Delta$ . More details can be found in the literature (Poinsot & Veynante, 2011). In summary, the LES computed in the present thesis solve the following set of filtered modelled equations:

• Momentum

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\rho} \widetilde{u}_i}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left( \overline{\rho} \widetilde{u}_i \widetilde{u}_j \right) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_j} \left[ \overline{p} \delta_{ij} - 2 \left( \overline{\mu} + \mu_t \right) \left( \widetilde{S}_{ij} - \frac{1}{3} \widetilde{S}_{ll} \delta_{ij} \right) \right]$$
(3.1)

where  $\rho$  is the density, u the velocity, p the pressure,  $\mu$  the dynamic viscosity of the gas,  $\mu_t$  the turbulent viscosity and  $S_{ij}$  the strain rate tensor:

$$S_{ij} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial \widetilde{u}_i}{\partial x_j} + \frac{\partial \widetilde{u}_j}{\partial x_i} \right)$$
(3.2)

Subscripts i, j and l refer to the three spatial dimensions while  $\mu_t$  is the subgrid scale turbulent viscosity which must be modelled.

• Energy

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\rho} \widetilde{E}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( \overline{\rho} \widetilde{E} \widetilde{u}_{j} \right) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left[ \widetilde{u}_{i} \overline{p} \delta_{ij} - 2 \overline{\mu} \widetilde{u}_{i} \left( \widetilde{S}_{ij} - \frac{1}{3} \widetilde{S}_{ll} \delta_{ij} \right) \right] \\
+ \left[ C_{p} \left( \mathcal{E} \mathcal{F} \frac{\overline{\mu}}{P_{r}} + (1 - \mathcal{S}) \frac{\mu_{t}}{P_{r}^{t}} \right) \frac{\partial \widetilde{T}}{\partial x_{j}} \right] \\
+ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left[ \sum_{k=1}^{N} \left( \left[ \mathcal{E} \mathcal{F} \frac{\overline{\mu}}{S_{c,k}} + (1 - \mathcal{S}) \frac{\mu_{t}}{S_{c,k}^{t}} \right] \frac{W_{k}}{W} \frac{\partial \widetilde{X}_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - \overline{\rho} \widetilde{Y}_{k} \left( \widetilde{V}_{j}^{c} + \widetilde{V}_{j}^{c,t} \right) \right) \widetilde{h}_{s,k} \right] \\
+ \frac{\mathcal{E} \dot{\omega}_{T}}{\mathcal{F}}$$
(3.3)

where E is the total energy per mass unit, T the temperature,  $C_p$  the specific heat capacity, W is the mean molecular weight of the mixture while X and Y are the species molar and mass fractions, respectively.  $\mathcal{E}$  is the efficiency function,  $\mathcal{F}$  is the flame thickening factor and  $\mathcal{S}$  the sensor. The vectors  $\tilde{V}_j^c + \tilde{V}_j^{c,t}$  are the corrected diffusion velocities,  $h_{s,k}$  correspond to the sensible enthalpies per mass unit and finally  $\dot{\omega}_T$  is the reaction rate modelled by an Arrhenius law.

• Species

+

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\rho} \widetilde{Y}_{k}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left( \overline{\rho} \widetilde{Y}_{k} \widetilde{u}_{j} \right) = \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{j}} \left[ \left( \mathcal{E} \mathcal{F} \frac{\overline{\mu}}{S_{c,k}} + (1 - \mathcal{S}) \frac{\mu_{t}}{S_{c,k}^{t}} \right) \frac{W_{k}}{W} \frac{\partial \widetilde{X}_{k}}{\partial x_{j}} - \overline{\rho} \widetilde{Y}_{k} \left( \widetilde{V}_{j}^{c} + \widetilde{V}_{j}^{c,t} \right) \right] \frac{\mathcal{E} \dot{\omega}_{k}}{\mathcal{F}} \tag{3.4}$$

where  $\dot{\omega}_k$  are the reaction rate of each species computed from the Arrhenius law.

A simple two-step kinetic scheme was used to represent kerosene-air chemistry (Franzelli *et al.*, 2010). The global power is approx.  $1.4 \times 10^6$  W while the global equivalence ratio is approx. 0.3, which is characteristic of lean combustors.

Boundary conditions are imposed through the NSCBC formulation (Poinsot & Lele, 1992) to control spurious acoustic reflections. The solid walls are adiabatic and a classical logarithmic law is imposed to mimic the near-wall shear stress (Schmitt *et al.*, 2007). The coincident walls between the combustion chamber and the casing are actually multiperforated and modelled in the simulation by an adiabatic homogeneous suction/injection boundary condition (Mendez & Nicoud, 2008a,b). Only the hydrodynamics effects of the multiperforated walls are taken into account by the model, not the associated acoustic damping. For each LES computations data are recorded upon a period of 120 ms after the whole system reaches a well established limit cycle state. As the expected instability phenomenon has a frequency of approx. 330 Hz, this latter choice ensures that the averaging procedure of physical fields and signal processing like Fourier transforms cover at least 40 cycles.



**Figure 3.2** - Axial cut of the meshes for LES computations. Top: baseline mesh (approx. 5.6 millions cells). Bottom: fine mesh (approx. 15 millions cells).

As mentioned in Sec. 3.1.1, the turbine is replaced by a choked nozzle with equivalent cross section area. The natural question that arises is whether the response of the nozzle to entropic (temperature) perturbations is sensitive to the three-dimensional nature of the temperature hot-spots. Two nozzle geometries were tested so as to ensure the robustness of the results to the shape of the nozzle: a flat one and a circular one, depicted in the top and bottom of Fig. 3.1, respectively. Two meshes were also tested for the geometry coupled with a circular nozzle: a coarse one (approx. 5.6 millions cells) and a fine one (approx. 15 millions cells). Note that in both meshes the veins inside the swirler as well as the dilution holes are refined to capture the flow details. An axial cut is depicted on the top and bottom of Fig. 3.2 for the coarse and fine meshes, respectively.

Moreover, two subgrid scale models for the turbulent viscosity  $\mu_t$  in Eqs. (3.1) to (3.4) have been tested:

• the classical Smagorinsky model (Smagorinsky, 1963)

$$\mu_t = (C_S \Delta)^2 \sqrt{2\widetilde{S}_{ij}\widetilde{S}_{ij}} \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\Delta$  denotes the filter characteristic length and  $C_S = 1.8$  is a constant. The turbulent viscosity  $\mu_t$  is then proportional to the resolved filtered strain tensor  $\tilde{S}_{ij}$ . The Smagorinsky model was developed in the 1960's and is extensively tested over a wide range of flow configurations. This model is easy to implement and presents good properties for flows away from solid walls at a low computational cost. Furthermore, it supplies the right amount of kinetic energy dissipation in homogeneous isotropic turbulent flows. The Smagorinsky model is also known as being too dissipative in wall bounded flows and to over predicts the fluid friction near solid boundaries. This problem can be avoided by the use of wall-law boundary conditions.

• the Sigma model (Nicoud *et al.*, 2011)

$$\mu_t = (C_{\sigma}\Delta)^2 \frac{\sigma_3(\sigma_1 - \sigma_2)(\sigma_2 - \sigma_3)}{\sigma_1^2}$$
(3.6)

where  $C_{\sigma} = 1.5$  is a model constant,  $\sigma_1 \geq \sigma_2 \geq \sigma_3 \geq 0$  are the singular values of the resolved velocity gradient tensor. The  $\sigma$  model was developed to overcome some drawbacks observed on most of the static models without using additional test filter. Indeed, it presents the interesting properties to vanish in various laminar flow configurations (pure shear, pure rotation, pure dilatation/contraction, ...) for which no subgrid scale activity is expected. It also has the property to vanish with the proper asymptotic behaviour near solid boundaries.

Table 3.1 presents a summary of the LES computations performed on the two operating points depending on the nozzle geometry and the mesh refinement. In order to discriminate either the effect of the nozzle or the inlet temperature, all numerical and physical parameters in the computations are strictly the same.

		Mesh		Nozzle		
Run	Operating Point	Baseline	Fine	Circular	Flat	Regime
1	OP-A	×		×		Unstable
2	OP-B	×		×		Stable
3	OP-A	×			×	Unstable
4	OP-B	×			×	Stable
5	OP-A		×	×		Unstable
6	OP-B		×	×		Stable

**Table 3.1** - Summary of the LES computations performed on the two operating points OP-A ( $T_{inlet} = 557$  K) and OP-B ( $T_{inlet} = 762$  K) depending on the nozzle geometry (circular or flat) and the mesh (coarse mesh approx. 5.6 millions cells, fine mesh approx. 15 millions cells). The last column denotes if the computed flow was found stable or unstable. Recall that the experiment is unstable for OP-A and stable for OP-B.

## 3.2 LES preliminary results

Figure 3.3 displays typical snapshots (instantaneous temperature fields) of the LES for the operating points OP-A and OP-B. Contours of the heat release rate  $(1 \times 10^9 \text{ W.m}^{-3})$ are superimposed to the temperature field. Both cases exhibit a typical swirled flame with a central recirculation zone around the axis of the swirler. An interesting feature of the flame is that chemical reactions occur also near the cooling film, as well as along the dilution jet where fresh air flows into the combustor. Theoretically, the role of the dilution holes is to confine the flame in the upstream zone by suddenly reducing the fuel/air ratio. In both cases, this objective is reached and the temperature drops down after the dilution jets. However, in the case of the operating point OP-A (Fig. 3.3 top), a hot pocket of temperature is released after the dilution jets and the mixture is still reacting when convected to the downstream nozzle by the mean flow. A set of temperature snapshots is displayed in Fig. 3.4 showing how this hot pocket is created, convected and ejected by the nozzle. On the contrary in the case of the operating point OP-B, the dilution jets play their role and the flame is confined (Fig. 3.3 bottom). Only burned gas are convected to the downstream nozzle.

The pressure signal is recorded at a probe (denoted A, see Fig. 3.3) located at the entrance of the nozzle. Results for the operating point OP-A and OP-B are depicted in Fig. 3.5 by the solid and dotted line, respectively. In the case of OP-A, the pressure exhibits strong harmonic fluctuations at a fundamental low-frequency close to the experimental value (330 Hz). The mean pressure is approx.  $1.65 \times 10^6$  Pa. The amplitude of the limit cycle is quite large and is in the range of pressure fluctuations amplitudes measured in the experiments (approx.  $5 \times 10^4$  Pa). In the case of OP-B, the pressure signal is typical

INVESTIGATION OF A REALISTIC GAS TURBINE



**Figure 3.3** - Instantaneous fields of temperature with superimposition of one contour of Heat Release rate (white line,  $1 \times 10^9$  W.m<sup>-3</sup>). Top: operating point OP-A. Bottom: operating point OP-B. The snapshots are from Runs #5 and #6, respectively (see table 3.1). Some parts are hidden for confidentiality reasons.



Figure 3.4 - Instantaneous fields of temperature with superimposition of one contour of Heat Release rate (white line,  $1 \times 10^9$  W.m<sup>-3</sup>). Full cycle of the evolution of the temperature. Top left: the flame is confined in the primary zone. Top right: a hot pocket of temperature is created under the dilution holes. Bottom left: the hot pocket is convected downstream. Bottom right: the hot pocket is ejected through the exit nozzle.



**Figure 3.5** - Pressure signals from LES data at probe A and for the circular nozzle geometry. Solid line ( — ): OP-A, Run #5. Dotted line ( …… ): OP-B, Run #6.



**Figure 3.6** - Spectra of pressure signals from LES data at probe A performed on the coarse mesh and for the operating point OP-A. Solid line (--): circular nozzle, Run #1 (see top of Fig. 3.1 and table 3.1). Dotted line (--): flat nozzle, Run #3 (see bottom of Fig. 3.1 and table 3.1).

of broadband noise with a smaller fluctuation level. The mean pressure is also higher (approx.  $1.76 \times 10^6$  Pa) than for the OP-A case.

In order to assess the influence of the shapes of the downstream nozzle, two computations have been performed using the baseline mesh for the operating point OP-A, both with the flat and circular geometry (Runs #1 and #3, see Table 3.1). Figure 3.6 presents the amplitude of the Fourier transform of each signal recorded at probe A. The first two peaks at 320 Hz and 640 Hz are virtually the same for both nozzle geometries while the frequency of the third and fourth peaks (approx. 960 Hz and approx. 1280 Hz, respectively) are slightly shifted. This shows that the estimation of the instability is not sensitive to the nozzle geometry for the low-frequency mode of interest. Only the circular nozzle geometry will be considered in the remaining of the study.

To make sure that the LES results are mesh independent, OP-A and OP-B were solved with the two levels of mesh refinement (Runs #5 and #6 in Table 3.1). Figure 3.7 presents the modulus of the Fourier transform of the pressure signal recorded at probe A for Runs #5 (fine mesh) and #1 (baseline mesh). Results for the first unstable mode are similar even if the amplitude of fluctuations computed with the baseline mesh is slightly underpredicted and their frequency slightly shifted. This can be explained by the fact that the baseline mesh is more dissipative and that entropy waves are dissipated too rapidly during their convection to the downstream nozzle. The modulus of the Fourier transform of the pressure signal recorded at probe A for the operating point OP-B is also displayed in Fig. 3.7. A peak is present at the frequency of approx. 435 Hz and has an amplitude



**Figure 3.7** - Spectra of pressure signals from LES data at probe A and for the circular nozzle geometry. Solid line ( — ): OP-A and fine mesh (Run #5). Dotted line ( …… ): OP-A and coarse mesh (Run #1). Dot-dashed line with black circles (  $- \bullet -$  ): OP-B and fine mesh (Run #6).



Figure 3.8 - Spectra of pressure signals from LES data at probe A and for the circular nozzle geometry and fine mesh (OP-A, Run #5). Solid line ( — ): Smagorinsky model (Smagorinsky, 1963). Dotted line ( …… ): Sigma model (Nicoud *et al.*, 2011).

of 2500 Pa. It is remarkable that pressure fluctuations for the operating point OP-B are very weak compared to OP-A, confirming the capacity of LES to capture and discriminate between stable and unstable regimes on both meshes of Table 3.1.

Additionnaly, to make sure that the LES results are independent of the subgrid scale model for the turbulent viscosity  $\mu_t$ , the Run #5 was computed with the classical Smagorinsky and the Sigma models as described at Sec. 3.1.2. Results for the modulus of the Fourier transform of the pressure signal recorded at probe A are depicted in Fig. 3.8. Results for the first unstable mode are similar both in frequency and amplitude. For the second unstable mode, results with the Sigma model slightly differ: the frequency is shifted of a few Hertz while the amplitude is under-estimated. However for the phenomena of our interest at approx 320 Hz, Fig. 3.8 demonstrates that the results are independent of the modelling of the turbulent viscosity  $\mu_t$ . Finally, as results are very similar even for mesh refinement and changes of subgrid scale model, the LES computations are considered robust.

## 3.3 Dynamic Mode Decomposition analysis

## 3.3.1 Theoretical background

Experiments or simulations of flows often lead to complex, dynamic and non-linear systems which can not be analysed directly by simple visualisation or statistical techniques. Advanced methods have emerged during the last decades to provide a detailed analysis of many flow fields. In this context, the extraction of coherent structures from the flow as well as their stability analysis have become essential. The time-evolution of a flow is described by:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}\mathbf{v}(t)}{\mathrm{d}t} = A\mathbf{v}(t) \tag{3.7}$$

where **v** is a vector containing the physical variables representative of the flow and A a linear operator. When integrated between t and  $t + \Delta t$  while keeping A constant, Eq. (3.7) leads to:

$$\mathbf{v}(t+\Delta t) \approx e^{\Delta t \mathbf{A}} \mathbf{v}(t) \tag{3.8}$$

In practice, the flow is time-discretised and represented by a set of N vectors whose M components (M >> N) contain any relevant quantity taken either from experimental or numerical data at N different instants. Mathematically speaking, the data are represented by the following sequence of vectors:

$$V_1^N = \{\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2, \mathbf{v}_3, \cdots, \mathbf{v}_N\}$$
(3.9)

where N denotes the last snapshot. If the state vectors contain enough information, the flow dynamics can be approximated by a linear operator  $\widetilde{A} = e^{\Delta t A}$  such that :

$$\mathbf{v}_{n+1} = \widetilde{A} \mathbf{v}_n \quad , \quad \forall n \tag{3.10}$$

The  $\widetilde{A}$  operator may be studied through its eigenvectors  $\widetilde{\Phi}_n$  and eigenvalues  $\widetilde{\lambda}_n$  which provide the model structure and frequency/growth rate respectively. In practice, the eigenvalue problem:

$$\widetilde{A}\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_n = \widetilde{\lambda}_n \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_n \tag{3.11}$$

can not be solved since  $\tilde{A}$  is either unknown or too large. The Dynamic Mode Decomposition (DMD) developed by Schmid (2010) is an algorithm to approximate the matrix  $\tilde{A}$ . The DMD is an extension of a previous method presented by Rowley *et al.* (2009) and based on the Arnoldi algorithm. The equations (3.9) and (3.10) may be expanded into the following relation:

$$\widetilde{A}V_1^{N-1} = V_2^N = V_1^{N-1}S + re_{N-1}^T$$
(3.12)

where r is the residual vector which tends to 0 when the number of snapshots N increase,  $e_{N-1}$  is the  $(N-1)^{th}$  unit vector and the matrix S is of companion type with:

$$S = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & & a_1 \\ 1 & 0 & & a_2 \\ & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ & & 1 & 0 & a_{N-2} \\ & & & 1 & a_{N-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.13)

where the coefficient  $\{a_1, a_2, a_3, \dots, a_{N-1}\}$  are the only unknowns. The matrix S shifts the snapshot index 1 to N-1 and is a low-dimensional representation of the full system. Then the main idea is that S and  $\tilde{A}$  share the same eigenvalues since they are similar from Eq. (3.12) if the residual vector in the RHS is indeed negligible. The advantage of considering S is its reduced size  $(N-1 \times N-1)$  compared to the size of  $\tilde{A}$   $(M \times M)$ . One drawback of the DMD is that the operator S may be ill-conditioned in practice, especially when dealing with noisy signals. Several formulations of S are available in the literature, as for example by expanding  $V_1^{N-1}$  via a Singular Value Decomposition (SVD) (Schmid, 2010) or a QR-decomposition (Schmid *et al.*, 2011). In the present work, the variant proposed by Chen *et al.* (2012) is implemented and described as follows. The operator Sis reformulated by using Eq. (3.12):

$$S = (V_1^{N-1})^{-1} V_2^N \tag{3.14}$$

Introducing first the following SVD:  $V_1^{N-1} = U\Sigma W^H$  where U and W are unitary and  $\Sigma$  is diagonal, the Moore-Penrose inversion of  $(V_1^{N-1})^{-1}$  leads to:

$$(V_1^{N-1})^{-1} = W\Sigma^{-1}U^H$$
 (3.15)

Introducing the substitution  $U = V_1^{N-1}W\Sigma^{-1}$  into Eq. (3.15) and replacing the whole expression into Eq. (3.14) gives:

$$S = W \Sigma^{-1} \Sigma^{-1} W^{H} \left( V_{1}^{N-1} \right)^{H} V_{2}^{N}$$
(3.16)

The operators W and  $\Sigma$  may be then simply computed by forming the following diagonalization:

$$(V_1^{N-1})^H V_1^{N-1} = W \Sigma^2 W^H$$
(3.17)

This construction of S is robust even when  $V_1^{N-1}$  is nearly rank-deficient, and computing the product  $(V_1^{N-1})^H V_1^{N-1}$  requires less memory (see Chen *et al.*, 2012) than performing directly a SVD. The last step is to solve the eigenproblem  $Ss_n = \mu_n s_n$  where  $s_n$  and  $\mu_n$  are the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of S. From Eq. (3.12) (neglecting the residual term), the relations between the eigenvectors  $\tilde{\Phi}_n$  and eigenvalues  $\tilde{\lambda}_n$  of  $\tilde{A}$  and their counterparts  $s_n$ and  $\mu_n$  are:

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{\phi}}_n = \boldsymbol{V}_1^{N-1} \boldsymbol{s}_n \tag{3.18}$$

$$\hat{\lambda}_n = \mu_n \tag{3.19}$$

Recalling that  $\widetilde{A} = e^{\Delta t A}$ , the eigenvectors and eigenvalues of A are:

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}_n = \widetilde{\boldsymbol{\Phi}}_n = \boldsymbol{V}_1^{N-1} \boldsymbol{s}_n \tag{3.20}$$

$$\lambda_n = \frac{\ln(\lambda_n)}{\Delta t} = \frac{\ln(\mu_n)}{\Delta t}$$
(3.21)

Thus studying the  $(N-1) \times (N-1)$  matrix S gives information about the whole flow dynamics A.

## 3.3.2 Application of DMD to the SAFRAN combustor

Dynamic Mode Decomposition (DMD) was applied to the LES data in order to better understand the nature of the instability illustrated in Sec. 3.2. For this purpose, 200 snapshots were recorded over a time range corresponding to approx. 8 cycles of the instability, thus leading to a sampling of 28 snapshots by period. This amount of data is sufficient for the DMD to break down the reactive turbulent flow into dynamically relevant structures with periodic evolution over time (Schmid, 2010). The input vectors (see Eq. (3.9)) for the DMD algorithm were built from the nodal values of pressure, static temperature, entropy, reaction rate and the three-components of the velocity at each grid point of the mesh used for the LES. Note that the entropy variable, denoted s, is not directly an output of the code and has been computed for each node of the domain from LES data with the following expression:

$$s(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{C_p(\boldsymbol{x})}{\gamma(\boldsymbol{x})} \ln\left(\frac{p(\boldsymbol{x})}{\rho(\boldsymbol{x})^{\gamma(\boldsymbol{x})}}\right)$$
(3.22)

Although not detailed in the present study, several trials have been performed by changing the total number of snapshots or by composing the input vector with different sets of variables, showing that the number of variables taken into account in the DMD does not change the conclusions drawn in the remaining of this study. Moreover, variations in the total number of snapshots have a limited impact and only shift the frequency of the most unstable mode by a few Hertz.

The DMD results of the LES of OP-A and OP-B are depicted in the left and right images of Figs. 3.9 and 3.10, respectively. Figure 3.9 shows the  $\mathcal{L}^2$  norm  $\|\Phi_n\|_{\mathcal{L}^2} = \sqrt{\Phi_n^H \Phi_n}$  of the pressure fluctuations associated to the different DMD modes. Figure 3.10 shows the amplification rate  $\Im(\lambda_n)$  of the pressure DMD mode. The DMD analysis for operating point OP-B does not exhibit a strong emerging mode. Although not evident, a peak is present at the frequency of 434 Hz and has an amplitude of approx. 3500 Pa, in agreement with experiences and the Fourier analysis. However results for the unstable operating point OP-A presented in the left of Fig. 3.9 exhibit a strong peak at 323 Hz, in good agreement with the Fourier analysis conducted at Sec. 3.2 (see Fig. 3.7). Additional peaks with a decreasing amplitude are also present at the frequencies of 648 Hz, 969 Hz and 1290 Hz. A close look at the spectrum of the amplification rate  $\Im(\lambda_n)$  depicted in Fig. 3.10 shows that each mode featuring a strong pressure activity has a null amplification. This result was expected because the DMD analysis is performed on LES data recorded when the thermoacoustic instability has reached a limit cycle. The transition from the stable to unstable operating points, i.e when the energy is growing inside the combustor, has not been considered in the present study. Note also that the eigenmodes extracted by the DMD are related by a simple relation  $f_n = nf_0$ , suggesting that the modes of higher frequency are harmonics of a fundamental mode  $f_0$ .

The modulus of the fluctuating temperature field for the DMD mode with the highest amplitude at 323 Hz is depicted in the top of Fig. 3.11. The relative phase of the temperature and pressure mode is also recorded along the combustor, from the swirler to the exit nozzle. The path where the data are extracted is represented by a white line and the



**Figure 3.9** - Pressure amplitude ( $\mathcal{L}^2$  norm) spectrum from the DMD analysis of the LES computation. Left: OP-A. Right: OP-B. The frequency is  $\mathfrak{R}(\lambda_n)$ .



**Figure 3.10** - Amplification spectrum  $(\mathfrak{I}(\lambda_n))$  from the DMD analysis of the LES computation. Left: OP-A. Right: OP-B. The frequency is  $\mathfrak{R}(\lambda_n)$ .

phase is plotted in the bottom of Fig. 3.11. Two different zones can be distinguished, each with a specific behaviour of the temperature fluctuations:

- Zone I corresponds to the primary zone between the swirler and the dilution holes. The unsteady swirled flame naturally generates temperature fluctuations, but this latter mechanism is confined in the primary zone (I). Indeed, the flame is surrounded by a zero fluctuating temperature area, suggesting that no pockets of temperature generated by the flame are connected with the zone II downstream of the dilution holes. This statement is supported by the behaviour of the phase, which shifts from  $-\pi$  to  $\pi$  inside the zone I. Fluctuations of temperature are then rolling up inside the flame and no convection to the downstream zone II occurs.
- Zone II extends from the dilution holes to the exit nozzle. Strong fluctuations of temperature occur along the jets of fresh air that flow from the dilution holes. A large pocket of fluctuating temperature is formed at the top end of the jets, in the middle of the combustor. The phase unrolls monotonously from the formation area of the hot pockets to the downstream nozzle.

The analysis of the modulus and phase of the temperature for the first DMD mode at 323 Hz suggests that hot pockets of fluctuating temperature are released after the dilution holes and convected to the downstream nozzle. This statement confirms the scenario observed in Fig. 3.4 showing a series of temperature fields taken from the LES. However, the DMD gives more insight about the origin of these hot pockets: they are not created directly by the flame, which is confined in the primary region, but are generated by the hot gases interaction with the dilution jets.

In order to better understand the mechanism at the origin of the thermoacoustic instability, the fluctuating pressure, temperature and velocity fields from the first DMD mode at 323 Hz were reconstructed over one period. The four phases displayed in Fig. 3.12 support the idea that the unstable mode of interest relies, at least partly, on an entropyacoustic coupling. Note that the velocity is represented only by its component along the y-axis, i.e. the streaming axis of the dilution jets.

- At phase 0, the pressure is low everywhere within the combustion chamber and a pocket of cold gas is present downstream of the primary reaction zone, roughly at the middle of the combustion chamber. The velocity perturbations of the dilution jets are maximum: more fresh air is blown into the combustor,
- At phase  $\pi/2$ , the cold pocket is convected downstream and the unsteady pressure in the chamber is approximately zero. The velocity perturbations of the jets are very small,
- At phase π, the cold pocket interacts with the exit nozzle and a new pocket of hot gas is generated downstream of the primary zone, while the fluctuating pressure within the chamber is now positive and the dilutions jets have reached their minimum velocities,



Figure 3.11 - Temperature fluctuations for the first DMD mode at 323 Hz of operating point OP-A. Top: Modulus over the medium plane. Bottom: phase of the temperature (---) and pressure (---) along the path depicted by the white line.



• At phase  $3\pi/2$ , the pocket of hot gas is convected by the mean flow and the pressure within the chamber decreases, while the velocity perturbations of the dilution jets are now again very small.

As recalled in the introduction, each interaction between hot or cold pocket of gas and the nozzle generates acoustics which may propagate downstream (generating what is known as indirect noise) or upstream (generating another perturbation of the flame region and promoting the creation of a new entropy spot). This creates a pressure drop between the surrounding casing and the combustor. In the same phase relation, depending on the sign of the pressure drop, the dilution jets are either: (a) flowing fresh air into the combustor, decreasing then the combustion and creating the cold pocket, (b) or blowing fresh air out of the combustor, enhancing the formation of a hot pocket. When the pressure drop decreases to zero, the dilution jets are annihilated and the pocket of cold/hot temperature is no longer sustained and can be released and convected by the mean flow.

The acoustic response of the nozzle to an impacting temperature fluctuation can be characterised by the analytical theory based on the Euler equations of Duran & Moreau (2013). The amplitude of the reflected acoustic wave scales with the incident temperature fluctuation and the ratio  $\hat{p}/\hat{T}$  is typically of the order of 100 Pa/K for most nozzles. As a consequence, for temperature fluctuations of approx. 350 K measured at 323 Hz from the DMD analysis of the LES data, the pressure fluctuations generated by the nozzle can then be computed with the help of the reflection coefficient and qualitatively estimated to be approx. 35000 Pa, which is in fair agreement with the pressure fluctuations (see Fig. 3.9) measured in the LES. The angle of  $\hat{p}/\hat{T}$  is between  $3\pi/4$  and  $\pi$ , which is also in agreement with LES/DMD results (see Fig. 3.11). Hence, for this nozzle and flow regime, temperature pockets impacting the nozzle generate strong opposite-sign pressure fluctuations in the combustion chamber. Note that any acoustic pressure fluctuation generates an amount of temperature fluctuations, even in absence of nozzle or accelerated flow. Under the isentropic assumption one obtains:

$$\hat{T} = \overline{T} \left( \frac{\overline{\gamma} - 1}{\overline{\rho} \ \overline{c}^2} \right) \hat{p} \tag{3.23}$$

Figure 3.13 shows that the isentropic temperature fluctuations are almost 25 times smaller that the temperature fluctuations measured in the LES via the DMD and are also out of phase. This demonstrates that the temperature fluctuations seen in zone II are not the thermal signature of the pressure (acoustics) fluctuations in the chamber; instead they are generated by the primary zone/dilution jets interaction. After interacting with the nozzle, they generate a strong pressure fluctuation of opposite sign. This demonstrates that the combustion instability does not rely on a purely acoustic mode. The idea that the unstable mode close to 320 Hz involves a coupling between entropy and acoustics is further supported by the numerical Helmholtz analysis of the combustor performed at Sec. 3.4.2, which shows that the smallest purely thermoacoustic frequency mode is close to 690 Hz, very far from the observed 320 Hz.



Figure 3.13 - Solid line (—): reconstructed temperature signal at the entrance of the nozzle measured from the first DMD mode at 323 Hz. Dotted line ( …… ): reconstructed acoustic temperature signal at the entrance of the nozzle computed with Eq. (3.23) and the pressure signal measured from the first DMD mode at 323 Hz. Note that the second curve is multiplied by a factor 25 to be comparable to the first one.

## 3.4 Helmholtz analysis

## 3.4.1 Numerical setup for Helmholtz solver

Since Eq. (2.43) assumes no mean flow, it is necessary to restrict the study of thermoacoustic instabilities to only the combustion chamber (where the Mach number is always small). As depicted in Fig. 3.14, the domain is truncated at the outlet, before the nozzle, where the Mach number is  $M \approx 0.1$ . Several computations have been performed with the AVSP Helmholtz solver (see Sec. 2.3) of the operating points OP-A and OP-B. In all cases, a very coarse mesh (approx.  $10^5$  nodes) was generated from the LES grid in order to represent the geometry properly. An axial cut of this latter mesh is depicted in Fig. 3.15. Additionally, a zero normal acoustic velocity condition was imposed over all boundaries except **a**) over the chamber exit where the nozzle impedance  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0}$  (see Sec. 1.2.2) is imposed, and **b**) over the air inlet which is modeled by a constant mass flow rate  $\hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$ , i.e.  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0} = \infty$ .

The sound speed  $\bar{c}$  is computed from the averaged temperature field given by LES and interpolated on the coarse acoustic mesh: the maps of sound speed are depicted in Fig. 3.16. In the cold region such as the casing where fresh air is flowing, the sound speed is approx. 300 m.s<sup>-1</sup> for OP-A and approx. 500 m.s<sup>-1</sup> for OP-B, while in hot regions where the flame takes place the sound speed is approx. 900 m.s<sup>-1</sup> for both operating points. It is interesting to notice that in the combustor, the fields of sound speed are rather similar for INVESTIGATION OF A REALISTIC GAS TURBINE



Figure 3.14 - Isocontour of Mach number in the combustor for the computation at operating point OP-A. The black line represents the location where the domain is truncated  $(M \approx 0.1)$ .



Figure 3.15 - Axial cut of the very coarse mesh (approx.  $10^5$  nodes) for AVSP computations.



**Figure 3.16** - Fields of sound speed  $\overline{c}$  time-averaged from LES data. Top: OP-A, Run #5. Bottom: OP-B, Run #6.

both OP-A and OP-B. As explained in Sec. 3.3.2, one of the major effect of the combustion instability is to creates temperature heterogeneities that convect downstream to the nozzle with a certain frequency. In one period the temperature seen by the combustor after the dilution holes oscillates around a mean value. Hence, the time-averaged temperature field does not sensibly differ from OP-A and OP-B.



**Figure 3.17** - Fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  computed from the DMD mode at 323 Hz and for the operating point OP-A, Run #5. The black dot indicates the location of the reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}$  for the acoustic velocity.


**Figure 3.18** - Fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  computed from the DMD mode at 435 Hz and for the operating point OP-B, Run #6. The black dot indicates the location of the reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}$  for the acoustic velocity.

However the effect of the combustion instability is evident when looking at the rate of heat release. For this purpose, the fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  are computed from the DMD mode to extract the fluctuating heat release rate  $\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})$  at each point of the domain as well as the fluctuating velocity  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}$  at a reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}$  located inside the swirler. The  $n - \tau$  fields are computed from the first DMD mode (see Appendix B). For Helmholtz computations of case OP-A, Fig. 3.17 presents the fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  computed from the DMD mode at 323 Hz. The reference point  $\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}$  for the velocity as well as the normal vector of reference  $\boldsymbol{n}_{ref}$  are also shown. For computations of the case OP-B, the fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  are extracted at 436 Hz which is the frequency (see Fig. 3.9) where most of the activity occurs and are depicted in Fig. 3.18. It is notable that for the OP-A unstable case, strong fluctuations of heat release rate occur in all the primary zone, from the edge of the swirler to the dilution jets. On the contrary, the OP-B stable case does not feature a significant pulsating flame. Most fluctuations of heat release rate are included in small compact zones located at the edge of the swirler or near dilutions holes.

#### 3.4.2 Results

The main properties of the Helmholtz computations performed as well as the results for the first mode are gathered in Table 3.2 for OP-A and Table 3.3 for OP-B. The Active Flame column reports whether or not the flame-acoustic coupling (the RHS term of Eq. (2.43)) is included. The Outlet Impedance column reports whether the value of  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0}$  (see Sec. 1.2.2) at the outlet is set to  $\infty$  (simple  $\hat{\mathbf{m}} \cdot \mathbf{n} = 0$  condition) or computed from the analytical nozzle theory of Duran & Moreau (2013). Computations of the operating points OP-A and OP-B feature the same behaviour. The first eigenmode obtained for OP-A is in the range of 690 – 730 Hz, very far from the instability at 320 Hz encountered in the experiments and the LES computations. Similarly, the first mode computed for OP-B is found in the range of 817 – 840 Hz, contrary to the (limited) thermoacoustic activity observed at approx. 435 Hz. Runs B show that the coupling with the flame only shifts the frequency by a few Hertz and has a damping effect on the acoustic modes. Runs C show that the use of more accurate boundary conditions has a limited effect on the frequency of the first eigenmode. Using an active flame model and proper boundary conditions within a Helmholtz solver framework is the most employed method to calculate thermoacoustic modes and to draw the stability map of a reactive system. However Runs D confirm that such a method totally fails to capture the desired unstable mode of interest (320 Hz) in this particular study. This result suggests that the instability encountered in the present combustor is not of the nature of a direct flame-acoustic coupling and supports the idea that it relies on an other mechanism. The next natural question is: how to evidence this mechanism if it exists and how to model it in the purely zero-Mach number acoustic framework? The next section is devoted to an advanced post-processing of the LES by using the Dynamic Mode Decomposition in order to compute the entropy/acoustic transfer functions required by the DECBC model.

Name	Outlet Impedance $Z^{M\neq 0}_{J,m}$	Active Flame	Frequency [Hz]	Growth rate $[s^{-1}]$
Run A	$\infty$	no	731	0
Run B	$\infty$	yes	703	-18
Run C	Duran & Moreau (2013)	no	721	-27
Run D	Duran & Moreau (2013)	yes	690	-42

Table 3.2 - Results for Helmholtz computations of operating point OP-A ( $T_{inlet} = 557$  K).

Name	Outlet Impedance $Z^{M\neq 0}_{J,m}$	Active Flame	Frequency [Hz]	Growth rate $[s^{-1}]$
Run A	$\infty$	no	839	0
Run B	$\infty$	yes	830	0
Run C	Duran & Moreau (2013)	no	826	-30
Run D	Duran & Moreau (2013)	yes	817	-28

**Table 3.3** - Results for Helmholtz computations of operating point OP-B ( $T_{inlet} = 762$  K).

#### 3.4.3 Application of the DECBC approach

Recall that the configuration investigated in the present work exhibits a low frequency mode of oscillation at a frequency significantly smaller than any acoustic mode. Helmholtz analysis performed in Sec. 3.4.2 failed to capture this low frequency mode. It is thus natural to investigate whether the DECBC approach described in chapter 2 helps to recover this latter mode. The transfer function between the acoustic velocity upstream of the flame and the entropy generated downstream of the primary zone was assessed by post-processing the LES via the DMD analysis. More precisely, this entropy transfer function was defined as:

$$G_{\rm us}^{\rm LES} e^{j\omega\tau_{\rm us}^{\rm LES}} = \frac{\langle \hat{s}_f \rangle}{\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{\rm ref} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{\rm ref}}$$
(3.24)

where  $\mathbf{n}_{ref}$  is a unitary vector of reference aligned with the main axis of the combustor,  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{ref}$  is the acoustic velocity at the reference point depicted in Fig. 3.19 and  $\langle \hat{s}_f \rangle$  is the entropy fluctuation averaged over a small volume located downstream of the primary combustion zone, in agreement with the mode structure observed from the DMD analysis of Sec. 3.3.2. Obtaining the acoustic velocity fluctuations  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{ref}$  is challenging because the reference point is located inside the swirler where hydrodynamic fluctuations are present. However, as the present study focuses on a low-frequency instability, the hydrodynamic component is considered negligible. Note that this transfer function is similar to but different from the classical flame transfer function which relates the upstream acoustic velocity to the unsteady heat release thanks to a  $n - \tau$  type of model (Crocco, 1952; Nicoud *et al.*, 2007).

INVESTIGATION OF A REALISTIC GAS TURBINE



**Figure 3.19** - Computational domain for the Helmholtz analysis. The point of reference and the zone of averaging used for the entropy generation modeling (Eq. 3.24) are displayed as well as the exit section where the entropy-acoustic boundary condition (Eq. 2.55) is applied.

Consequently, the fluctuating velocity  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{\text{ref}}$  for both the active flame and DECBC approach is chosen at the same reference point. Following the rationale developed in Sec. 2.1.4, the DMD analysis was also used to measure the convection time  $\tau_c^{\text{LES}}$  from the flame region to the end of the combustion chamber (see Fig. 3.19). Note that because the entropy spots decay during their convection through the chamber exit (because of the turbulent mixing and shear dispersion), the time delay  $\tau_c^{\text{LES}}$  is completed by a gain  $G_c^{\text{LES}}$  (smaller than unity) to relate the entropy in the flame region to the entropy at the exit. Hence it comes:

$$G_c^{\text{LES}} e^{j\omega\tau_c^{\text{LES}}} = \frac{\langle \hat{s} \rangle}{\langle \hat{s}_f \rangle}$$
(3.25)

The DMD mode at 323 Hz (OP-A) and 436 Hz (OP-B) were used to assess the entropy related gains  $G_{\rm us}^{\rm LES}$ ;  $G_c^{\rm LES}$  and time delays  $\tau_{\rm us}^{\rm LES}$ ;  $\tau_c^{\rm LES}$  so as to fed the DECBC model. Figure 3.20 presents the following reconstructed signals from this DMD mode:

- the reference fluctuating velocity  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{ref} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{ref}$ ;
- the fluctuating entropy  $\langle \hat{s}_f \rangle$  averaged over a volume located in the middle of the combustor where the formation of the pocket occurs;
- the fluctuating entropy  $\hat{s}$  averaged over the exit boundary condition of the Helmholtz domain.



**Figure 3.20** - Reconstructed signals from the first DMD mode at 323 Hz for the operating point OP-A ( $T_{inlet} = 557$  K). Dotted line (.....): reference velocity  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}_{ref} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{ref}$ . Solid line (....): entropy  $\langle \hat{s}_f \rangle$  averaged in the middle of the combustor. Dot-dashed line (....): entropy  $\langle \hat{s} \rangle$  averaged at the exit plane upstream of the nozzle.

The gain and time-delay of transfer functions described in Eqs. (3.24) and (3.25) can therefore be easily estimated with the help of elementary signal processing. Results are summarised in Table 3.4 for the two operating points OP-A ( $T_{inlet} = 557$  K) and OP-B ( $T_{inlet} = 762$  K). Note that these values are supposed to be independent of frequency.

Operating Point	$G_{\rm us}^{\rm LES}$	$\tau_{\rm us}^{\rm LES}~[{\rm s}]$	$G_c^{\text{LES}}$	$\tau_c^{\mathrm{LES}}$ [s]
OP-A $(T_{inlet} = 557 \text{ K})$	84	$2.13\times10^{-3}$	0.63	$7.82\times10^{-4}$
OP-B ( $T_{inlet}$ = 762 K)	74	$1.76\times10^{-3}$	0.48	$4.14\times10^{-4}$

**Table 3.4** - Gain and time delay of the transfer functions modeling the entropy fluctuations for the operating points OP-A ( $T_{inlet} = 557$  K) and OP-B ( $T_{inlet} = 762$  K).

#### 3.4.4 Helmholtz/DECBC results

Helmholtz computations are performed for each operating point OP-A and OP-B by using the respective fields of sound speed, active flame  $n - \tau$  fields and transfer functions from Table 3.4. The outlet impedance  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq0}$  is computed from the Duran & Moreau (2013) theory. Results for the first mode are gathered in Table 3.5. As already stated in Sec. 3.4.2, the first thermo-acoustic mode for the operating point OP-A oscillates at around 690 Hz, very far from the 320 Hz instability observed in the LES and experiment; this thermo-acoustic mode is slightly damped (decay rate of approximatively  $-40 \ s^{-1}$ ), even while taking into account the proper acoustic flux at the inlet/outlet as well as the coupling between acoustics and combustion through the active flame model. Introducing the DECBC approach corrects this behaviour: the Helmholtz solver now gives a strong unstable mode (growth rate 267  $s^{-1}$ ) oscillating at 318 Hz, in fair agreement with the LES and experiment. Note that the frequency of oscillation obtained (318 Hz) is rather close to the first DMD mode (323 Hz), thus justifying a posteriori the fact that the transfer function gain and delay were supposed independent of frequency when performing the Helmholtz computations. The shapes of the first modes found either by the DMD analysis or the Helmholtz computations with the DECBC approach are depicted in Fig. 3.21. The fluctuating pressure  $\hat{p}$  is made non dimensional by setting max( $\Re(\hat{p})$ ) = 1. It is remarkable that the eigenmode computed by the Helmholtz solver with the DECBC approach (bottom of Fig. 3.21) is rather similar to the DMD mode (top of Fig. 3.21). The maximum amplitude of fluctuation is located inside the whole combustion chamber, while the casing exhibits a structure close to a quarter wave mode.

Operating Point	Frequency [Hz]	Growth/Decay rate $[s^{-1}]$
OP-A	318	+267
OP-B	429	+12

 Table 3.5 - Helmholtz computations with the DECBC approach.

The methodology described previously is also applied to the operating point OP-B. Results exhibit the same behaviour (Table 3.5). A mode is found at 429 Hz with a small growth rate, consistent with the LES result which showed a small amplitude mode at 435 Hz. In Silva *et al.* (2013), authors mention that the growth rates assessed by a Helmholtz solver should be offset by a negative quantity which represents all the damping effects not included in the zero-Mach number framework (acoustic boundary layers, vortex generation in shear layers, etc.). Consequently the mode predicted for case OP-B at  $(+12 \ s^{-1})$  is consistent with the DMD analysis and experiments. Note also that the growth rate obtained for OP-A is much larger than for OP-B in full agreement with the LES/experimental results which display a strong instability in the first case only. The acoustic-entropy coupling allows, once included in a low-order Helmholtz solver, to recover the low frequency instability of the LES/experiments. This demonstrates that this instability is indeed driven by the acoustic waves generated by strong entropy fluctuations being convected through the nozzle. To the authors knowledge, this is the first time that such an instability is identified in an aeroengine configuration.



**Figure 3.21** - Shapes of the first pressure eigenmode for the operating point OP-A  $(T_{inlet} = 557 \text{ K})$ . Top: DMD analysis (323 Hz). Bottom: Helmholtz computation with the DECBC approach (318 Hz). The fluctuating pressure  $\hat{p}$  is made non dimensional by setting max $(\Re(\hat{p})) = 1$ .

## 3.5 Application of DECBC: Optimisation of combustion instabilities

A novel strategy to take into account mean flow effects in a zero-Mach number Helmholtz solver has been developed in chapters 1 and 2. It relies on:

- a new formulation of the acoustic impedance to capture the energy damping due to the effect of flow convection on the propagation of acoustic waves;
- a new boundary condition (DECBC) that introduces the entropy/acoustic coupling with the help of transfer functions that model the generation and convection of entropy fluctuations to the downstream exit.

When applied to a realistic aero-engine configuration consisting of a choked nozzle mounted on a combustion chamber, such approach proves able to capture a low frequency unstable mode in full agreement with LES computations and DMD analysis (see Sec. 3.4). Moreover, it was shown that a purely thermo-acoustic analysis cannot reproduce such instability.

The purpose of the present section is to study the ability of a Helmholtz solver coupled with DECBC to design a new combustor so as to reduce the thermoacoustic instability. The present study focuses on the optimisation of the downstream nozzle via the modification of its geometry. In a first step, the ability of AVSP/DECBC to follow the impact of the changes of the nozzle length on the unstable modes is tested by computations of a simple 1D test case. Then, AVSP/DECBC computations of the realistic aero-engine combustor described in chapter 3 are resumed. The gradual increase of the nozzle length shows that the combustion instability is progressively damped. Finally, a new set of LES computations confirms that the new nozzle designed during the optimisation study with AVSP/DECBC makes the combustor more stable.

#### 3.5.1 Influence of the nozzle length on thermoacoustic instabilities

#### Description of the test case

The configuration investigated in the present section is similar to the one studied in chapter 2 and depicted in Fig. 3.22. It consists of a combustion chamber of constant cross section and fixed length  $L_c$  where a compact flame (thickness  $\delta_f = 0.005$  m) is located at  $x = x_f$ . The chamber is connected to an isentropic choked nozzle of length  $L-L_c$ . The aim of the present section is to study the impact on thermoacoustic eigenmodes of a gradual increase of the length L of the nozzle.

Thermodynamic parameters used in the computation of eigenmodes of the configuration are presented in Table 3.6.



Figure 3.22 - Configuration investigated in section 3.5.1.

$T_1$ [K]	$p_1$ [Pa]	$M_1$	$T_2$ [K]	$\gamma$	r [SI]	$L_c$ [m]	$x_f$ [m]	$\delta_f$ [m]
300	101325	0.05	1200	1.4	287	1	0.75	0.005

**Table 3.6** - Thermodynamic parameters for the computation of the configuration inFig. 3.22.

The eigenmodes of this simple configuration are computed by two different methods:

• Method  $I_{num}$  is the solution in the whole domain of the LEE numerical solver described at Sec. 1.3.1. This is considered as the reference solution. Note that the mean flow field inside the nozzle is described by an analytical distribution of the mean flow Mach number as follow:

$$M_2(x) = M_2(L_c) + (M_{out}(L) - M_2(L_c)) \left(\frac{x - L_c}{L - L_c}\right)^3$$
(3.26)

In this equation,  $M_2(L_c)$  is the Mach number at the inlet of the nozzle and is deduced from the flow field parameters upstream of the flame.  $M_{out}(L)$  is the Mach number imposed at the exit of the nozzle. In the present study,  $M_{out}(L) = 1.5$  so as to ensure that the flow is choked at the nozzle throat located at  $x_{th}$ . As the total length L is a variable parameter, the throat location  $x_{th}$  will then follow accordingly.

• Method AVSP/DECBC is the solution of the Helmholtz solver only in the combustion chamber region of the domain. The DECBC approach described at Sec. 2.1.4 is used as well as the impedance defined with the set variables  $\hat{J}, \hat{m}$  so as to ensure that the right acoustic energy flux is imposed. The impedance  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0}$  is computed from the analytical method of Duran & Moreau (2013) by imposing the nozzle geometry taken from the the computation with method Inum and which follow the Mach distribution from Eq. (3.26). The sound speed and density fields required to solves Eq. (2.43) are deduced from the imposed temperature field  $T_1$  for  $x < x_f$  and  $T_2$  for x > xf. The gains and time delays required by the transfer function of the DECBC model (see Eq. (2.54)) are invariant and summarised in Table 3.7, as well as the location of the reference point  $x_{ref}$  for the velocity fluctuations, taken slightly upstream of the flame.

$G_{us}$	$\tau_{us}$ [s]	$G_c$	$\tau_c [s]$	$x_{ref}$ [m]
43.4	0	1	0.00356	0.749

**Table 3.7** - Parameters of the transfer functions used in the DECBC model to compute the configuration depicted in Fig 3.22.

#### Results

In the present study, the length  $L - L_c$  of the nozzle is gradually raised from 0 (compact conditions) to 0.5 m, which is the half of the combustor length. The frequencies and growth rates of the first four eigenmodes are depicted in Fig. 3.23. As expected, the main effect of extending the nozzle length is to create a much larger combustor. Hence the frequency decreases linearly as the nozzle length increase. The impact of the nozzle length on the growth rate is however less intuitive. Depending on the configuration, eigenmodes of the combustor may be stabilised or become unstable. Results with the AVSP/DECBC method are close to the reference method although some discrepancies occur. However the curves follow the same behaviour, demonstrating the capacity of the DECBC model to reproduce the evolution of both the frequency and growth rate depending on the nozzle length, which is virtually taken into account through the impedance.

#### 3.5.2 Application to the realistic gas turbine

#### **AVSP/DECBC** Results

Following the methodology employed in Sec. 3.4, computations of the OP-A unstable case are performed with the 3D Helmholtz solver with only the modification of the exit impedance  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0}$ . For each computation, the geometry of the nozzle used for the computation of the impedance  $Z_{J,m}^{M\neq 0}$  is completed by an additional segment  $L_{\text{noz}}$  located between the baseline nozzle and the combustor (see Fig. 3.24). Note that the actual dissipation of the entropy along the nozzle is not taken into account in the present model. The fields of sound speed (see Fig. 3.16) and  $n - \tau$  for the active flame (see Fig. 3.17), as well as the DECBC parameters (see Table 3.4) remain unchanged.

Results are depicted in Fig. 3.25. The frequency and the growth rate of the unstable mode decrease linearly as the length  $L_{\text{noz}}$  increases. Although the frequency of the unstable mode is only shifted by a few Hz, it is noteworthy that the growth rate can be strongly damped by the extension of the nozzle. Indeed, the introduction of an additional length at the entrance of the nozzle has the effect to add an additional time lag that impact the relative phase between  $\hat{p}$  and  $\hat{T}$ . For the present configuration, the resulting effect is to lower the rate of acoustic pressure generated at the nozzle when impacted by temperature heterogeneities.



INVESTIGATION OF A REALISTIC GAS TURBINE



**Figure 3.24** - Schematic representation of the extension of the nozzle geometry by a new segment  $L_{\text{noz}}$ .

The present study should be understood as qualitative. Indeed, as explained in Sec. 3.4.4, because all of the damping effects are not taken into account in the modelling, it is difficult to know exactly which value of the growth rate defines the limit between a stable or an unstable system. However such optimisation study provides a qualitative information about the evolution of the growth rate depending on the evolution of certain parameter, here  $L_{\text{noz}}$ . According to Fig. (3.25), the growth rate predicted by the Helmholtz solver with DECBC is divided by two for a nozzle length  $L_{\text{noz}} = 0.03$  m. This value corresponds approximatively to the actual length of the baseline nozzle. In order to confirm that the present methodology is relevant, a new LES computation of the OP-A unstable case is performed with a nozzle extended by  $L_{\text{noz}} = 0.03$  m.



**Figure 3.25** - Results of AVSP/DECBC computation for different extension  $L_{\text{noz}}$  of the nozzle geometry. Left: Frequency. Right: Growth rate.

#### LES Results

The Run #3 (see Table 3.1) is chosen to test the geometry change of the nozzle. A new mesh is generated so as to handle the new geometry of the nozzle. Note that for the combustor as well as the geometrical details of the swirler, the grid refinement is similar to the baseline mesh used in Run #3. Fig. 3.26 presents the pressure signal recorded at the location of probe A (see Fig 3.3). At 0.12s of Run #3, the LES solution is interpolated on the new mesh containing the extended nozzle. After a short transient, the flow reaches a new state. The pressure is still oscillating with a pronounced frequency, but the amplitude of the oscillation is severely reduced.



Figure 3.26 - Pressure signal from LES data at probe A.



**Figure 3.27** - Spectra of pressure signals from LES data at probe A and for the OP-A unstable case. Dotted line ( ......): Baseline nozzle geometry (Run #3). Dot-dashed line with black circles (  $- \bullet -$  ): Extended nozzle ( $L_{noz} = 0.03$  m).

Figure 3.27 presents the modulus of the Fourier transform of the pressure signal recorded at probe A for computations with the baseline nozzle (Run #3) and the extended nozzle. The mean value has been subtracted. A DMD analysis is also performed and results are gathered in Figs. 3.28 and 3.29 for computations with the baseline (left images) and the extended nozzle (right images).

When the combustor is mounted with the nozzle extended by a segment of length  $L_{\text{noz}} = 0.03$  m, the pressure amplitude of the first mode is approximatively five times smaller than in the baseline configuration. This result exhibit a stronger damping of pressure oscillations than in the AVSP/DECBC study, but one should note that in this latter methodology the dissipation of entropy waves is not taken into account during their convection in the modelled nozzle. Consequently the damping rate found by AVSP/DECBC is expected to be under-predicted. The present LES result is now in the range of the amplitude found with the analysis of the stable OP-B case (see right image of Figs. 3.9 and 3.10). Moreover, the frequency of this mode (323 Hz with the baseline nozzle) is shifted to 314 Hz, which is consistent with the results predicted by the AVSP/DECBC methodology (see Fig. 3.25).



**Figure 3.28** - Pressure amplitude (volume weighted  $\mathcal{L}^2$  norm) spectrum of the DMD analysis of the LES computation of Run #3. Left: baseline nozzle. Right: extended nozzle  $(L_{\text{noz}} = 0.03 \text{ m})$ . The frequency is  $\Re(\lambda_n)$ .

The modulus of the pressure and temperature for the DMD mode at 314 Hz are depicted in the top and middle images of Fig. 3.30. The relative phase of the temperature and pressure mode is also recorded along the combustor, from the swirler to the exit nozzle. The path where the data are extracted is represented by a white line and the phase is plotted in the bottom of Fig. 3.30. Similarly with the DMD analysis of the unstable OP-A case with the baseline nozzle (see Fig. 3.11), the relative phase between  $\hat{p}$  and  $\hat{T}$ is still  $\pi$ . However in the case of the extended nozzle, the amplitude of the temperature heterogeneities are approximatively reduced by five times. Consequently the amplitude of the pressure generated at the nozzle is severely reduced with the same order of magnitude.



**Figure 3.29** - Amplification spectrum  $(\Im(\lambda_n))$  of the DMD analysis of the LES computation of Run #3. Left: baseline nozzle. Right: extended nozzle  $(L_{\text{noz}} = 0.03 \text{ m})$ . The frequency is  $\Re(\lambda_n)$ .

#### Conclusions

In the present section, the Helmholtz solver AVSP coupled with the DECBC approach has been used to perform a sensitivity analysis of the length of the downstream nozzle that ends the combustion chamber. Such methodology shows that the growth rate of the unstable mode can be significantly reduced when playing with the length of the nozzle. A new set of LES computations have been performed with an extended geometry of the nozzle. The combustion instability is severely reduced while the frequency is slightly shifted down, in fair agreement with the AVSP/DECBC prediction. It could be argued that the length extension of the nozzle is not applicable in an actual aero-engine configuration. This is partly true but one should keep in mind that the purpose of this present section is to demonstrate the potential of the methodology AVSP/DECBC to optimise the combustion instability. A novel approach to design nozzles has been presented by Giauque *et al.* (2013). It is based on genetic algorithms and allow to adjust several geometrical parameters at the same time, in addition to the length of the sonic throat. INVESTIGATION OF A REALISTIC GAS TURBINE



**Figure 3.30** - Pressure and temperature fluctuations for the first DMD mode at 314 Hz of operating point OP-A with the optimised nozzle. Top: Pressure modulus over the medium plane. Middle: Temperature modulus over the medium plane Bottom: phase of the temperature ( — ) and pressure ( …… ) along the path depicted by the white line.

# **Conclusions and perspectives**

High-fidelity computations of a realistic aerocombustor that features a strong lowfrequency instability under certain operating conditions have been performed. Experiments show that the establishment of an instability depends to the first order on the fraction of liquid water ingested by the engine. Large-Eddy Simulations (LES) proved able to distinguish between the stable/unstable behaviours, the presence of water being accounted for by lowering the inlet temperature of the air entering the combustion chamber. Based upon two operating points representative of the stable/unstable states of the combustor, a Dynamic Mode Analysis (DMD) has been performed on the recorded LES data. For each case, a low frequency mode is found, featuring either strong or very weak fluctuations of all physical variables. The DMD analysis demonstrates that pockets of fluctuating entropy/temperature are created inside the combustor and convected to the downstream nozzle, creating a reflected acoustic perturbation that goes back to the flame.

A purely thermo-acoustic analysis has been performed with the Helmholtz solver AVSP. The coupling between acoustics with the combustion is taken into account by an active flame model based on a  $n-\tau$  formalism. It has been shown that when the computational domain is represented under the M = 0 assumption, a non-zero-Mach number element can simply be taken into account by imposing a proper acoustic impedance at the boundaries so as to mimic the mean flow effects in the outer, not computed flow domain. To this respect, it has been demonstrated that the best way to define the boundary impedance is the use of energetic state variables  $\hat{J}$  and  $\hat{m}$ . This latter choice introduces an acoustic energy flux mismatch at the  $M = 0/M \neq 0$  interface proportional to the square of the Mach number, instead of being proportional to M when relying on the acoustic variables  $\hat{p}$  and  $\hat{u}$ . The analytical asymptotic theory has been validated on a simple test case by computing eigenmodes either by solving the Linearized Euler Equation or the zero-Mach number Helmholtz equation. However, despite the fact that the high speed flow turbine is properly taken into account with the help of a formalism that reduces the error introduced in the acoustic domain, for both operating points results exhibit a damped eigenmode which frequency is very far from the low-frequency mode observed in the experiments and LES computations. This suggests that the mechanism leading to the combustion instability relies on a coupling between entropy and acoustic waves inside the nozzle, and as this latter mechanism is neglected in the Helmholtz analysis due to the zero-Mach number assumption, the low-frequency mode can not be reproduced with this approach.

A Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC) model has been developed as a mean to recover some of the convective effects when representing a thermo-acoustic system under the zero-Mach number formalism. In this view, a simple model was first used in order to assess the entropy fluctuations at the exit of the combustion chamber. This model consists of two steps, one for the entropy generation in the flame region, a second one for the convection/dissipation of the entropy spots through the combustion chamber. This results in a transfer function which relates a reference acoustic velocity in the burner and entropy at the exit of the chamber and which was assessed by post-processing LES data via the DMD analysis. The acoustics generated by the convection of the entropy spots through the exit nozzle are then treated by applying a proper boundary condition which couples entropy and acoustic quantities.

Helmholtz computations coupled with the DECBC approach are conducted for both stable/unstable operating points. Results exhibit low-frequency eigenmodes with frequency, growth rate and shape in very good agreement with the experimental and LES data. This enlightens the major role played by the coupling between entropy and acoustic waves inside the nozzle on the establishment of this combustion instability, contrary to the coupling between the flame and the acoustics or the sound speed field which have a minor influence.

A limitation of the proposed approach is that the Helmholtz/DECBC solver must be fed by data coming from LES results. This may appear as a strong limitation since the cost of a LES must be paid before the DECBC methodology can be applied. Still, the Helmholtz/DECBC approach remains useful in situations where the same upstream velocity-exit entropy transfer function can be reused for multiple test conditions. The potential of this strategy has been demonstrated by conducting a set of Helmholtz/DECBC computations with different shapes of exit nozzle. It has been shown that the growth rate of the unstable mode can be significantly reduced for a certain length of the nozzle. A new set of LES computations have been performed with a selected nozzle geometry. The combustion instability is severely reduced while the frequency is slightly shifted down, in fair agreement with the AVSP/DECBC prediction.

Another potential field of application is the study of annular combustors; in this case, one can imagine that a simple one sector LES (containing only one burner) could be performed to feed a Helmholtz/DECBC computation of the whole annular combustor with several identical burners, thus avoiding the extremely CPU demanding LES of the full combustor. This strategy is justified if the flames behave independently and was already used for accounting for the flame response in annular combustors.

In conclusion, the present thesis proposes a practical methodology to reproduce and optimise low-frequency combustion instability at a very low computational cost. This opens the way to possible repeated optimisation studies for the design of aero-engines combustion chamber.

# Publications

### Articles in International Journals

- E. Motheau, L. Selle and F. Nicoud. Accounting for convective effects in zero-Mach number thermoacoustic models *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 333(1):246-262, 2014.
- E. Motheau, Y. Méry, F. Nicoud and T. Poinsot. Analysis and modelling of entropy modes in a realistic aeronautical gas turbine *Journal of Engineering for Gas Turbines and Power*, 135(9):092602, 2013.
- E. Motheau, F. Nicoud, and T. Poinsot. Using boundary conditions to account for mean flow effects in a zero mach number acoustic solver *Journal of Engineering* for Gas Turbines and Power, 134(11):111502, 2012.

### **Peer-reviewed Papers**

• E. Motheau, L. Selle, Y. Méry, T. Poinsot, and F. Nicoud. - A mixed acousticentropy combustion instability in a realistic gas turbine - *Center for Turbulence Research, Proceedings of the Summer Program, Stanford University*, 2012

### International Conferences (with scientific committee)

- E. Motheau, Y. Méry , F. Nicoud and T. Poinsot. Analysis and modelling of entropy modes in a realistic aeronautical gas turbine ASME Turbo Expo 2013, pages GT2013-94224, San Antonio (Texas, USA), June 3-7 2013.
- E. Motheau, F. Nicoud, and T. Poinsot. Using boundary conditions to account for mean flow effects in a zero mach number acoustic solver ASME Turbo Expo 2012, pages GT2012-68852, Copenhagen (Denmark), June 11-12 2012.

## National Conferences

- E. Motheau, F. Nicoud, and T. Poinsot. Using boundary conditions to account for mean flow effects in a zero mach number acoustic solver - Journée des Doctorants, Groupe Français de Combustion, Ecole Centrale Paris, Paris, France, December 15 2011
- E. Motheau, F. Nicoud, and T. Poinsot. Using boundary conditions to account for mean flow effects in a zero mach number acoustic solver 3rd INCA Colloquim, Toulouse, France, November 17-18 2011

Appendices

# Appendix A

# Isentropic relations for quasi-one-dimensional flow

Following the pedagogy of Shapiro (1953) or Anderson (1990), before any derivation of equations it is convenient to introduce the concept of *stagnation* and *critical* states. If one consider a point in an arbitrary flow field, this point is moving with a certain velocity and Mach number M, and carry a certain static pressure p and temperature T. Now if one imagine that the velocity is slow down to zero, the fluid will stagnate, and for this particular state the static pressure and temperature will virtually change to their stagnation values  $p_0$  and  $T_0$ , respectively. In the same manner, is the flow is accelerated to  $M^* = 1$  from its initial state, the flow properties will take the critical values  $T^*$  and  $p^*$ . During this virtual change of the flow velocity, the process is assumed isentropic, i.e. the flow is both adiabatic and reversible. Consequently, no heat is added to the flow and there are no friction of dissipative effects.

### A.1 Stagnation relations

Starting from the first law of the thermodynamic and the definition of the entropy (see Shapiro, 1953; Anderson, 1990), one may write the following relation that express the difference between two entropy states:

$$s - s_{\rm ref} = C_v \ln\left(\frac{p}{p_{\rm ref}}\right) - C_p \ln\left(\frac{\rho}{\rho_{\rm ref}}\right) \tag{A.1}$$

The isentropic assumption assumes that  $s - s_{ref} = 0$ . From Eq. (A.1) it then comes the following useful isentropic relations:

$$\frac{p}{p_0} = \left(\frac{\rho}{\rho_0}\right)^{\gamma} \qquad ; \qquad \frac{T}{T_0} = \left(\frac{p}{p_0}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{\gamma}} \tag{A.2}$$

with  $\gamma = C_p/C_v$ . In the same manner, any change in pressure dp is accompanied by a corresponding isentropic change in density d $\rho$ , so that:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}p}{\mathrm{d}\rho} = \frac{\partial p}{\partial \rho_s} = c^2 \tag{A.3}$$

where  $c = \sqrt{\gamma p / \rho}$  is the sound speed.

All states along a streamline lie on a line of constant entropy and have the same stagnation temperature  $T_0$ . The static temperature T at any point in the flow is related to the stagnation temperature  $T_0$  by the following relation that only involves the gas constant  $\gamma$  and the Mach number M = u/c:

$$\frac{T_0}{T} = 1 + \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}M^2 \tag{A.4}$$

In the same way, introducing the relations of Eq. (A.2) into Eq. (A.4) leads to following relations between the stagnation and static states for the variables p and  $\rho$ :

$$\frac{p_0}{p} = \left(1 + \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}M^2\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{\gamma - 1}}$$
(A.5)

$$\frac{\rho_0}{\rho} = \left(1 + \frac{\gamma - 1}{2}M^2\right)^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}}$$
(A.6)

### A.2 Critical Mach number and area ratio

In the case of a quasi-one-dimensional flow, the cross-section of the streamtube that contains the flow may vary with the distance. From the law of the mass conservation formulated at Eq. (1.3), it comes the following relation:

$$\rho u A = \text{const}$$
 (A.7)

where A is the cross-section area,  $\rho$  the density and u the flow velocity. Differentiation of this latter equation and introduction of Eq. (A.3) leads to the useful area-velocity relation:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}A}{A} - \left(M^2 - 1\right)\frac{\mathrm{d}u}{u} \tag{A.8}$$

Different states depending on the Mach number M can be deduced from Eq. (A.8):

- Incompressible flow  $M \rightarrow 0$ : is the limit corresponding to incompressible flow. Eq. (A.8) reduces to Au = const.
- Subsonic flow  $0 \le M < 1$ : a decrease in velocity is associated with a decrease in area. This means that the velocity increases in a converging duct and decreases in a diverging duct.

- Supersonic flow M > 1: an increase in velocity is associated with an increase of the area, and vice versa. Contrary to subsonic flow, the velocity increases in a diverging duct and decreases in a converging duct.
- Sonic flow M = 1: Eq. (A.8) yields dA/A = 0. This mathematically corresponds to two possible cross-section area, but only the minimum value has a physical meaning: this is the sonic throat.

The sonic throat is interesting because it corresponds to the critical state  $M^*$  and its associated critical area  $A^*$ . From the mass conservation equation, this means that  $\rho uA = \rho^* u^* A^*$ . Consequently, it is possible to define a relation between the cross-section area and the Mach number:

$$\frac{A}{A^*} = \frac{1}{M} \left[ \left( \frac{2}{\gamma+1} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma-1}{2} M^2 \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2} \frac{\gamma+1}{\gamma-1}}$$
(A.9)

The Mach number at any location of the duct is a function of the ratio of the local duct area to the sonic throat.

#### A.3 Relations at a section change

If a stream tube has a section change defined by an area ratio  $A_2/A_1$ , all flow properties in the section 2 can be deduced from the properties of the section 1. From the isentropic assumption, critical and stagnation properties do not vary during the section change, so that for example:

$$\frac{A_2}{A_1} = \frac{(A/A^*)_2}{(A/A^*)_1} \quad ; \quad \frac{T_2}{T_1} = \frac{(T/T_0)_2}{(T/T_0)_1} \quad ; \quad \frac{p_2}{p_1} = \frac{(p/p_0)_2}{(p/p_0)_1} \tag{A.10}$$

Finally, one can express the direct relations between state variables in section 2 from their values in section 1. These relations are directly used in Sec. 1.4 for the computation of the acoustic eigenmodes in the configuration where two tubes with different section area are connected each other.

$$T_2 = T_1 \left[ \frac{1 + \frac{1}{2} (\gamma - 1) M_1^2}{1 + \frac{1}{2} (\gamma - 1) M_2^2} \right]$$
(A.11)

$$p_2 = p_1 \left[ \frac{1 + \frac{1}{2}(\gamma - 1)M_1^2}{1 + \frac{1}{2}(\gamma - 1)M_2^2} \right]^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}}$$
(A.12)

$$\rho_2 = \rho_1 \left[ \frac{1 + \frac{1}{2} (\gamma - 1) M_1^2}{1 + \frac{1}{2} (\gamma - 1) M_2^2} \right]^{\frac{1}{\gamma - 1}}$$
(A.13)

The Mach number  $M_2$  in the section 2 can not directly be expressed as a function of  $M_1$ . From Eq. (A.9) and using the relation  $\frac{A_2}{A_1} = \frac{(A/A^*)_2}{(A/A^*)_1}$ , it comes the following reformulation:

$$\frac{1}{M_2} \left[ \left( \frac{2}{\gamma+1} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma-1}{2} M_2^2 \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2} \frac{\gamma+1}{\gamma-1}} - \frac{A_2}{A_1} \frac{1}{M_1} \left[ \left( \frac{2}{\gamma+1} \right) \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma-1}{2} M_1^2 \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{2} \frac{\gamma+1}{\gamma-1}} = 0 \quad (A.14)$$

The Mach number  $M_2$  can be found by solving the roots of Eq. (A.14) with the help of a Newton-Raphson method (Moler, 2004). Two peculiarities must be noted:

- For a given Mach number  $M_1$  and a given area ratio  $A_2/A_1$ , there are either two solutions for the final state of  $M_2$ : one is subsonic, the other is supersonic. In the particular case studied in §1.4, there are no sonic throat and the flow is subsonic everywhere.
- When  $A_2$  is smaller than  $A_1$ , for certain values of  $M_1$  there are no solutions for  $M_2$ . Physically this signifies that for given conditions at section 1, there is a maximum contraction which is possible and corresponds to the sonic velocity at section 2. Hence in the subsonic flow there is a maximum initial Mach number that can be maintained. This phenomena is called choking.

# Appendix B

# About the active flame model and the evaluation of $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$ fields

The AVSP code solves numerically as an eigenvalue problem the inhomogeneous Helmholtz equation described at Eq. (2.41) and reproduced here as follow:

$$\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) \,\overline{p} \,\nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})} \nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})\right) + \omega^2 \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) = j\omega\left(\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1\right) \hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}) \tag{B.1}$$

where the sound speed  $\overline{c}$ , the mass density  $\overline{\rho}$  and the heat capacity ratio  $\gamma$  are local variables. In order to close the problem, the flame that constitutes a forcing source is often modelled as a purely acoustic element thanks to a  $n - \tau$  type of model (Crocco, 1952):

$$\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}) = n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}$$
(B.2)

where  $\mathbf{n}_{ref}$  and  $\mathbf{x}_{ref}$  are the normal and the reference point, while  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}$  is the fluctuating velocity vector.

$$\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) \,\overline{p} \,\nabla \cdot \left(\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x})} \nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x})\right) + \omega^2 \,\hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}) = (\gamma(\boldsymbol{x}) - 1) \,n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x}) e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})} \frac{\nabla \hat{p}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}}{\overline{\rho}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})}$$
(B.3)

The fields  $n_{local}$  [J/m<sup>4</sup>] and  $\tau_{local}$  [s] are dependent on space and frequency. The modelling of the flame is the most important part as it directly has an influence on the results, especially on the stability of a thermoacoustic eigenmode. Most of the models rely on a global description of the flame, connecting the global rate of heat release to the fluctuations of velocity in the fresh gas upstream of the flame:

$$\hat{Q} = n_g \hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) e^{j\omega\tau_g} \cdot \boldsymbol{n}_{ref}$$
(B.4)

In the latter expression, the term  $\hat{Q}$  [W] represents the fluctuations of heat release rate integrated over the total volume,  $n_g$  and  $\tau_g$  are parameters representative of the amplitude and time delay of the flame response. Their unit are [J/m] and [s], respectively.

The global model described at Eq. (B.4) is only justified in the case of a compact flame (the thickness of the flame is smaller than the wavelength of the eigenmode), which is not the most general case. The alternative, more consistent with Eq. (2.41), is to use a local flame model that allows to write a flame transfer function for each point of the domain, like Eq. (B.2). The relation between the global and local formulations is given by the relation between the global heat release rate  $\hat{Q}$  and the heat release rate by volume unit  $\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})$ , as follow:

$$\hat{Q} = \int_{V_f} \hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref}) \, \mathrm{d}V \tag{B.5}$$

where  $V_f$  is the volume of the flame.

Three possible scenario arise depending upon the origin of the data characterising the flame response:

#### **B.1** From experimental measurements

In some cases, one should want to use experimental data. The experiments allow to measure the global characteristics of the flame response, i.e.  $n_g$  and  $\tau_g$ , but do not give any informations on the local information. One must check with the experimenters that the given values of  $n_g$  are consistent with Eq. (B.4). Indeed, experimenters often use another  $N_g$  defined by  $\hat{Q} = \overline{Q} \frac{\hat{u}}{\overline{u}} N_g e^{j\omega\tau_g}$  where  $N_g$  is made non-dimensional. As the time delay is generally not a problem, the interaction index must be checked. If experimenters give  $N_g$ , hence  $n_g = N_g \overline{\frac{Q}{\overline{u}}}$  where  $\overline{Q}$  must be given by experimenters and corresponds to the total heat release of the burner (in [W]).

The use of Eqs. (B.2), (B.4) and (B.5) allows to write the relation between the fields  $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$  and  $n_g$  and  $\tau_g$ :

$$\int_{V_f} n_{local}(\mathbf{x}) e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\mathbf{x})} dx = n_g e^{j\omega\tau_g}$$
(B.6)

Of course it exists an infinity of  $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$  fields that satisfy this latter relation. One solution is to suppose that  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  are 0 everywhere except in the flame zone where they are constant. This assumption leads to:

$$n_{local} = \frac{n_g}{V_f} \tag{B.7}$$

$$\tau_{local} = \tau_g \quad \text{if } x \in V_f \tag{B.8}$$

### B.2 From a theoretical model

The analytical model of Crocco (1952) for an infinitely thin 1D flame is:

$$\hat{Q} = S_f \frac{\gamma \overline{p}}{\gamma - 1} n_{crocco} \hat{\mathbf{u}}(\mathbf{x}_{ref}) e^{j\omega\tau_{crocco}} \cdot \mathbf{n}_{ref}$$
(B.9)

where  $S_f$  is the flame surface and  $\overline{p}$  the mean pressure. Similarly to the procedure described for the experimental case, the use of Eqs. (B.2), (B.4) and (B.9) leads to:

$$S_f \frac{\gamma P_0}{\gamma - 1} n_{crocco} e^{j\omega\tau_{crocco}} = \int_{V_f} n_{local} e^{j\omega\tau_{local}} dx$$
(B.10)

$$= S_f \delta_f n_{local} e^{j\omega\tau_{local}} \tag{B.11}$$

Hence, it comes the following expressions for  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$ :

$$n_{local} = \frac{\gamma P_0}{\gamma - 1} \frac{1}{\delta_f} n_{Crocco} \tag{B.12}$$

$$\tau_{local} = \tau_{crocco} \quad \text{if } x \in V_f \tag{B.13}$$

where  $\delta_f$  is the flame effective thickness solved by the AVSP code and  $V_f = S_f \delta_f$  is the flame volume in the simulation.

### **B.3** From a LES computation

In this case a LES computation of either a forced flame or an auto-sustained flame can be used. The fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  can be directly extracted from a series of snapshots sufficiently time resolved. From Eq. (B.2) it comes:

$$F(\boldsymbol{x},\omega) = \frac{\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})}{\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})} = n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})e^{j\omega\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x})}$$
(B.14)

Hence,

$$n_{local}(\boldsymbol{x}) = |F(\boldsymbol{x},\omega)| \tag{B.15}$$

$$\tau_{local}(\boldsymbol{x}) = \frac{\phi(\boldsymbol{x},\omega)}{\Re(\omega)} \qquad \text{if} \qquad \frac{\Im(F(\boldsymbol{x},\omega))}{|F(\boldsymbol{x},\omega)|} < 0 \qquad (B.16)$$

$$= \frac{2\pi - \phi(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega)}{\Re(\omega)} \quad \text{if} \quad \frac{\Im(F(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega))}{|F(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega)|} \ge 0 \quad (B.17)$$

with  $\phi(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega) = \arccos\left(\frac{\Re(F(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega))}{|F(\boldsymbol{x}, \omega)|}\right)$ 

Note that the main difficulty is to compute the complex values of  $\hat{q}(\boldsymbol{x})$  and  $\hat{\mathbf{u}}(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref})$ . This can be done by performing a Fourier transform of the recorded signals of  $q'(\boldsymbol{x},t)$  and  $u'(\boldsymbol{x}_{ref},t)$  at the frequency of interest. However the use of a Fourier transform rises two problems:

- the total length time of the recorded signals needs to be significant so as to provide enough unstable cycles. When a flame transfer function is sought for a low-frequency phenomena, this can lead to a high computational cost.
- the frequency at which the flame transfer function is computed needs to be known *a priori*. This is not a problem in the case of a flame that reacts linearly to an acoustic forcing, but in the case of an auto-sustained unstable flame the frequency is not necessarily known.

An alternative to the Fourier transform technique is to use the Dynamic Mode Decomposition (see Sec. 3.3). The DMD addresses the two problems cited above, because this method gives relevant results even when only a few period are considered (see Schmid, 2010), and the frequency is a result and does not need to be known *a priori*.

# **B.3.1** Validation of the computation of $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$ fields from the DMD analysis

The following section is devoted to the validation of a numerical tool developed in the present thesis to compute the  $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$  fields from the DMD. A 2D premixed flame is pulsated at the frequency of 1000 Hz. The fields of  $n_{local} - \tau_{local}$  are computed from a DMD analysis and compared to the current AVBP tool which relies on the classical Fourier transform method.



#### Figure B.1 - Geometry and boundary conditions of the 2D flame configuration.

The computational domain is depicted in Fig.B.1. A static pressure of 100000 Pa is imposed at the outlet boundary condition. At the inlet a mixture of propane and air

is injected within stoichiometric proportions  $(Y_{C3H8} = 0.06, Y_{O2} = 0.219, Y_{N2} = 0.72)$ at a temperature of T = 300 K. The inlet velocity is imposed with the following profile  $u_{inlet}(y) = u_0 (1 - y^2/y_0^2)$  with  $u_0 = 4$  m/s and  $y_0 = 0.65$  mm. The flame is forced by a pulsation of amplitude 0.4 m/s and frequency 1000 Hz is introduced at the inlet velocity.

The time step between each recorded snapshot is  $0.1e^{-4}$  ms. The DMD is performed over a base constructed with 300 snapshots, i.e. 3 periods. For the The Fourier transform method the signals are recorded over 30 periods. Results are depicted in Figs. B.2 and B.3. As expected the fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$  are exactly the same.

This simple test case proves that the DMD can be used for the computation of the fields of  $n_{local}$  and  $\tau_{local}$ . Results are relevant for a snapshot database that contains a few periods. The frequency does not need to be known *a priori* and is a result of the DMD analysis.



**Figure B.2** - Fields of  $n_{local}$  at 1000 Hz computed with the Fourier transform method (top) and the DMD (bottom).

About the active flame model and the evaluation of  $n_{local}$  –  $\tau_{local}$  fields

## Fourier transform method



# **DMD** method



**Figure B.3** - Fields of  $\tau_{local}$  at 1000 Hz computed with the Fourier transform method (top) and the DMD (bottom).

# Appendix C

# **Discretisation procedures**

This appendix is devoted to the details of the discretisation of the operator  $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla)$  applied to any node of the mesh denoted j. The AVSP code relies on a volume finite formulation and the discrete values of the pressure field are stocked at the nodes of the mesh. The pressure gradients are computed at the center of each element. Two situations are considered:

- the node *j* is located inside the domain;
- the node j is located at a boundary of the domain.

Note that only the case in 2D is considered, the extension to 3D follows the same procedures.

### C.1 Evaluation of $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p}|_j$ for a node *j* inside the domain

As depicted in Fig. C.1 the node j is surrounded by 6 elements  $\Omega_{ei}$ , with i = 1...6 the number of the element. A dual cell  $\Omega_{Nj}$  with an associated volume  $S_{Nj}$  is virtually created by connecting the centroid of each element  $\Omega_{ei}$ , the node j being the center of  $\Omega_{Nj}$ . In the element  $\Omega_{ei}$  the normals  $\mathbf{n}_{i1}$  and  $\mathbf{n}_{i2}$  are facing outward while  $l_{i1}$  and  $l_{i2}$  are the lengths of the vertices connecting the centroid of  $\Omega_{ei}$  and the midpoints.

The discrete value of  $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p}$  at the node j is computed by averaging over the dual cell:

$$\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla) \,\hat{p}|_{j} = \frac{1}{S_{Nj}} \int \int_{\Omega_{Nj}} \nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla) \,\hat{p} \,\mathrm{d}S \tag{C.1}$$

The Green-Ostrogradsky theorem allows to express the volume integral as a surface inte-



Figure C.1 - Schematic representation of a dual cell (in grey) surrounding a node j.



**Figure C.2** - Schematic representation of a generic element  $\Omega_{ei}$ .



**Figure C.3** - Computation of  $\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}}$  over a generic element  $\Omega_{ei}$ . The values of the pressure field is stocked at the nodes j, i and i + 1.

gral of the fluxes leaving the volume:

$$\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla) \,\hat{p}|_{j} = \frac{1}{S_{Nj}} \int_{\delta\Omega_{Nj}} 1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla \hat{p} \cdot \mathbf{n} \,\mathrm{d}L \tag{C.2}$$

In the 2D case depicted in Fig. C.2 this latter equation may be reformulated to:

$$\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla) \,\hat{p}|_{j} = \frac{1}{S_{Nj}} \sum_{i=1}^{6} 1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{ei}} \,\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}} \cdot (l_{i1}\mathbf{n}_{i1} + l_{i2}\mathbf{n}_{i2}) \tag{C.3}$$

Application of the Thalès theorem leads to  $l_{i1}\mathbf{n}_{i1} + l_{i2}\mathbf{n}_{i2} = 1/2L_i\mathbf{n}_i$ . Eq. (C.3) then simplifies to the following relation:

$$\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \,\nabla) \,\hat{p}|_{j} = \frac{1}{S_{Nj}} \sum_{i=1}^{6} 1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{ei}} \,\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} L_{i} \mathbf{n}_{i} \tag{C.4}$$

Following the notations depicted in Fig. C.3, the pressure gradient  $\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}}$  is computed by averaging over each element  $\Omega_{ei}$ :

$$\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}} = \frac{1}{S_{\Omega_{ei}}} \int_{\Omega_{ei}} p \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}L \tag{C.5}$$

As the values of the pressure are stocked at the nodes of each elements, it comes the following relation:

$$\frac{1}{S_{\Omega_{ei}}} \int_{\Omega_{ei}} p \mathbf{n} \, \mathrm{d}L = \frac{1}{S_{\Omega_{ei}}} \left[ \frac{(p_j + p_{i+1})L_{ei2}}{2} \mathbf{n}_{ei2} + \frac{(p_j + p_i)L_{ei1}}{2} \mathbf{n}_{ei1} + \frac{(p_i + p_{i+1})L_{ei2}}{2} \mathbf{n}_i \right]$$
(C.6)

Then the pressure gradient takes the expression:

$$\nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{ei}} = \frac{1}{2S_{\Omega_{ei}}} \left[ p_i L_{ei2} \mathbf{n}_{ei2} + p_j L_i \mathbf{n}_i + p_{i+1} L_{ei1} \mathbf{n}_{ei1} \right]$$
(C.7)

Note that the values of  $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p}|_j$  are stocked in the matrix  $\mathcal{A}$  in Eq. (2.56).



**Figure C.4** - Schematic representation of a dual cell (in grey) surrounding a node j located on a boundary.

# C.2 Evaluation of $\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \nabla) \hat{p}|_j$ for a node j on the boundary of the domain

The case where a node j is located at a boundary differs to interior case in the sense that the dual cell is truncated. The node j is then surrounded by three elements only. The pressure gradient may be expressed with the help of the impedance. This is the so-called Robin boundary condition. The Eq. (2.53) is recalled here in the formalism of the node j:

$$\nabla \hat{p} \cdot \mathbf{n}|_j = \frac{j\omega}{\bar{c}_j Z_j} \hat{p}_j \tag{C.8}$$

Application of Eq. (C.4) over the three elements surrounding the node j leads to:

$$\nabla \cdot (1/\overline{\rho} \ \nabla) \hat{p}|_{j} = \frac{1}{S_{Nj}} [1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{e1}} \nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e1}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} L_{1} \mathbf{n}_{1} \\ + \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}}|_{\Omega_{e2}} \nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e2}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} L_{2} \mathbf{n}_{2} + \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}}|_{\Omega_{e3}} \nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e3}} \cdot \frac{1}{2} L_{3} \mathbf{n}_{3} \\ - \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}}|_{\Omega_{e1}} \nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e1}} \cdot l_{13} \mathbf{n} - \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}}|_{\Omega_{e3}} \nabla \hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e3}} \cdot l_{33} \mathbf{n} ]$$

$$(C.9)$$

From Eq. (C.8) it comes:

$$1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{e1}}\nabla\hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e1}}\cdot l_{13}\mathbf{n} - 1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{e3}}\nabla\hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e3}}\cdot l_{33}\mathbf{n} = \frac{1}{\overline{\rho}_j\overline{c}_j}\left(\frac{j\omega}{Z_j}\hat{p}_j\right)(l_{13}+l_{33}) \tag{C.10}$$

Note that Eq. (C.10) is stocked into the diagonal matrix  $\mathcal{B}$  in Eq. (2.56). For the Delayed Entropy Coupled Boundary Condition (DECBC), Eq. (C.10) takes the following form:

$$\frac{1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{e1}}\nabla\hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e1}}\cdot l_{13}\mathbf{n} - 1/\overline{\rho}|_{\Omega_{e3}}\nabla\hat{p}|_{\Omega_{e3}}\cdot l_{33}\mathbf{n}}{=\frac{1}{\overline{\rho}_{j}\overline{c}_{j}}\left(\frac{j\omega}{Z_{j}}\hat{p}_{j} + R_{SA}\frac{Z_{j}-1}{Z_{j}}G_{us}G_{c}e^{j\omega(\tau_{us}+\tau_{c})}\frac{\nabla\hat{p}_{\mathrm{ref}}}{\overline{\rho}_{j_{\mathrm{ref}}}}\right)(l_{13}+l_{33})$$
(C.11)
## Bibliography

- ABOUSEIF, G. E., KEKLAK, J. A. & TOONG, T. Y. 1984 Ramjet rumble: The lowfrequency instability mechanism in coaxial dump combustors. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* 36 (1-2), 83–108. 12
- AGARWAL, A., MORRIS, P. J. & MANI, R. 2004 Calculation of sound propagation in nonuniform flows: suppression of instability waves. *AIAA Journal* **42**, 80–88. 8
- ANDERSON, J. D. 1990 Modern Compressible Flow. New York: McGraw-Hill. 32, 113
- ANNASWAMY, A.M. & GHONIEM, A.F. 2002 Active control of combustion instability: theory and practice. *Control Systems, IEEE* **22** (6), 37–54. 5
- ANNASWAMY, A. M., FLEIFIL, M., HATHOUT, J. P. & GHONIEM, A. F. 1997 Impact of linear coupling on the design of active controllers for the thermoacoustic instability. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* **128** (1-6), 131–180. 5
- BAKE, F., RICHTER, C., MUHLBAUER, B., KINGS, N., ROHLE, I., THIELE, F. & NOLL, B. 2009 The entropy wave generator (ewg): a reference case on entropy noise. J. Sound Vib. pp. 574–598. 11
- BALACHANDRAN, R., AYOOLA, B. O., KAMINSKI, C. F., DOWLING, A. P. & MAS-TORAKOS, E. 2005 Experimental investigation of the nonlinear response of turbulent premixed flames to imposed inlet velocity oscillations. *Combust. Flame* **143** (1-2), 37 - 55. 6
- BALASUBRAMANIAN, K. & SUJITH, R. I. 2008 Thermoacoustic instability in a rijke tube: Non-normality and nonlinearity. *Phys. Fluids* **20** (4), 044103. 6
- BARRÈRE, M. & WILLIAMS, F.A. 1969 Comparison of combustion instabilities found in various types of combustion chambers. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* **12** (1), 169 181. 4
- BATCHELOR, G. K. 1967 An introduction to fluid dynamics. Cambridge university press. 21
- BELL, W., DANIEL, B. & ZINN, B. 1973 Experimental and theoretical determination of the admittances of a family of nozzles subjected to axial instabilities. J. Sound Vib. 30 (2), 179–190. 12
- BLOXSIDGE, G., DOWLING, A., HOOPER, N. & LANGHORNE, P. 1988 Active control of reheat buzz. AIAA Journal 26, 783–790. 5, 11, 22

- BLOY, A. W. 1979 The pressure waves produced by the convection of temperature disturbances in high subsonic nozzle flows. J. Fluid Mech. 94, 465–475. 12
- BODONY, D. J. 2009 Scattering of an entropy disturbance into sound by a symmetric thin body. *Phys. Fluids* **21** (9), 096101. 13
- BOHN, D. A. 1988 Environmental effects on the speed of sound. J. Audio Eng. Soc **36** (4), 223–231. 18
- BOHN, M.S. 1977 Response of a subsonic nozzle to acoustic and entropy disturbances. J. Sound Vib. 52 (2), 283 – 297. 12
- BOIJ, S. 2009 Flow effects on the acoustic end correction of a sudden in-duct area expansion. J. Acous. Soc. Am. 126 (3), 995–1004. 43
- BREAR, M. J., NICOUD, F., TALEI, M., GIAUQUE, A. & HAWKES, E. R. 2012 Disturbance energy transport and sound production in gaseous combustion. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics* 707, 53–73. 23
- CANDEL, S. 2002 Combustion dynamics and control: progress and challenges. Proc. Combust. Inst. 29 (1), 1–28. 4, 5
- CANDEL, S., DUROX, D., DUCRUIX, S., BIRBAUD, A.L., NOIRAY, N. & SCHULLER, T. 2009 Flame dynamics and combustion noise : progress and challenges. Int. J. Aeroacoustics 8, 1–56. 4, 11
- CANDEL, S., DUROX, D., SCHULLER, T., DARABIHA, N., HAKIM, L. & SCHMITT, T. 2013 Advances in combustion and propulsion applications. *European Journal of Mechanics - B/Fluids* **40** (0), 87 – 106. 1, 4
- CANDEL, S. M. 1975 Acoustic conservation principles and an application to plane and modal propagation in nozzles and diffusers. J. Sound Vib. 41 (2), 207 232. 23
- CANTRELL, R. H. & HART, R. W. 1964 Interaction between sound and flow in acoustic cavities: Mass, momentum, and energy considerations. J. Acous. Soc. Am. 36, 697. 21, 24
- CHEDEVERGNE, F., CASALIS, G. & MAJDALANI, J. 2012 Direct numerical simulation and biglobal stability investigations of the gaseous motion in solid rocket motors. J. Fluid Mech. 706, 190–218. 12
- CHEN, K. K., TU, J. H. & ROWLEY, C. W. 2012 Variants of dynamic mode decomposition: Boundary condition, koopman, and fourier analyses. *Journal of Nonlinear Science* 22 (6), 887–915. 80
- CHU, B. T. 1965 On the energy transfer to small disturbances in fluid flow (part i). Acta Mechanica pp. 215–234. 21, 23
- COLIN, O., DUCROS, F., VEYNANTE, D. & POINSOT, T. 2000 A thickened flame model for large eddy simulations of turbulent premixed combustion. *Phys. Fluids* **12** (7), 1843–1863. 69

- COLIN, O. & RUDGYARD, M. 2000 Development of high-order taylor-galerkin schemes for unsteady calculations. J. Comput. Phys. 162 (2), 338–371. 69
- CROCCO, L. 1952 Aspects of combustion instability in liquid propellant rocket motors. part II. J. American Rocket Society 22, 7–16. 8, 9, 51, 59, 93, 117, 119
- CULICK, F. E. C. & KUENTZMANN, P. 2006 Unsteady Motions in Combustion Chambers for Propulsion Systems. NATO Research and Technology Organization. 4, 11
- CUMPSTY, N. A. & MARBLE, F. E. 1977 The interaction of entropy fluctuations with turbine blade rows; a mechanism of turbojet engine noise. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. A* **357**, 323–344. 11
- DAVIES, P. O A. L. 1987 Plane wave reflection at flow intakes. J. Sound Vib. 115 (3), 560 564. 19
- DAVIES, P. O. A. L. 1988 Practical flow duct acoustics. J. Sound Vib. 124 (1), 91–115. 34
- DAVIES, P. O. A. L., COELHO, J. L. BENTO & BHATTACHARYA, M. 1980 Reflection coefficients for an unflanged pipe with flow. J. Sound Vib. 72 (4), 543 546. 19
- DEGOEY, L., VANOIJEN, J.A., KORNILOV, V.N. & TENTHIJEBOONKKAMP, J.H.M. 2011 Propagation, dynamics and control of laminar premixed flames. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* **33**, 863–886. 4, 11
- DOAK, P.E. 1998 Fluctuating total enthalpy as the basic generalized acoustic field. *Theoret. Comput. Fluid Dynamics* **10** (1), 115–133. 20
- DOWLING, A. P. 1995 The calculation of thermoacoustic oscillations. J. Sound Vib. 180 (4), 557–581. 8, 47, 51
- DOWLING, A. P. & MORGANS, A. S. 2005 Feedback control of combustion oscillations. Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech. 37 (1), 151–182. 5
- DOWLING, A. P. & STOW, S. R. 2003 Acoustic Analysis of Gas Turbine Combustors. J. Prop. Power 19 (5), 751–764. 13, 67
- DUCRUIX, S., SCHULLER, T., DUROX, D. & CANDEL, S. 2003 Combustion dynamics and instabilities: elementary coupling and driving mechanisms. J. Prop. Power 19 (5), 722–734. 4, 11
- DUPÈRE, I. D. J. & DOWLING, A. P. 2001 The absorption of sound near abrupt axisymmetric area expansions. J. Sound Vib. 239 (4), 709 730. 20
- DUPÈRE, I. D. J. & DOWLING, A. P. 2005 The use of helmholtz resonators in a practical combustor. J. Eng. Gas Turb. and Power 127 (2), 268–275, 10.1115/1.1806838. 5
- DURAN, I. & MOREAU, S. 2013 Solution of the quasi-one-dimensional linearized euler equations using flow invariants and the magnus expansion. J. Fluid Mech. 723, 190– 231. 10, 12, 24, 86, 92, 93, 95, 99

- DURAN, I., MOREAU, S. & POINSOT, T. 2013 Analytical and numerical study of combustion noise through a subsonic nozzle. AIAA Journal 51 (1), 42–52. 11, 13
- DUROX, D., SCHULLER, T. & CANDEL, S. 2005 Combustion dynamics of inverted conical flames. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* **30** (2), 1717 1724. 8
- DUROX, D., SCHULLER, T., NOIRAY, N. & CANDEL, S. 2009 Experimental analysis of nonlinear flame transfer functions for different flame geometries. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* 32 (1), 1391–1398. 8
- DURRIEU, P., HOFMANS, G., AJELLO, G., BOOT, R., AUREGAN, Y., HIRSCHBERG, A. & PETERS, M. C. A. M. 2001 Quasisteady aero-acoustic response of orifices. J. Acous. Soc. Am. 110 (4), 1859–1872. 43
- ECHEKKI, T. & CHEN, J. H. 2003 Direct numerical simulation of autoignition in nonhomogeneous hydrogen-air mixtures. *Combust. Flame* **134** (3), 169 – 191. 6
- ECKSTEIN, J., FREITAG, E., HIRSCH, C. & SATTELMAYER, T. 2006 Experimental study on the role of entropy waves in low-frequency oscillations in a rql combustor. *J. Eng. Gas Turb. and Power* **128** (2), 264–270. 13
- ELDREDGE, J. D. & DOWLING, A. P. 2003 The absorption of axial acoustic waves by a perforated liner with bias flow. J. Fluid Mech. 485, 307–355. 20
- FFOWCS-WILLIAMS, J. E. & HOWE, M. S. 1975 The generation of sound by density inhomogeneities in low mach number nozzle flows. J. Fluid Mech. **70** (03), 605–622. 11, 12, 45
- FRANZELLI, B., RIBER, E., SANJOSÉ, M. & POINSOT, T. 2010 A two-step chemical scheme for Large-Eddy Simulation of kerosene-air flames. *Combust. Flame* 157 (7), 1364–1373. 70
- GIAUQUE, A., HUET, M., CLERO, F., RICHECOEUR, F. & DUCRUIX, S. 2013 Thermoacoustic shape optimization of a subsonic nozzle. J. Eng. Gas Turb. and Power 135 (10), 102601. 105
- GIAUQUE, A., POINSOT, T. & NICOUD, F. 2008 Validation of a flame transfer function reconstruction method for complex turbulent configurations. 14th AIAA/CEAS Aeroacoustics Conference (29th AIAA Aeroacoustics Conference). 8
- GICQUEL, L.Y.M., STAFFELBACH, G. & POINSOT, T. 2012 Large eddy simulations of gaseous flames in gas turbine combustion chambers. *Prog. Energy Comb. Sci.* 38 (6), 782 - 817. 7, 13
- GOH, C. S. & MORGANS, A. S. 2011 Phase prediction of the response of choked nozzles to entropy and acoustic disturbances. J. Sound Vib. **330** (21), 5184–5198. 12
- GOH, C. S. & MORGANS, A. S. 2013 The influence of entropy waves on the thermoacoustic stability of a model combustor. *Combustion Science and Technology* 185 (2), 249–268. 13, 54

- GOLDSTEIN, M. E. 2003 A generalized acoustic analogy. J. Fluid Mech. 488, 315–333. 19
- GULLAUD, E., MENDEZ, S., SENSIAU, C., NICOUD, F. & POINSOT, T. 2009 Effect of multiperforated plates on the acoustic modes in combustors. C. R. Acad. Sci. Mécanique 337 (6-7), 406–414. 9
- HAWKES, E. R & CHEN, J. H. 2004 Direct numerical simulation of hydrogen-enriched lean premixed methane-air flames. *Combust. Flame* **138** (3), 242 258. 6
- HELMHOLTZ, H. 1877 On the sensations of tone. Dover, New York, 1954. 18
- HIELD, P., BREAR, M. & JIN, S.H. 2009 Thermoacoustic limit cycles in a premixed laboratory combustor with open and choked exits. *Combust. Flame* pp. 1683–1697. 13
- HOCHGREB, S., DENNIS, D. J. C., AYRANCI, I., BAINBRIDGE, W. & CANT, S. 2013 Forced and self-excited instabilities from lean premixed, liquid-fuelled aeroengine injectors at high pressures and temperatures. In *Proceedings of ASME Turbo Expo 2013 -GT2013-9531*. 13
- HOFMANS, G.C.J., BOOT, R.J.J., DURRIEU, P.P.J.M., AUREGAN, Y. & HIRSCHBERG, A. 2001 Aeroacoustic response of a slit-shaped diaphragm in a pipe at low Helmholtz number, 1: Quasi-steady results. J. Sound Vib. 244 (1), 35 – 56. 20
- HOWE, M. S. 1975 Contributions to the theory of aerodynamic sound, with application to excess jet noise and the theory of the flute. J. Fluid Mech. 71 (04), 625–673. 11, 19, 20, 45
- HOWE, M. S. 2003 Theory of vortex sound. Cambridge University Press. 18
- HOWE, M. S. 2010 Indirect combustion noise. J. Fluid Mech. 659, 267-288. 11
- HUANG, YING & YANG, VIGOR 2009 Dynamics and stability of lean-premixed swirlstabilized combustion. Prog. Energy Comb. Sci. 35 (4), 293–364. 3, 4, 11
- HUGHES, I. J. & DOWLING, A. P. 1990 The absorption of sound by perforated linings. J. Fluid Mech. 218, 299–335. 11
- INGARD, U. & SINGHAL, V. K. 1975 Effect of flow on the acoustic resonances of an open-ended duct. J. Acous. Soc. Am. 58 (4), 788–793. 18, 19
- JUNIPER, M. P. 2011 Triggering in the horizontal rijke tube: non-normality, transient growth and bypass transition. J. Fluid Mech. 667, 272–308. 6
- KARIMI, N., BREAR, M.J., JIN, S.-H. & MONTY, J.P. 2009 Linear and non-linear forced response of a conical, ducted, laminar premixed flame. *Combust. Flame* pp. 2201–2212. 12
- KARLSSON, M. & ÅBOM, M. 2010 Aeroacoustics of t-junctions an experimental investigation. J. Sound Vib. 329 (10), 1793 – 1808. 20

- KELLER, J. J. 1995 Thermoacoustic oscillations in combustion chambers of gas turbines. AIAA Journal 33 (12), 2280–2287. 13
- KELLER, J. J., EGLI, W. & HELLAT, J. 1985 Thermally induced low-frequency oscillations. Zeitschrift für angewandte Mathematik und Physik ZAMP 36, 250–274. 12
- KIM, K. T. & HOCHGREB, S. 2012 Effects of nonuniform reactant stoichiometry on thermoacoustic instability in a lean-premixed gas turbine combustor. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* 184 (5), 608–628. 8
- KIM, K. T., LEE, J. G., QUAY, B. D. & SANTAVICCA, D. A. 2010 Response of partially premixed flames to acoustic velocity and equivalence ratio perturbations. *Combust. Flame* 157 (9), 1731 – 1744. 12
- KORNILOV, V., ROOK, R., TEN THIJE BOONKKAMP, J. & DE GOEY, L. 2009 Experimental and numerical investigation of the acoustic response of multi-slit bunsen burners. *Combust. Flame* pp. 1957–1970. 12
- KORNILOV, V.N., SCHREEL, K.R.A.M. & DE GOEY, L.P.H. 2007 Experimental assessment of the acoustic response of laminar premixed bunsen flames. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* 31 (1), 1239 – 1246. 8
- KOTAKE, S. 1975 On combustion noise related to chemical reactions. J. Sound Vib. 42, 399–410. 4
- LAMARQUE, N. & POINSOT, T. 2008 Boundary conditions for acoustic eigenmodes computation in gas turbine combustion chambers. AIAA Journal 46 (9), 2282–2292. 10, 24, 43
- LANDAU, L. & LIFCHITZ, E. 1987 Fluid Mechanics. Vol. 6 (2nd ed.). Butterworth-Heinemann. 21
- LAWN, C. J., EVESQUE, S. & POLIFKE, W. 2004 A model for the thermoacoustic response of a premixed swirl burner, part i: Acoustic aspects. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* **176** (8), 1331–1358. 12
- LECONTE, JOHN 1858 On the influence of musical sounds on the flame of a jet of coal-gas. *Philosophical Magazine Series* 4 15 (99), 235–239. 4
- LEYKO, M., MOREAU, S., NICOUD, F. & POINSOT, T. 2011 Numerical and analytical modelling of entropy noise in a supersonic nozzle with a shock. *J. Sound Vib.* **330** (16, 1), 3944–3958. 11
- LIEUWEN, T. 2003 Modeling premixed combustion-acoustic wave interactions: A review. J. Prop. Power 19 (5), 765–781. 4
- LIEUWEN, T. & YANG, V. 2005 Combustion Instabilities in Gas Turbine Engines: Operational Experience, Fundamental Mechanisms, and Modeling. AIAA Prog. in Astronautics and Aeronautics. 3, 11

- LIGHTHILL, M. J. 1952 On sound generated aerodynamically: I. General theory. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.* **211** (1107), 564–587. 19
- LIGHTHILL, M. J. 1954 On sound generated aerodynamically: II. Turbulence as a source of sound. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond.* **222**, 1–32. 19
- LILLEY, G. M. 1974 On the noise from jets. Agard cp-131. 19
- MACQUISTEN, M. A. & DOWLING, A. P. 1994 Low-frequency combustion oscillations in a model afterburner. *Combust. Flame* **94** (4), 253–264. **12**
- MARBLE, F. E. & CANDEL, S. 1977 Acoustic disturbances from gas nonuniformities convected through a nozzle. J. Sound Vib. 55, 225–243. 5, 10, 11, 12, 45, 49, 61
- MARIAPPAN, S. & SUJITH, R. I. 2011 Modelling nonlinear thermoacoustic instability in an electrically heated rijke tube. J. Fluid Mech. 680, 511–533. 6
- MCMANUS, K., POINSOT, T. & CANDEL, S. 1993 A review of active control of combustion instabilities. *Prog. Energy Comb. Sci.* 19, 1–29. 5, 11
- MENDEZ, S. & ELDREDGE, J. 2009 Acoustic modeling of perforated plates with bias flow for large-eddy simulations. J. Comput. Phys. 228 (13), 4757–4772. 11
- MENDEZ, S. & NICOUD, F. 2008a Adiabatic homogeneous model for flow around a multiperforated plate. AIAA Journal 46 (10), 2623–2633. 70
- MENDEZ, S. & NICOUD, F. 2008b Large-eddy simulation of a bi-periodic turbulent flow with effusion. J. Fluid Mech. 598, 27–65. 70
- MEYER, E., NEUMANN, E. & TAYLOR, J. 1972 Physical and applied acoustics: an introduction. Academic Press. 18
- MILES, J. H. 2010 Separating direct and indirect turbofan engine combustion noise using the correlation function. *Journal of propulsion and power* **26** (5), 1144–1152. 11
- MOASE, W. H., BREAR, M. J. & MANZIE, C. 2007 The forced response of choked nozzles and supersonic diffusers. J. Fluid Mech. 585, 281–304. 12
- MOLER, C. B. 2004 Numerical computing with MATLAB. Society for Industrial Mathematics. 116
- MORFEY, C. L. 1971 Acoustic energy in non-uniform flows. J. Sound Vib. 14 (2), 159 - 170. 21, 22
- MORFEY, C. L. 1973 Amplification of aerodynamic noise by convected flow inhomogeneities. J. Sound Vib. 31, 391–397. 11, 12, 45
- MORGANS, A. S. & DOWLING, A. P. 2007 Model-based control of combustion instabilities. J. Sound Vib. 299 (1-2), 261 – 282. 5
- MORGANS, A. S., GOH, C. S. & DAHAN, J. A. 2013 The dissipation and shear dispersion of entropy waves in combustor thermoacoustics. *J. Fluid Mech.* **733** (R2). 13

- MORSE, P. M. & INGARD, K. U. 1968 *Theoretical acoustics*. Princeton University Press. 18
- MUNT, R. M. 1990 Acoustic transmission properties of a jet pipe with subsonic jet flow: I. the cold jet reflection coefficient. J. Sound Vib. 142 (3), 413 – 436. 19
- MYERS, MK 1991 Transport of energy by disturbances in arbitrary steady flows. J. Fluid Mech. 226, 383–400. 23, 24
- NICOUD, F., BAYA TODA, H., CABRIT, O., BOSE, S. & LEE, J. 2011 Using singular values to build a subgrid-scale model for large eddy simulations. *Phys. Fluids* 23 (8), 085106. 72, 77
- NICOUD, F., BENOIT, L., SENSIAU, C. & POINSOT, T. 2007 Acoustic modes in combustors with complex impedances and multidimensional active flames. AIAA Journal 45, 426–441. 9, 62, 93
- NICOUD, F. & POINSOT, T. 2005 Thermoacoustic instabilities: should the rayleigh criterion be extended to include entropy changes? *Combust. Flame* **142**, 153–159. **21**, **23**
- NICOUD, F. & WIECZOREK, K. 2009 About the zero mach number assumption in the calculation of thermoacoustic instabilitie. Int. J. Spray and Combustion Dynamic 1, 67–112. 8, 11, 14, 32
- NOIRAY, N., DUROX, D., SCHULLER, T. & CANDEL, S. 2007 Passive control of combustion instabilities involving premixed flames anchored on perforated plates. *Proc. Combust. Inst.* **31**, 1283–1290. 5
- NOIRAY, N., DUROX, D., SCHULLER, T. & CANDEL, S. 2008 A unified framework for nonlinear combustion instability analysis based on the flame describing function. J. Fluid Mech. 615, 139–167. 8, 9
- PALIES, P, DUROX, D, SCHULLER, T & CANDEL, S 2011 Experimental study on the effect of swirler geometry and swirl number on flame describing functions. *Combustion Science and Technology* 183 (7), 704–717. 6
- PARMENTIER, JEAN-FRANÇOIS, SALAS, PABLO, WOLF, PIERRE, STAFFELBACH, GABRIEL, NICOUD, FRANCK & POINSOT, THIERRY 2012 A simple analytical model to study and control azimuthal instabilities in annular combustion chambers. *Combust. Flame* **159** (7), 2374 – 2387. 8
- PETERS, M., HIRSCHBERG, A., REIJNEN, A. J. & WIJNANDS, A. P. J. 1993 Damping and reflection coefficient measurements for an open pipe at low mach and low helmholtz numbers. J. Fluid Mech. 256, 499–499. 19
- PHILLIPS, O. M. 1960 On the generation of sound by supersonic turbulent shear layers. J. Fluid Mech. 9, 1–28. 19
- PIERCE, A. D. 1981 Acoustics: an introduction to its physical principles and applications. New York: McGraw Hill. 18, 20, 23, 60

- PITSCH, H. 2006 Large eddy simulation of turbulent combustion. Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech. 38, 453–482. 7, 13
- POINSOT, T., CANDEL, S. & TROUVÉ, A. 1996 Application of direct numerical simulation to premixed turbulent combustion. *Prog. Energy Comb. Sci.* **21**, 531–576. 6
- POINSOT, T. & LELE, S. 1992 Boundary conditions for direct simulations of compressible viscous flows. J. Comput. Phys. 101 (1), 104–129. 70
- POINSOT, T. & VEYNANTE, D. 2011 Theoretical and Numerical Combustion. Third Edition (www.cerfacs.fr/elearning). 4, 6, 7, 9, 69
- POLIFKE, W., PASCHEREIT, C. & DOEBBELING, K. 2001a Constructive and destructive interference of acoustic and entropy waves in a premixed combustor with a choked exit. *Int. J. Acoust. Vib.* 6, 135–146. 11, 13
- POLIFKE, W., PONCET, A., PASCHEREIT, C. O. & DOEBBELING, K. 2001b Reconstruction of acoustic transfer matrices by instationnary computational fluid dynamics. J. Sound Vib. 245 (3), 483–510. 8
- POWELL, A. 1964 Theory of vortex sound. J. Acous. Soc. Am. 36 (1), 177–195. 19
- POWELL, A. 1990 Some aspects of aeroacoustics: From rayleigh until today. Journal of vibration, acoustics, stress, and reliability in design 112 (2), 145–159. 19
- RAO, P. & MORRIS, P. 2006 Use of finite element methods in frequency domain aeroacoustics. AIAA Journal 44, 1643–1652. 8, 11
- RAUN, R.L., BECKSTEAD, M.W., FINLINSON, J.C. & BROOKS, K.P. 1993 A review of rijke tubes, rijke burners and related devices. *Prog. Energy Comb. Sci.* **19** (4), 313 364. 4
- RAYLEIGH, L. 1878 The explanation of certain acoustic phenomena. *Nature* July 18, 319–321. 4, 11
- RAYLEIGH, L. 1894 *The Theory of Sound*. Mac Millan (reprinted by Dover, New York, 1945). 18
- RENARD, P. H., THÉVENIN, D., ROLON, J. C. & CANDEL, S. 2000 Dynamics of flame/vortex interactions. *Prog. Energy Comb. Sci.* 26, 225–282. 5
- RIENSTRA, S. W. & HIRSCHBERG, A. 2003 An introduction to acoustics. Eindhoven University of Technology. 18, 19
- RIJKE, P. L. 1859 Notice of a new method of causing a vibration of the air contained in a tube open at both ends. *Phil. Mag.* 17, 419–422. 4
- ROWLEY, C. W., MEZIC, I., BAGHERI, S., SCHLATTER, P. & HENNINGSON, D. S. 2009 Spectral analysis of nonlinear flows. J. Fluid Mech. 641, 115–127. 79
- SALAS, P. 2013 Aspects numériques et physiques des instabilités de combustion dans les chambres de combustion annulaires. PhD thesis, Université Bordeaux - INRIA. 62

- SATTELMAYER, T. 2003 Influence of the combustor aerodynamics on combustion instabilities from equivalence ratio fluctuations. J. Eng. Gas Turb. and Power 125, 11–19. 13
- SAWYER, R. F. 2009 Science based policy for adressing energy and environmental problems. Proc. Combust. Inst. 32, 45–56. 1
- SCARPATO, A., TRAN, N., DUCRUIX, S. & SCHULLER, T. 2012 Modeling the damping properties of perforated screens traversed by a bias flow and backed by a cavity at low Strouhal number. *Journal of Sound and Vibration* **331** (2), 276–290. 11
- SCHMID, PETER J. 2010 Dynamic mode decomposition of numerical and experimental data. J. Fluid Mech. 656, 5–28. 79, 80, 81, 120
- SCHMID, P. J., LI, L., JUNIPER, M. P. & PUST, O. 2011 Applications of the dynamic mode decomposition. *Theoret. Comput. Fluid Dynamics* 25 (1-4), 249–259. 80
- SCHMITT, P., POINSOT, T., SCHUERMANS, B. & GEIGLE, K. P. 2007 Large-eddy simulation and experimental study of heat transfer, nitric oxide emissions and combustion instability in a swirled turbulent high-pressure burner. J. Fluid Mech. 570, 17–46. 7, 13, 70
- SCHULLER, T., DUROX, D. & CANDEL, S. 2003a Self-induced combustion oscillations of laminar premixed flames stabilized on annular burners. *Combust. Flame* 135, 525–537.
- SCHULLER, T., DUROX, D. & CANDEL, S. 2003b A unified model for the prediction of laminar flame transfer functions: comparisons between conical and v-flames dynamics. *Combust. Flame* 134, 21–34. 8
- SELLE, L., BENOIT, L., POINSOT, T., NICOUD, F. & KREBS, W. 2006 Joint use of compressible large-eddy simulation and Helmholtz solvers for the analysis of rotating modes in an industrial swirled burner. *Combust. Flame* 145 (1-2), 194–205. 9
- SHAPIRO, A. H. 1953 The Dynamics and Thermodynamics of Compressible Fluid Flow, Vol. 1. John Wiley & Sons. 32, 58, 113
- SILVA, C. F., NICOUD, F., SCHULLER, T., DUROX, D. & CANDEL, S. 2013 Combining a helmholtz solver with the flame describing function to assess combustion instability in a premixed swirled combustor. *Combustion and Flame* **160** (9), 1743 – 1754. 9, 96
- SISCO, J.C., YU, Y.C., SANKARAN, V. & ANDERSON, W.E. 2011 Examination of mode shapes in an unstable model combustor. J. Sound Vib. 330 (1), 61 – 74. 13
- SMAGORINSKY, J. 1963 General circulation experiments with the primitive equations: 1. the basic experiment. Mon. Weather Rev. **91**, 99–164. 72, 77
- SWAMINATHAN, NEDUNCHEZHIAN & BRAY, KENNETH 2011 Turbulent Premixed Flames. Cambridge University Press. 4

- TAM, CHRISTOPHER K.W. 1998 Jet noise: Since 1952. Theoretical and Computational Fluid Dynamics 10 (1-4), 393–405. 19
- TROUVÉ, A. & POINSOT, T. 1994 The evolution equation for the flame surface density. J. Fluid Mech. 278, 1–31. 6
- TRUFFIN, K. & POINSOT, T. 2005 Comparison and extension of methods for acoustic identification of burners. Combust. Flame 142 (4), 388–400. 8
- TSIEN, H. S. 1952 The transfer functions of rocket nozzles. J. American Rocket Society 22 (3), 139–143. 12
- VENKATARAMAN, K, PRESTON, L, SIMONS, D, LEE, B, LEE, J & SANTAVICCA, D 1999 Mechanism of combustion instability in a lean premixed dump combustor. J. Prop. Power 15 (6), 909–918, doi: 10.2514/2.5515. 3
- VERVISCH, L. & POINSOT, T. 1998 Direct numerical simulation of non premixed turbulent flames. Ann. Rev. Fluid Mech. **30**, 655–692. 6
- VUILLOT, F. 1995 Vortex-shedding phenomena in solid rocket motors. J. Prop. Power 11 (4), 626–639. 12
- WANG, S., YANG, V., HSIAO, G., HSIEH, S.-Y. & MONGIA, H. C. 2007 Large-eddy simulations of gas-turbine swirl injector flow dynamics. J. Fluid Mech. 583, 99–122. 11
- WIECZOREK, K. 2010 Numerical study of mach number effects on combustion instability. PhD thesis, Université Montpellier II - Ecole Doctorale ISS - Mathématiques et Modélisation. 11, 32
- WOLF, P., BALAKRISHNAN, R., STAFFELBACH, G., GICQUEL, L. & POINSOT, T. 2012a Using LES to study reacting flows and instabilities in annular combustion chambers. *Flow, Turb. and Combustion* 88, 191–206, 10.1007/s10494-011-9367-7.
- WOLF, P., STAFFELBACH, G., GICQUEL, L. Y. M., MÜLLER, J. D. & POINSOT, T. 2012b Acoustic and large eddy simulation studies of azimuthal modes in annular combustion chambers. *Combust. Flame* **159** (11), 3398–3413. 9, 13
- YAO, Z., GAO, Y., ZHU, M., DOWLING, A. P. & BRAY, K. N. C. 2012 Combustion rumble prediction with integrated computational-fluid-dynamics/low-order-model methods. J. Prop. Power 28 (5), 1015–1025. 13
- YOU, D., HUANG, Y. & YANG, V. 2005 A generalized model of acoustic reponse of turbulent premixed flame and its application to gas-turbine combustion instability analysis. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* **177** (5-6), 1109–1150. 13
- YU, K. H., TROUVÉ, A. & DAILY, J. W. 1991 Low-frequency pressure oscillations in a model ramjet combustor. J. Fluid Mech. 232, 47–72. 12
- YU, Y. C., SISCO, J. C., SANKARAN, V. & ANDERSON, W. E. 2010 Effects of mean flow, entropy waves, and boundary conditions on longitudinal combustion instability. *Combust. Sci. Tech.* 182 (7), 739–776. 8, 13

- ZHAO, D. & MORGANS, A. S. 2009 Tuned passive control of combustion instabilities using multiple helmholtz resonators. J. Sound Vib. **320** (4-5), 744 757. 5
- ZHU, M., DOWLING, A. P. & BRAY, K. N. C. 2001 Self-excited oscillations in combustors with spray atomizers. J. Eng. Gas Turb. and Power 123 (4), 779–786. 13
- ZINN, B.T. 1972 Longitudinal mode acoustic losses in short nozzles. J. Sound Vib. 22 (1), 93 105. 12
- ZINN, BT, BELL, WA, DANIEL, BR & SMITH, AJ 1973 Experimental determination of three-dimensional liquid rocket nozzle admittances. AIAA Journal 11, 267–272. 12